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NEIER
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the audited annual results of the
Group for the Year 2022.

During the Year 2022, the semiconductor industry was under great
pressure and entered into an adjustment cycle amid the COVID-19
pandemic, lasting geopolitical conflicts and changes of supply and
demand in the market. But chip demands in the fields of automobile
electronics, high-power renewable energy, energy storage and industrial
automation improved continuously as the digital economy and the
new energy vehicle industry developed at a faster pace. Under such a
backdrop, the Group's businesses of cellphone, information technology
and consumer electronic products were confronted with challenges in the
short term. Faced with the pressure, the Group took proactive measures
to improve the overall efficiency by adjusting the product strategy and
adopting rigorous cost control policies, and unremittingly explored
diversification to expand sources of revenue. During the Year 2022, the
Group recorded revenue of HK$2,689.1 million, representing a slight growth
as compared with 2021; loss attributable to owners of the Company was
HK$32.4 million, compared with the profit of 2021 amounting to HK$6.7
million, which was attributable to the decrease of gross profit.

To seize the opportunities arising from development of the semiconductor
market, the Group maintained good relationship with major electronics
distributors and upstream manufacturers and enriched product categories
by developing new product, improving service capability and other
initiatives, which further enhanced customer engagement and stickiness
and promoted steady business development.

In the chip market, the Group promoted transformation and upgrading
with consideration of market demands during the Year 2022, to better
satisfy demands of customers from the manufacturing sector. In the
meantime, the Group strictly implemented the marketing deployment
and requirements, improved the quality of marketing activities and
strengthened close cooperation with customers, to ensure marketing
deployment would deliver considerable benefits, thus providing powerful
impetus and strong support to the high-quality development.

Going forward, the semiconductor market will witness continuously steady
expansion as new fields are emerging, including 5G/6G, ChatGPT, AR/VR,
loT, Al, brain-inspired computing, smart city and autonomous driving, and
it is expected that the overall market demand will maintain the uptrend
throughout 2023. Considering the relaxed pandemic control measures,
the country’s strong support by relevant policies and the accelerated
development of localisation replacement in the semiconductor industry,
the Group is optimistic about the long-term development of electronics
market and expects that sales of product will maintain stable growth in
2023.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

In the traditional consumer electronics market, the gradual improvement
of consumption ability and concept of the public effectively stimulates
the demands of 5G cellphones and wearable gadgets, which is a
driver that constantly boosts the growth of chip demands. In addition,
under the continuous improvement of 5G cellphone penetration and
the acceleration of digital transformation in all industries, consumers
have greater demands for cognitive and intelligent network terminals
with advanced connection, high-performance and low-consumption
computing and large-capacity memory and storage, which will stimulate
demands of semiconductor products to further expand and lead the
semiconductor industry to a new round of prosperity and a higher
development level.

In emerging markets, the accelerated development of new technologies
such as automobile electronics and loT drives the semiconductor market
to a larger scale and steady growth. In the loT field, the promotion of
5G communications expedites the wide application of loT facilities and
advances the iteration of related sensors, software and other technologies,
thus boosting the development of semiconductor industry. In the field of
automobile electronics, the increase of vehicle sales and the technological
progress stimulate the continuous increase of chip-carrying rate in vehicles,
which boosts the growth of demands for cameras, radars, IMUs, ECUs
and other devices, therefore enhancing demands of the semiconductor
industry.

As the “Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality” policy is being promoted,
the new energy vehicle industry in China witnesses hypergrowth.
According to the forecast of China Association of Automobile
Manufacturers, production and sales of new energy vehicles in China reach
7,058,000 vehicles and 6,887,000 vehicles respectively in 2022, representing
a year-on-year growth of 96.9% and 93.4% respectively, ranking the first in
the world for eight consecutive years. It is expected that production and
sales of new energy vehicles will maintain an average annual growth of
over 40% in the next five years. The increasing production and sales of new
energy vehicles stimulate the further growth of automobile electronics and
semiconductor carrying rate, thus shaping the flourishment of the blue sea
of automobile-level semiconductor.

Further, the promotion of digital reform of all industries, the construction
of new infrastructure including Al, 5G, Industrial Internet and loT and the
stronger cluster effect of the Al sector in the secondary market drive the
global Al industry to the rapid development stage, further stimulating
the improvement of demands for high-performance computing and
Al services. Data of Statista projects that the scale of high-performance
computing market will grow to US$47,014 million in 2024, and demands in
the relevant markets of storage chips, power management, CPU and GPU
will expand accordingly.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

In industrial application, industrial semiconductors are applied to a range
of fields from family automation to aviation and military area, being of
primary importance in each field. Under the orderly relaxation of pandemic
control measures, the gradual recovery of macroeconomy and the further
rebalance of supply and demand in the industry, demands for industrial
application of semiconductors are expected to rebound gradually, and chip
sales will regain the growth momentum.

The central government and local authorities have announced a series
of policies and regulations in recent years to support and guide the
development of semiconductor industry. The Chinese government
included “Building a more competitive manufacturing sector”into the work
report for the first time in 2022. As a national emerging industry of strategic
importance and the core of information sector, the semiconductor industry
is regarded as the key force of the new round of technological revolution
and industrial reform, and is bound to benefit continuously from the policy
support and thrive under the favourable policies.

Overall, the semiconductor equipment and material market will remain
prosperous both domestically and overseas. Data of IC Insights shows
that capital expenditures in the global semiconductor industry amount
to US$181.7 billion in 2022, representing a year-on-year increase of 19%,
and the figure is expected to reach US$146.6 billion in 2023, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 19%. While remaining committed to the
core businesses, continuing with stricter financial management and
promoting efforts to reduce costs and improve efficiency, the Group
will further advance the diversified product portfolio strategy, expand
the customer base and enhance the comprehensive strength and the
core competitiveness, thereby enabling greater stability and significant
achievement on the path of high-quality development and returning
Shareholders and investors with higher benefits.

APPRECIATION

I, on behalf of the Board, would like to take this opportunity to thank all of
the Shareholders and all investors, customers, suppliers, banks and business
partners of the Group for their unwavering support. | would like to extend
my appreciation to the management team and fellow staff members of the
Group for their devoted commitment and contributions to the success of
the Group.

Lee Bing Kwong
Chairman
28 March 2023
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEkENREERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (“Mr. Lee”), aged 68, the founder of the Group and
a Controlling Shareholder, was appointed as an executive Director on 4 July
2012 and is also the CEO and the Chairman as well as the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Lee is also a director of certain Subsidiaries. Mr. Lee obtained a
bachelor's degree of applied science from the University of Toronto, Canada
in 1980. Mr. Lee established Nicegoal Investments in 1987 with business
mainly in manufacturing of personal computer motherboard and trading
of components and accessories for personal computer and AVT in 1992
which started its business of trading of electronic components in 2005.
Prior to the establishment of Nicegoal Investments, Mr. Lee acted as sales
engineer and marketing engineer in the sales and marketing department
of Motorola Semiconductors (HK) Limited during the period from 1981
and 1985. Mr. Lee has been active in the semiconductor field for more than
30 years. Mr. Lee is the sole director of Best Sheen Limited, a Controlling
Shareholder. Mr. Lee is the husband of Ms. Lo Yuen Lai and the brother-in-
law of Mr. Lo Yuen Kin, both being executive Directors, and the father of Mr.
Lee Chak Hol, (a Vice President of the Group).

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin (“Mr. Lo”), aged 60, was appointed as an executive
Director on 21 February 2014. Mr. Lo is also a director of certain
Subsidiaries. Mr. Lo joined our Group in May 2012 as finance director and
was appointed as the Vice President of AVT in May 2021. He has been a
project manager of AVT since August 2020. Mr. Lo obtained a bachelor’s
degree of engineering from The Cooper Union for the Advancement of
Science and Art, New York, US in 1988 and a master’s degree of science
(aeronautics and astronautics) from Stanford University, California, US in
1990. In 1987, Mr. Lo was elected by The Cooper Union — Cooper Union
Pi Phi Chapter and declared a certified member of Pi Tau Sigma Fraternity.
Further, Mr. Lo was a responsible officer of Positano Wealth Management
Limited for the supervision of Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the SFO during the period
from September 2017 to February 2019 and was a responsible officer of
China Shenghai Investment Management Limited responsible for the
supervision of Type 1 (dealing in securities) (for the period from September
2009 to August 2013), Type 4 (advising on securities) (for the period from
April 2009 to August 2013) and Type 9 (asset management) (for the period
from April 2009 to August 2013). During the period from December 2002
to February 2007, Mr. Lo worked for SinoPac Capital Limited as director
of equity trading. During the period from 1990 to 2016, Mr. Lo worked
with various financial institutions and accounting firm, including Price
Waterhouse, Credit Lyonnais (Asia) Limited, Mees Pierson Securities (Asia)
Limited, Morgan Grenfell Asia Securities (HK) Limited, BZW Asia Limited,
China International Capital Corporation (Hong Kong) Limited, ING Baring
Securities (Hong Kong) Limited, GK. Goh Securities (H.K.) Limited and YGD
Asset Management (HK) Limited. Mr. Lo is the younger brother of Ms. Lo
Yuen Lai and the brother-in-law of Mr. Lee, both being executive Directors
and an uncle of Mr. Lee Chak Hol (a Vice President of the Group).
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEhEREERERE

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai (“Ms. Lo”), aged 68, was appointed as an executive
Director on 22 March 2019. Ms. Lo is also a director of certain Subsidiaries.
Ms. Lo worked as the assistant to the chief executive officer of AVT, an
indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary, from August 2015 to February 2018 and
has been the sales director and a director of AVT since February 2018 and
March 2019 respectively. Ms. Lo has also been a director of |-Sky Electronic
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary, since March 2004. Ms. Lo is
the wife of Mr. Lee, (a Controlling Shareholder, the Chairman, the CEO and
an executive Director), the elder sister of Mr. Lo, (an executive Director), and
the mother of Mr. Lee Chak Hol (a Vice President of the Group).

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 73, was appointed as an
INED on 15 February 2018. He is also the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Cheung obtained a bachelor’s degree of
applied science from the University of Toronto, Canada in 1975. Mr. Cheung
was elected a member of the Association of Professional Engineers of the
Province of Ontario, Canada and the Institution of Electronic and Radio
Engineers in 1977 and 1983 respectively. Mr. Cheung retired in 2008. Prior
to Mr. Cheungd’s retirement, he acted as vice president (Greater China
Operation) of Renesas Technology (Hong Kong) Limited during the period
from 2003 to 2008 responsible for, amongst others, strategic planning
and operation support for the Greater China Market. During the period
from 1983 to 2003, Mr. Cheung worked in various electronic components
companies, including Motorola Semiconductors (HK) Limited and Hitachi
Electronic Components (Asia) Limited; and was responsible for the sales
and marketing of electronic components.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

EEkENREERERE

Mr. Yim Kwok Man (“Mr. Yim”), aged 54, was appointed as an INED on
15 February 2018. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and

a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Yim has over 20 years'

experience in the areas of corporate finance, debt and equity capital
markets, asset management and merger and acquisition advisory. He
has been a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the UK since 2003 and an associate member of the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (now known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants) since 2002. Mr. Yim is currently an
independent non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings Limited, the
shares of which are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1314), with effect from November 2012. Mr. Yim is also a non-executive
director of Star Group Company Limited (formerly known as Star Properties
Group (Cayman Islands) Limited), the shares of which are listed on Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1560), with effect from March
2016. Mr. Yim was a responsible officer of Odysseus Capital Asia Limited
(formerly known as GALAXY CAPITAL LIMITED), a corporation licensed
under the SFO, for Type 6 regulated activity (advising on corporate finance)
till July 2014. Mr. Yim graduated with a bachelor's degree of engineering in
civil engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in 1991 and obtained a master in business
administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1994.
From Mr. Yim's graduation to present, he worked with various financial
institutions and investment banks, including Rabobank International Hong
Kong Branch, DBS Asia Capital Limited and CITIC Capital Markets Holdings
Limited.

Dr. Chow Terence (“Dr. Chow"), aged 60, was appointed as an INED on
15 February 2018. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee. Dr. Chow obtained a Bachelor of Medicine
and Bachelor of Surgery degree from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1987. Dr. Chow worked in various public and academic units, including
medicine, surgery, orthopaedics & traumatology, oncology, anaesthesia
and intensive care before starting his private general practice in 1991. Dr.
Chow founded Bright Growth Doctors & Associates in 1993, which was the
first private medical group in Hong Kong to have its own CT (computerised
tomography) machine. In 2000, Dr. Chow founded TY Healthcare
Corporation and has been its chairman and medical director since then.
From 2007 to 2012, Dr. Chow was appointed by the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as a Penal Member of the
Human Organ Transplant Board. He is currently a member of the Hong
Kong Medical Association and the Hong Kong College of Family Physicians.
Dr. Chow is also an Honorary Clinical Assistant Professor in Family Medicine
at The University of Hong Kong.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lau Wai Yee (“Ms. Lau”), aged 57, joined our Group in August 2018
and was appointed as the Regional General Manager of the Group. Her
scope of duties include market development, sales and marketing and
customer development. She has over 20 years of management experience
in electronics field on sales and marketing in listed company.

Mr. Pan Yulong (“Mr. Pan”), aged 55, joined our Group in March 2021
and was appointed as a Vice President of the Group. Mr. Pan is mainly
responsible for market development, sales and marketing as well as
customer development for the products of the Group. He has more than
28 years of experience in electronics and information industry held various
positions, including hardwares engineer, software programming, research
and development manager, sales engineer, vice president of sales and
senior management. Mr. Pan graduated with Executive Master of Business
Administration in Peking University, PRC in 2006 and a Master Degree in
Electromechanical Control and Automation in Hohai University, PRC in
1993.

Mr. Ho Yuen Tung (“Mr. Ho"), aged 43, joined the Group in 2017 and
was appointed as the financial controller of the Group in July 2018 and
was promoted to Vice President, Finance of the Group in January 2021.
Mr. Ho is responsible for the Group’s financial management, including
financial budget, accounting, strategic planning, merger and investor
relations. He has extensive experience in auditing, financial and treasury
management, information technology, credit control as well as banking.
He has accumulated more than 15 years of experience in accounting,
auditing and financial management in international audit firms and listed
company. On 11 March 2022, he was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Power Financial Group Limited, (stock code: 397), the
shares of which are listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He holds
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administration (Accounting) from Hong
Kong Baptist University and he is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Lee Chak Hol (“Mr. CH Lee”), aged 31, joined our Group in October
2015 and was redesignated as a Vice President of the Group on 1 April
2022. He is mainly responsible for the procurement of the corporate
management strategies for administrative operation and business
operation of the Group. He is also a director of certain Subsidiaries.
Prior to the re-designation, Mr. CH Lee was appointed as the Deputy
CEO of the Group and was mainly responsible for assisting the CEO in
daily management of the Group for relevant coordination with internal
management and external business alliances, including but not limited
to the operation and management of the Information Technology and
Human Resources Departments of the Group and the supervision of
internal control implementation. Mr. CH Lee obtained a Bachelor of Science
degree from the University of Toronto, Canada in November 2014. Mr.
CH Lee is a son of Mr. Lee and Ms. Lo and the nephew of Mr. Lo, all being
executive Directors.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INDUSTRIAL OVERVIEW

The Group is a Hong Kong-based distributor of semiconductors and other
electronic components, and is engaged in the supply of digital storage
products and general electronic components along with the provision
of complementary technical support. It focuses on identifying, sourcing,
selling and distributing quality electronic components produced by
branded upstream manufacturers to downstream manufacturers within the
technology, media and telecommunications sector in Mainland China and
Hong Kong.

During the Year 2022, the global economy slowed down due to the
Russian-Ukrainian conflict, fluctuations of raw material prices and
exchange rate, as well as the continued pandemic, which constrained the
development of the semiconductor industry. The domestic semiconductor
industry in Mainland China has also suffered business austerity or
suppression as a result of the US. suppression on the development of
China’s semiconductor industry. In particular, since the second half of
2022, as progressive innovation in the personal computer, mobile phone,
consumer electronics and other markets have entered the decline stage,
the weak demand in the consumer market has caused chip suppliers to cut
back on orders. The pressure on chip manufacturers to reduce inventory
has risen sharply, and the semiconductor industry has entered a downward
cycle. However, the demand for chips in the realm of automotive
electronics, high-power renewable energy, energy storage and industrial
automation remains high under the systematic destocking cycle, bringing
new development opportunities for semiconductor enterprises.

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a stable supplier of digital storage products and general electronic
components, the Group’s short-term results were challenged by the
contraction in industry demand in the second half of 2022. However, the
Group has been proactive in addressing market challenges and continues
to explore new growth areas to build up strength for future development.
During the Year 2022, the Group achieved revenue of HK$2,689.1 million, a
slight increase compared to Year 2021, while loss attributable to owners of
the Company was HK$32.4 million, compared to a profit of HKS6.7 million
in Year 2021, mainly due to the drop in gross profit margin and fast rising
interest rates.

By Product type
Digital Storage Products

The Group's digital storage products include DRAM, FLASH and MCP
memory products, which are widely applied to multimedia, mobile devices
and telecom products. Final products include set-top boxes, smart TVs,
wearable devices, mobile phones, wifi router, ADSL modem, fibre optical
router and etc. These products also include optical and mass storage
products, which are mainly used in enterprise-level storage and server
systems.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE I

During the Year 2022, revenue generated from this product segment
amounted to HK$2,020.0 million (Year 2021: HK$1,988.8 million). Gross
profit of the segment decreased to HK$44.5 million (Year 2021: HK$146.4
million), representing a decrease of 69.6% compared to 2021. Gross profit
margin was 2.2% (Year 2021: 7.4%). The exceptionally high gross profit
margin in the Year 2021 was due to the inventory rebuilt after the first
wave of COVID-19 pandemic in 2020. Gross profit margin for the Year 2022
was below the industry norm, which was affected by the overall inventory
buildup in the channel caused by the optimism for the Year 2021 as well
as the domestic pandemic control measures in the Mainland China. We
expect that the inventory level and the gross profit margin will resume to
the long term industry level after volatility in 2021 and 2022.

General Components

General components include switches, connectors, passive components,
main chips, sensors, power semiconductors and analog-to-digital
converters, which are mainly designed for use in mobile and multimedia
devices.

The Group achieved revenue generated from this segment was HK$669.1
million for the Year 2022 (Year 2021: HK$651.3 million). However, gross
profit of this segment decreased by 11.7% to HK$70.4 million (Year 2021:
HKS$79.7 million) due to lower prices for most of the general components
as a result of lower demand. Gross profit margin decreased slightly to 10.5%
(Year 2021: 12.2%).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The two major product segments, namely (i) Digital Storage Products; and
(ii) General Components, contributed 75.1% and 24.9% of the Group’s total
revenue during the Year 2022 respectively.

The Group's revenue for the Year 2022 was HKS$2,689.1 million (Year 2021:
HK$2,640.1 million), representing an increase of 1.9% from the Year 2021,
The increase was a result of a combination of the weak demand in the
consumer market and the downward cycle in semiconductor industry.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit for the Year 2022 amounted to HK$114.9 million
(Year 2021: HKS$226.1 million), representing a decrease of 49.2% when
compared with the Year 2021. The gross profit margin is 4.3% (Year 2021:
8.6%).

Other income and increase in fair value of investment property

During the Year 2022, the Group recognised an increase in the fair value of
an investment property amounted HK$0.2 million (Year 2021: nil). The other
income dropped from HK$9.7 million in Year 2021 to HKS$5.3 million in the
Year 2022, which was mainly due to drop in commission income in the Year
2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SR e aai

Reversal of impairment loss/impairment loss on trade
receivables

A reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables of approximately HK$7.6
million was recognised during the Year 2022 (Year 2021: impairment loss of
HK$40.4 million) arising from the recent settlements of trade receivables for
which provision of impairment were recognised in previous years.

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has put in place a credit policy
and will perform credit evaluations on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. Certain trade receivable balances on open account
terms are covered by customers’letters of credit or are factored to external
financial institutions.

As at 31 December 2021, trade receivables past due over one year
amounted to approximately HK$68.6 million, of which approximately
HKS$8.7 million (the “Settlement Sum”) had been settled during the Year
2022.

As at 31 December 2022, trade receivables past due over one year
amounted to HK$60.5 million (31 December 2021: HK$68.6 million) and
provision for impairment loss had been made for the entire amount (31
December 2021: HKS$62.9 million). Substantially all of which was brought
forward from the Year 2021. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the
past due over one year as at 31 December 2022 was mainly attributable
to the business deterioration of several customers as a result of COVID-19
pandemic. Up to the date of this report, no settlement has been made by
these customers save for the Settlement Sum.

The Group has been negotiating various repayment schedules
with customers taking into account their respective circumstances.
Contemporaneous to the negotiations and rescheduling, we have also
sought legal advice from our Hong Kong legal advisor and PRC legal
advisor on the procedures for taking legal actions against the relevant
customers and/or their guarantors (if any).

For the customers who have been making partial repayments from time to
time, we have not taken any legal action. The Group will pay close attention
to their business development and continue monitoring their progress of
repayment. If they cease to make any further repayment or if the amount
of their further repayment is not to the Group's satisfaction, the Group shall
take necessary legal actions.

The Group aims to maintain healthy business relationships with these
customers while taking all reasonable steps to recover the trade receivables
as it is the Group's belief that their business performance should
progressively improve as the COVID-19 pandemic gradually subsides.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEE I

Distribution and selling expenses

The distribution and selling expenses mainly include salaries of marketing
and sales staff, commission expenses, transportation fees, freight charges,
declarations and sample expenses. For the Year 2022, distribution and
selling expenses amounted to approximately HK$54.5 million (Year 2021:
HKS$75.6 million), mainly as the result of decreased commission expenses.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily comprise salaries and benefits (including
emoluments to executive Directors), legal and professional fees, insurance,
short-term lease expenses and other premises fees, foreign exchange
differences, bank charges and depreciation expenses. The Group's
administrative expenses decreased by HK$4.9 million to HK$79.8 million in
Year 2022 (Year 2021: HK$84.7 million), which was mainly attributable to
the appropriate cost control measures implemented by the Group.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs mainly represent interest expenses on its bank
borrowings during the Year 2022. Such bank borrowings were obtained by
the Group for general working capital needs. The Group had finance costs
of approximately HK$20.0 million (Year 2021: HK$9.6 million), which edged
up on the back of an increased use of factoring loans, import loans and
trust receipts loans and increase in market interest rate.

Net (loss)/profit for the year

Net loss for the Year 2022 amounted to HK$33.0 million, compared with a
net profit of HK$16.6 million in Year 2021.

Net (loss)/profit attributable to the owners of the Company

The net loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the Year 2022
was HKS$32.4 million, compared with a HKS$6.7 million net profit attributable
to the owners of the Company in Year 2021. The deterioration was mainly
due to the drop in gross profit resulting from the extent of increase in
product costs was more than that of the increase in product selling price of
the Group, even though that was slightly offset by decreased distribution
and selling expenses and administrative expenses.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Year 2022, the Group met its liquidity requirements principally
through a combination of internal resources and bank borrowings. The
Group's cash resources as at 31 December 2022 were approximately
HK$99.6 million (31 December 2021: HK$143.7 million) and were mainly
denominated in RMB, HKS and USS.
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group's total outstanding bank borrowings
amounted to approximately HKS$483.7 million (31 December 2021:
HK$538.5 million), which mainly comprised bank factoring loans, import
loans, trust receipts loans, instalment loans and revolving loans. The Group’s
bank borrowings that were unrestricted and carried at amortised cost with
a clause of repayment on demand are classified as current liabilities. The
gearing ratio decreased from 158.6% as at 31 December 2021 to 148.4%
as at 31 December 2022 as a result of the prudent approach taken by
the management of the Group to manage its business finances. Gearing
ratio is calculated based on total loans and borrowings divided by total
equity at the respective reporting date. The improved gearing ratio in
the Year 2022 was mainly due to (i) increased total equity resulting from
placing of new Shares on 26 May 2022 and (i) impact on acquisition of
property with consideration settled by the issue of perpetual subordinated
convertible securities (“PSCS") in the principal amount of HK$10.0 million
and convertible bond (“CB") in the principal amount of HK$20.0 million,
of which HK$10.0 million and HKS$9.7 million are recognised as equity,
respectively.

The Group's financial statements are presented in HKS. The Group carried
out its business transactions mainly in HKS, RMB and USS. As the HKS
remained pegged to the USS, there was no material exchange risk in this
respect. As the portion of RMB revenue is insignificant, there is no material
exchange risk in this respect. The Group currently does not have any
interest rate hedging policies. However, the management monitors the
Group's exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis and will consider
hedging that risk should the need arise. Credit risk was mainly hedged
through credit policy and factored into external financial institutions.
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PSCS AND CB

On 21 October 2021, I-Sky Electronic Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company (the “Purchaser”), the Company and Nicegoal Limited
(the "Vendor"), which is ultimately wholly-owned by Mr. Lee Bing Kwong,
a controlling Shareholder, an executive Director, the chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (as supplemented on 25 November 2021) (the
‘Agreement”), pursuant to which the Vendor has agreed to sell, and the
Purchaser has conditionally agreed to purchase, the Target Property at the
consideration of HK$30.0 million. The consideration shall be settled by
the issue of the PSCS in the principal amount of HK$10.0 million and the
CB in the principal amount of HK$20.0 million. On 23 February 2022, the
Company issued the CB in the principal amount of HK$20.0 million and
the PSCS in the principal amount of HK$10.0 million to the Vendor for the
acquisition of the Target Property pursuant to the terms of the Agreement
as detailed in the circular of the Company dated 13 January 2022. The PSCS
was issued without maturity date, it bears a distribution rate of 0.5% per
annum and carries rights to convert the principal amount into Shares at a
conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share (to be rounded down to the nearest
board lot of 5000 Shares as per the deed poll constituting the PSCS),
convertible into 28,570,000 conversion Shares, representing 2.66% of the
issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 and as at the date of this report or
2.59% as enlarged by the conversion Shares. The Company has an option to
redeem the PSCS at any time at 100% or 50% of their principal amount plus
any accrued but unpaid distribution.

The CB was issued with a maturity of five years from date of issue (i.e.
23 February 2022), it bears an interest rate of 0.5% per annum and
carries rights to convert the outstanding principal amount into Shares
at a conversion price of HK$0.35 per Share subject to adjustment (to
be rounded down to the nearest board lot of 5000 Shares as per the
instrument constituting the CB), convertible into 57,140,000 conversion
Shares, representing 5.31% of the issued shares of the Company as at 31
December 2022 and as at the date of this report or 5.05% as enlarged by
the conversion Shares of CB. The Company has an option to redeem the
CB at any time before their maturity in whole or in part of their principal
amount plus any accrued but unpaid interest.
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The aggregate conversion shares of CB and PSCS represent 7.97% of the
issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and at the date of
this report or 7.38% as enlarged by the conversion Shares.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, the banking facilities of the Group were
secured by its trade receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$138.5 million (31 December 2021: HK$321.8 million), the
legal charge over the investment property of the Group of approximately
HKS$51.2 million (31 December 2021: HKS$51.0 million), the Group's
leasehold land and buildings valued at approximately HK$79.2 million (31
December 2021: HK$50.8 million), the deposit placed for life insurance
policy of the Group of approximately HK$12.7 million (31 December 2021:
HKS nil), personal guarantee executed by Mr. Pai Yin Lin (a director and a
non-controlling shareholder of subsidiaries of the Company) and corporate
guarantees executed by the Group.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the Year
2022 (Year 2021: nil).

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 144 employees (as at
31 December 2021: 140) in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group’s
remuneration policy is built on the principle of equitability with incentive-
based, performance-oriented and market-competitive remuneration
packages for its employees. Remuneration packages are normally reviewed
on a regular basis. Other staff benefits include provident fund contributions,
medical insurance coverage and performance-based bonuses. In addition,
the Company has adopted a share option scheme and a restricted share
reward scheme as incentives or rewards for eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group, and the Company also provides continuous
training to its employees to improve their marketing skills and enhance
their product knowledge.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering in
March 2018 was approximately HK$116.9 million and the net proceeds
received by the Company under the Placing was approximately
HK$25,566,000. The net proceeds received under the Global Offering and
the Placing had been applied by the Company from 16 March 2018 up to
31 December 2022 as follows:

LHFrSRIEREERE
AT _E—N\F=ZAETNEIKEBE R
R E R B EE 44911698 B 87T KRS
NERECEFEE NEB TSR FRES
#925,566,000/8 TC A AB B _E—/\F=8

TREEEE

———

— g ——

F+_HA=+—HLt

FEARENEERICEFREA NEWIFE

TRIEPRAT
Actual Use of Expected
Net Proceeds ~ Actual Use of timeframe of full
upto  NetProceeds Percentage utilisation
Applicationof 31 December during Unused of Unused  of unused
Net Proceeds 2022 theYear2022  NetProceeds NetProceeds  Net Proceeds
EE
~§C
+2F
Z+-B ZECIEE AR BUBARER
fignE  BRER  BRER AER FERERE  FEREREN
BURR FEIERE FEIERE FEWERE Al REEE
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 %
- - 4 71 %
Intended Use of Net Proceeds FEMESENETRR
Under the Global Offering REHZE
Repayment of bank loans BERTER 39,045 39045* - - - -
Establishing a new product and NRERREEERH 2810 2810* - - =
development department
Strengthening sales and marketing and BRIEE\ SRR 10,750 10,750% - - — =
technical support team by recruiting SEAIIASE | &5
staff and providing trainings Rt A
Enhancing warehouse and office HEBENEER 4600 2459* 37 2141 47 Q03-Q4 2003
in Hong Kong MR CECCEECER
B ZZCCEENE
Installing enterprise resource planning REPEERRAAG 709 4813 %91 227 2 Q3023-Q4201
and supporting software kst “ET-E$ECEE
“E_MEENS
Establishing new offces in the PRC FHERTHER 5007 5027 - . s
Acquisition and establishment BERRL 35888 - - 35888 100 Q32023-Q4 204
of Shenzhen head office e “E-SEESET
“E_MEENE
Working capital for general corporate (s A Pl 11,690 11,690% - - - -
purpose gEdt
Under the Placing RERESH
General working capita —REgds 25566 25566+ 25566 = -

The Company will continue to utilise the net proceeds from the Global

Offering for the purposes as mentioned above.

2 Such net proceeds had been used as intended.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for the acquisition of the Target Property involving the issue of
the PSCS and the CB, which was completed on 23 February 2022 upon
fulfilment of all the conditions and the deposit placed for life insurance
policy as detailed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements in this
report, the Group did not have any significant investments held as at 31
December 2022 and did not have any future plans for material investments
or capital assets as of the date of this report.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

The Board is not aware of any significant event affecting the Group and
requiring disclosure that has been taken place subsequent to 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the domestic market of Mainland China has gradually
recovered with the full release of the pandemic prevention and control.
The demand environment in some product areas is expected to improve
with the recovery of the economy, and the pressure on chip inventory
will gradually be released. With the rebound of downstream demand, the
global semiconductor industry is expected to rebound from the bottom in
2023.

Specifically, in terms of automotive electronics, with the increasing demand
for new energy vehicles in Mainland China and abroad, the market
demand for automotive semiconductors continues to rise, and automotive
semiconductor chips are expanding against the trend, with market share
expected to expand gradually.

In terms of energy storage and photovoltaics, with the continuous
advancement of the “dual carbon” strategy, the proportion of non-polluting
energy such as solar energy, wind energy and water energy in energy
supply will increase steadily. In the Guiding Opinions for Central SOEs to
Promote High-quality Contribution to Carbon Peak and Carbon Neutrality,
the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of
the People’s Republic of China (SASAC) has set a rigid requirement of
50% of the installed capacity of new energy by 2025 for the “Five Major
Power Groups and Four Minor Giants (FLAPY/)N) | central enterprises in
power generation. According to the installed capacity plan announced by
the “Five Major Power Groups and Four Minor Giants’, the total installed
capacity achieved by them would be 450GW in 2025. With the continuous
growth of installed capacity for new energy, photovoltaic inverters,
photovoltaic panels, battery storage and other related components will
also usher in long-term demand growth.
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In the fields of intelligent manufacturing and loT, the semiconductor
industry will experience rapid growth driven by the “New Infrastructure”
represented by 5G network, Industrial Internet/IoT, as China is investing
heavily in 5G, Al, IoT and new technologies of cloud computing and big
data.

Further, the trend of counter globalisation of the semiconductor industry
is inevitable, as the United States is attempting to impose tougher
technological blockade on China's semiconductor industry and geopolitical
conflicts taking the semiconductor industry as the target are becoming
more serious. The localisation replacement of semiconductor industry is
associated with national security, and it is an irresistible trend that China’s
semiconductor industry will accelerate the localisation replacement. Our
Group has been aggressively developing relationship with local suppliers
and helping local customers quicken the localisation replacement process.

Faced with the new development of chip industry, the Group will continue
to pursue the diversification strategy, gradually expand the businesses in
emerging fields (including automobile electronics and new energy) with
great market potential, strengthen the advantages in the traditional market
and develop emerging markets, so as to enhance the competitiveness. In
the supply chain, the Group will cooperate with external advantageous
resources, coordinate and enhance the construction of supply chain
ecosystem, to promote the virtuous development of upstream and
downstream sectors and strengthen the resilience of the supply chain. For
product offering, the Group will strengthen innovation to consolidate the
advantages of existing product portfolio and launch new products, thereby
adapting to the changes of market demands and empowering long-term
performance growth.

For new energy/photovoltaic power businesses, the Group has established
the new energy design team during the Year 2022 to design inverters for
photovoltaic power and energy storage application. Meanwhile, the Group
is also expanding the sales of new material batteries in the new energy
field. Going forward, the Group will further intensify production efforts
to meet the increasing market demands, and improve the weighting of
this segment to cultivate new source of revenue, therefore ensuring the
steadiness and sustainability of business operation.

For financial management, the Group will further improve the
financial management system, enhance the financial management
standard and capital efficiency and reduce the capital cost, so as to
enable the improvement of business management standard and core
competitiveness. For this end, the Group will strengthen the control of cost
structure, capital investment and expenditures, leveraging these measures
to contribute to the realisation of business goals.

From the long-term perspective, driven by electrification and intelligence,
the semiconductor industry will witness the driver of demand growth
shifting from consumer electronics represented by cellphones and
personal computer to emerging fields represented by new energy vehicles,
industrial control, photovoltaic power, energy storage and loT facilities,
with the demands growing steadily, and a new round of chip design
innovation cycle and localisation replacement cycle will be blazed. The
Group will vigorously promote research and development undertaking
and further expand the market coverage, to enhance the market position
and competitiveness in the microelectronics distribution industry. For
the new businesses of new energy/photovoltaic power, the Group will
intensify research and development efforts and fully develop the marketing
advantage to seize the opportunities arising from rapid development of
the new energy industry, thus diversifying the sources of revenue and
achieving high-quality development.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining and ensuring high standards of
corporate governance practices and the corporate governance principles
of the Company are adopted in the best interest of the Group as well as the
Shareholders. The Company has adopted the applicable code provisions
and, where appropriate, adopted the recommended best practices as set
out in the CG Code as its own code of corporate governance.

Except for deviation from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code during
the Year 2022, the Company had complied with all the applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code as in force during the Year 2022:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibilities between
the chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Lee, who has considerable
experience in the semiconductor and other electronics components
industry, is the Chairman and the CEO. The Board believes that vesting
the roles of both the Chairman and the CEO in Mr. Lee has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning of the Group. The Board
considers that this structure will not impair the balance of power between
the Board and the management of the Company. The balance of power is
further enhanced by the Audit Committee, which comprises all INEDs and
is responsible for overseeing the internal control procedures of the Group.
The INEDs have free and direct access to the Company’s independent
auditor and independent professional advisers when considered necessary.
The Board will, nevertheless, review the structure from time to time and
separate the roles of the Chairman and the CEO to two individuals, if
appropriate.

To enhance the Board's function and effectiveness, the Board conducted an
evaluation of the performance of the Board and the Board committees for
Year 2022. Each of the Board members provided an evaluation of identified
areas and also suggestions for improvement. Notwithstanding the
suggestions made by the members of the Board, no material issue which
requires immediate improvement had been identified by the members
of the Board. The Company will continue to strive to improve its Board
performance through this and other processes.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors. A specific enquiry has been
made by the Company with each of the Directors and all the Directors have
confirmed that they had complied with the requirements set out in the
Model Code throughout the Year 2022.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and performance.
The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the executive
Directors and senior management who perform their duties. The Board
has established the Board committees and has delegated to these Board
committees various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms
of reference. The responsibilities of these Board committees include
monitoring the Group's operational and financial performance and
ensuring that appropriate internal control and risk management are in
place.
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As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprised three (3)
executive Directors and three (3) INEDs. The members of the Board during
the Year 2022 and up to the date of this Annual Report are set out below:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai

INEDs:

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
Mr. Yim Kwok Man
Dr. Chow Terence

The biographical information of the Directors and relationship between
the Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” on pages 7 to 10 of this Annual Report. Save
for such relationship disclosed in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management’, there is no other financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships among the members of the Board.

Chairman and CEO

The Company has appointed Mr. Lee Bing Kwong as the Chairman
and CEO, who is primarily responsible for overseeing the corporate
development and strategic planning of the Group.

INEDs

In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three
(3) INEDs, representing at least one-third of the Board, with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Company has received a written
confirmation from each of the INEDs in respect of their independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs are independent
during the Year 2022 and up to the date of this Annual Report.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic decisions and performance of the Group
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. Directors take decisions objectively
in the best interests of the Company.

All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable

business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning.
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All executive Directors actively involve in managing the affairs of the
Company with a good understanding of the business, and play important
roles in the daily operations, whilst all INEDs participate in the Board
meetings and bring their independent views and judgments on various
issues.

INEDs provide the Group with a wide range of skills, expertise and varied
backgrounds and qualifications through their regular attendance and
active participation at various Board committee meetings of the Company.
They bring independent opinion and judgment on the strategy and
policies to ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and the management has an obligation to supply the Directors
with adequate information in a timely manner to enable the Directors
to perform their responsibilities. The Directors may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by
them and the Board regularly reviews the contribution required from each
Director to perform his/her responsibilities to the Company.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management team. Such management team is accountable for their
performance to the Board.

During the Year 2022, each executive Director frequently met and
discussed with the management team in order to maintain an effective
feedback system and enable the Group to react to changes or problems
quickly and efficiently. The Board reviews its arrangement on delegation of
responsibilities and authority regularly to ensure that such delegations are
appropriate in view of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that
appropriate reporting system is in place.

Each Director is free to seek advice from and has access to the Company’s
senior management team independently.
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Board Proceedings

The Board is required to convene four (4) regular meetings in a financial
year with intervals of not more than four (4) months. Notices of not less
than 14 days are required to be given to all Directors and each Director is
invited to include matters in the agenda. The Company Secretary assisted
the Chairman in establishing the meeting agenda. Detailed agenda and
related meeting materials were circulated to all Directors at least three days
before the date of the regular meetings.

Minutes were recorded in sufficient detail and draft minutes have been
circulated to all Board members for comments. Finalised minutes were
also sent to all Directors for their records within reasonable time after the
meetings. All minutes were kept by the Company Secretary and were open
for inspection by Directors.

All Directors have been given the relevant guideline materials regarding
the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors and duty of disclosure of interest.

During the Year 2022, the Board held nine (9) meetings, one (1) AGM and
one(1) extraordinary general meeting was held. Details of the attendance
of the Directors are set out below:

ESERTFER

EFg AN —AMHEEANCRE@ORER
TR BRNIGRZEERTBBEGES -
”F%QD%Z/\WFﬁE%$§*HjT\"\EA 14538
M REFHEBREZETINABNEE
ANBIME R EREHE] GERIZ s llERE
REREZRENNEREZAMNEL=A
AP EEE6E

SR E RS RIECE > ME R
MREREREEEEMEERUERER
R -BRLBNRRERTEESRERE
WEERRENSEEERERUFELERZ
ReFTEgZLREHARDMERET LA
HESER-

EREFCELAMFERAEFTNRERS
E-EFBANBRAEORRD > MUk #m
REBESERERIES Bkl

RIBZ_FE -BEFEEETNORE

F () ARERBFRGR— "Xﬁxﬁ%%u
Kgo %%&F‘#\aﬁ%ﬂﬂ?.
Attendance of
HFE
Board
Meeting(s) AGM EGM

EEgEE RRBFEXT RRERBUKE

Attended/eligible to attend

Name of Directors EENSY EBHiE AERLUE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong =RARE

(Chairman and CEO) (ZEFITEHEE) 9/9 1/1 1/1
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin ETENiE 9/9 1/1 1/1
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai ExBTt 9/9 1/1 1/1
INEDs BIUERNTES
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/ANEISE 9/9 11 11
Mr. Yim Kwok Man BB 9/9 1/1 1/1
Dr. Chow Terence BREHEEL 8/9 1/1 1/1
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Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional development
which is relevant to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Every newly appointed Director has received a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction package to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operation and business and the relevant
statues, common laws, the Listing Rules, legal and regulatory requirements
and governance policies. The Company Secretary also provides the
updates on the latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and
other relevant legal and regulatory requirements to the Board from time
to time. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses
at the Company’s expense and they have been requested to provide the
Company with their training records.

During the Year 2022, all Directors attended suitable training and/or
briefings by certain professional advisers and/or participated in continuous
professional development courses organised by professional bodies/firms
on corporate governance or updates on laws, rules and regulations relating
to the roles, functions and duties of a director to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

According to the training records maintained by the Company, the
continuous professional development programmes received by each of the

EFMERRRERERE
EREFHRAZUEAHMERNFEZERS
BREMEBANBRNE - BRHEEIEFEER
A 2E ERARFROMEERE LR
REAERTHNEBRES HEEZR S8
A ERAN A REEREURERR
RBEREER ARWETIARAEZTR
fH EHRA LU H R A D KRB B R E
NRMERNBENEHEN - AATTE
FREEELERREEIIRE  EMEAEAF
=Y BRFAAT AR RMREIEIG
ﬁo

RoF__FE 2REFTURAETE
EERIEHEENEIR HENE E’z/
NBEMEEEE HERNEMLEE
NEMESAE B &ffﬂ’ﬂiﬂ%\%ﬁﬁﬂ
FRERNRHTENNEFEFEERLRRE U
BRKMEREMB IR

RIBFARRREFZIEINEZER FEEFN_-F
T FERRNFEEE S RSTEIMAN

Directors during the Year 2022 is summarised as follows: K
Type of Training
Name of Directors EEN4A EEE
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong =R HRE Aand B
ARB
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin ExRTE Aand B
AKB
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai BBt AandB
AKB
INEDs BWIERITES
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui sR/ANEI ST Aand B
AKB
Mr. Yim Kwok Man BwEX ek Aand B
ARB
Dr. Chow Terence SPEHEL Aand B
ARB
Notes: MI5E -

A attending training sessions, including but not limited to, seminars, briefings,
conferences, forums and workshops

B: reading materials relating to the seminars material, regulatory updates on
laws, rules and regulations to directors'roles and functions, economy, general
business, corporate governance and directors’ duties and responsibilities

Ar Z2EEIIRE OFEERRRASTE B
NE & FRGRIIFY

B: MEAMMNEMH EFAGKBEN
FR-RAKRZEREEEENER KB B
BED CEEAUREERHEREEN
&}
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The Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Under the Articles of Association, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy shall be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after appointment and that every director, under the Articles of
Association and the CG Code, including those appointed for a specific term,
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three (3) years.

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three (3) years and each of the INEDs has
renewed the letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
(3) years, and is subject to retirement provision pursuant to the Articles of
Association.

The Articles of Association contains provisions for the appointment, re-
election and removal of Directors as follows:

Appointment of Directors

Article 83(2) of the Articles of Association provides that subject to the
Articles of Association and the Act, the Company may by ordinary
resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on
the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association provides that the Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board.

Re-election of Directors

Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association also provides that any Director
so appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the
first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointment by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
next following AGM and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third (1/3) of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third
(1/3) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.

Article 84(2) of the Articles of Association provides that a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election and shall continue to act as a Director
throughout the meeting at which he/she retires and any further Directors
so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to retirement by
rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-election or
appointment and so that as between persons who became or were last
re-elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.
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At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 June 2022
(2022 AGM"), each of Mr. Lee and Mr. Cheung retired and was re-elected
as a Director by the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”). The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors in
respect of legal action against them.

Removal of Directors

Under article 83(5) of the Articles of Association, the members may, at
any general meeting and by an ordinary resolution, remove a Director at
any time before the expiration of his/her period of office notwithstanding
anything to the contrary in these articles or in any agreement between
the Company and such Director (but without prejudice to any claim from
damage under any such agreement).

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Directors’ remuneration for the Year 2022 are set out in note 9 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (other than the Directors) whose
particulars are contained in the section headed "Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management”in this Annual Report for the Year 2022 by band is
set out below:

RIBZZHFARNABZTNABEITZERT
RRBFAG ((“TE__FRFBAFKAE)
b FRERRSEESBRELERLTR
ROER) BERES - AAFEHMINE

SNERTEARIEHEBZREMRE-
ERES
IRB AR EZ MBI FE830)F » BRER BT EW

REARE LRBEERER NHEHERER
I ERIREERES > BRI A E /48
RR|EXNAADEZEZTHEABRITA

(BEEBRBEMZpERREENEMNEER
1) o

ERREAEIREE

RIE - _FESSHFNEN RS HERE
MizEgo

RFEFEERTRIBTRIFSCEE 5% 1Y
TECCFESREEERE EEHRM
HEHERAFREEZhSREEER

FEE¥ 1B —EOPY) BORFBNAR R EFIIN T

Number of

individual(s)

Remuneration band (HK$) FEN&R R GEJT) A#
Nil to 1,000,000 4 221,000,000 3
1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1,500,001 %2,000,000 1

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. todevelop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and

5. toreview the Company's compliance with the code and disclosure in
this report.

X ERMRAE
EXEaERTUTEXERRE !

1. BT RESSATNEEEABER K
HiR

2. BHEKERBEERSHRE
REFBEEER

EREry sl
3. B KRERARTBETENREER
EREBNBERRER

4. ﬁ%J.J et e Bs ?FEL}EEBMEEEZ%%E’]
IRTRRERFM WH) ;

5. BEARTHTRINE
SRR

SREPIY &

ANNUAL REPORT 20223k 27



Corporate Governance Report
ﬂé;l_ /l:lZFE/_t

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three (3) Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. All the committees are empowered by the Board under the
respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, which are posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and are
available for inspection by the Shareholders upon request made to the
Company Secretary. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the INEDs, namely Mr. Yim, Mr. Cheung
and Dr. Chow. Mr. Yim is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has extensive
commercial experience and the Audit Committee has a suitable expertise
in various businesses, financial and legal sectors and that the composition
and establishment of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly (i) to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and to oversee the audit process
of the Group, (i) to oversee internal control procedures of our Group, and
(ii) to review risk management and internal control systems of our Group. It
has the responsibilities and powers set forth in the terms of reference.

The Audit Committee members shall meet at least twice a year to consider
the interim and final results prepared by the Board.

During the Year 2022, the Audit Committee held six (6) meetings to, among
others, review and supervise the financial reporting process and review the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group and its audit
related matters. It had, in conjunction with Graham H. Y. Chan & Co,, the
Independent Auditor, reviewed the Group's audited consolidated financial
statements for the Year 2021 and the unaudited consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and recommended the
same to the Board for its consideration and approval. The Audit Committee
was of the opinion that the relevant results were prepared in compliance
with the applicable accounting standards and requirements and that
adequate disclosures had been made. The Audit Committee also carried
out and discharged its other duties as set out in the CG Code.
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The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee meetings during the
Year 2022 is as follows:

ERUIEHTEEN _E__FEHESEZ
ZETEEMNIREUT ¢

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

BHE AE%
Members [p4=] HENSERE
Mr. Yim Kwok Man BB Se A 6/6
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui SR/NER ST A 6/6
Dr. Chow Terence BREHEEYE 6/6

The Audit Committee met on 28 March 2023 and, among other matters,
reviewed the Group's audited consolidated results for the Year 2022.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises two (2) INEDs, namely Mr.
Cheung and Mr. Yim and one (1) executive Director, Mr. Lee. Mr. Cheung is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly (i) to
develop a transparent policy in relation to remuneration; (i) to review the
remuneration policy and the structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of our Group; (jii) to assess performance of all Directors and
review performance-based remunerations payable to Directors and senior
management of our Group and determine the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, which include
benefits in kind; (iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors; and (v) to review and/or approve
matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year 2022, the Remuneration Committee held two (2)
meeting for reviewing and determining the remuneration and other
benefits payable by the Company to the executive Directors and senior
management and recommending the Board of the remuneration of non-
executive Directors.
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The attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee at its
meeting during the Year 2022 is as follows:

*ﬁiﬁﬂﬂéé BRER"E-_FENEES
ERREIT -

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

BHE S8R
Members 24=1 HENEERY
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui SR/NEIST A 2/2
Mr. Yim Kwok Man BREISC AT 2/2
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong FRIKE 2/2

The Remuneration Committee met on 28 March 2023 and considered
certain remuneration-related matters of the Directors and senior
management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises two (2) INEDs, namely Mr. Cheung
and Dr. Chow and one (1) executive Director, Mr. Lee. Mr. Lee is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (i) to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis; (ii) to
make recommendations to the Board relating to the appointment, re-
appointment and any matters relating to the continuation in office of the
Directors; (iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board; and (iv) to assess the independence of the INEDs.

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy on 15 February 2018 and
the Nomination Committee shall monitor the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy and review the progress of its measurable objectives from
time to time.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together with the implementation
is disclosed as below.

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve and
maintain diversity on the Board in order to strengthen the performance
of the Board, promote effective decision-making and better corporate
governance and monitoring. To achieve a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company encourages increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and sustainable development. In designing an appropriate
composition of the Board, the Board diversity has been considered
from a number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Directors appointment will be based
on applicable merits and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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In addition, as at 31 December 2022, the proportion of female members
among all employees (including senior management) of the Company
was 44%. Based on the current gender ratio in the Group's workforce, the
Board is of the view that the Company has basically achieved a certain
degree of balanced diversity. The Company will take steps to maintain
gender diversity among all employees (including senior management). The
Company plans to provide comprehensive training for female employees
who we believe have the appropriate experience, skills and knowledge in
operations and business, including but not limited to business operations,
management, accounting and finance, legal compliance, and research
and development. The Company expects to perform a further review of its
diversity in workforce by the end of 2023.

During the Year 2022, the Nomination Committee held one (1) meeting for,
among other matters, reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board, assessing the independence of INEDs and making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination Committee at its
meeting during the Year 2022 is as follows:
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings
Eligible to Attend

BHE BN
Members 24=1 HENEERY
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong FRAKE 14
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui SR/NERST A 1/1
Dr. Chow Terence PPEHEE 1/1

The Nomination Committee met on 28 March 2023 and recommended the
re-appointment of all the retiring Directors at the forthcoming AGM after
assessing their contribution and performance based on the Nomination
Policy.

Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy which sets out the selection criteria and nomination
procedures to identify, select and recommend candidates for Directors. The
policy is embedded in the NCTOR. Please refer paragraphs 8.1.1 to 8.1.4 and
paragraph 9 of the NCTOR.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group for the Year 2022.

The statement of the independent Auditor about its reporting
responsibilities and opinion on the financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor's Report on pages 53 to 58 of this Annual Report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Independent Auditor,
Graham H.Y. Chan & Co,, in respect of audit services and non-audit services
for the Year 2022 is set out below:

ﬁjﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁiﬂﬁ

—E T FEMERRSRIFERRFE
/BB AR B & St Am S F5 AT BB
EOMEIIWMT

Fee paid/payable

gt EHER

HKS'000

Service RS FET
Annual audit services FEEZARTS 1,552
Non-audit services JEEIZARTFS 505
Total At 2,057

Non-audit services mainly include review of interim financial statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining an adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders and through the Audit
Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis.

Procedures have been set up for, amongst others, identifying, analysing,
categorising, mitigating and monitoring significant risks, and safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring reliability of financial information,
ensuring compliance with relevant legislation and regulations and
protecting the interests of the Shareholders. Such systems are designed
to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and aims to provide a reasonable, as opposed to an absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Main Features of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The key elements of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to keep track
of and record identified risks, the assessment and evaluation of risks, the
development and continuous updating of responsive procedures, and the
ongoing testing of internal control procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

An ongoing risk management approach is adopted by the Company
for identifying and assessing the key inherent risks that affect the
achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is adopted to determine risk
rating (L = low risk, M = medium risk, H = high risk) after evaluation of the
risk by the likelihood and the impact of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect
the level of managements, attention and risk treatment effort required.
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Process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant risks

During the process of risk assessment, each risk owner of departments
and major Subsidiaries is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent risk is
evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into consideration the
risk response, such as control measures in place to mitigate the risk, the
residual risk of each inherent risk is evaluated again. The risk register with
the risk responses and residual risks is reported to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and
reports to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

Process used to review the effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Control Systems and to resolve
material internal control defects

The Audit Committee has performed ongoing review of the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems (during which
an external independent consulting firm was engaged to offer assistance)
for the period from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2022, according to
the scope of review covering the Group’s material controls in financial,
operational and compliance aspects agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in compliance with the requirements under Code Provision
C.2 of the CG Code.

The Audit Committee was satisfied that there had been no major
deficiency noted in the areas of the Group’s risk management and internal
controls systems, following the implementation of recommendations
against the internal control defects revealed. The Audit Committee has
access to information necessary to fulfil their duties and responsibilities
with respect to risk assessment and risk management. Accordingly, the
Audit Committee and the Board considered the risk management and
internal control systems to be effective and have been implemented with
adequate resources during the Year 2022.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information

The Board has already established a policy on the procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The policy stipulates the obligations of the Group, in respect of the
restriction on disseminating non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemption and waiver to the disclosure
of inside information, and also compliance and reporting procedures.
Senior management must take all reasonable measures to ensure that
proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of any disclosure requirement
from time to time, promptly bring any possible leakage or divulgence of
inside information to the attention of the Financial Controllers, or his/her
delegates, who will notify the Board timely and accordingly for taking the
appropriate action promptly. For any material violation of this policy, the
Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to decide the course of
actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding recurrence.
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The Company does not have an internal audit department. The Board
currently takes the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function in light of the size and nature of the Group's
business. The need for an internal audit function will be reviewed from
time to time. However, for the Year 2022, the Audit Committee, through
the engagement of an external independent consultant, has conducted
a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group covering all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls. The Board considers that the Group's
risk management and internal control are adequate and effective. The
Board expects that a review of the risk management and internal control
systems will be performed annually.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced as soon as reasonably practicable when it is the subject
of a decision. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines on
Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong in June 2012;

the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair disclosure
by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of information to
the public through channels such as financial reporting, public
announcements and its website;

the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information; and

the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group's affairs, so that
only the executive Directors, Company Secretary and investor
relations officers are authorised to communicate with parties outside
the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Tang Yuen Ching, Irene has been appointed by the Board since 1
February 2022. Ms. Tang has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
during the Year 2022.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company adopted the Dividend Policy on 31 December 2018.

According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding whether to propose any
dividend payout and/or determining the amount of any dividend to be
paid, the Board will take into account, amongst other matters:
(@) the Group's actual and expected financial performance;

(b) interests of Shareholders;

(c) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and
each of the other members of the Group;

(d)  the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
financial covenants to which the Group is subject;
(e)  possible effects on the Group's creditworthiness;

(f)  any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s lenders;

(@) the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

(h)  liquidity position of the Group and any future commitments at the
time of declaration of dividend;

(i) taxation considerations;

(j)  statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(k) general business conditions and strategies;

() general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the
business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

(m) other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall be subject to all applicable

laws and regulations including but not limited to the Companies

Ordinance and the Memorandum and Articles.

The Company will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and

reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/
or modify the Dividend Policy at any time.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings of the
Company (the “General Meeting”), including the election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at General Meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after each
General Meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles of Association, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at General Meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or Company Secretary, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; any such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after deposit of such requisition; and
if within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Act for the
Shareholders to move new resolutions at General Meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a General Meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal
with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Company Secretary

Apex Ace Holding Limited
Units 2-3, 1/F

Sun Cheong Industrial Building
1 Cheung Shun Street Kowloon
Hong Kong

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as
the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact

details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders'

information may be disclosed as required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Company’s business performance and strategies. The Company endeavors
to maintain an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular,
through AGMs and other General Meetings. At the AGM, Chairman and
chairman of the Board committees (or their delegates as appropriate) are
available to meet the Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.apexace.com as a
communication platform with the Shareholders and investors, where the
financial information and other relevant information of the Company are
available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 20 May 2022, the Board approved certain amendments to the Articles
of Association in order to bring the articles of association in line with the
Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules, which came into effect on 1 January 2022.
A special resolution for the adoption of new Articles of Association was
passed by the Shareholders at the AGM of the Company held on 29 June
2022. An up-to-date version of the Memorandum and Articles is available
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Group will be
issued separately from this annual report and will be available only on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present the report of the Directors together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sales of electronic components,
and sales and integration of storage systems. The Shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date. Segment analysis
of the Company for the Year 2022 is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. A list of the Subsidiaries, together with their places
of incorporation, principal activities, place of operation and particulars
of their issued shares/registered share capital, is set out in note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year 2022 are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages 59
and 60 of this Annual Report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 172 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company during the
Year 2022 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BOND (“CB”)

Details of the movement of CB of the Company during the Year 2022 are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES
(MPSCS")

On 23 February 2022, in satisfying a portion of consideration for acquisition
of a property from Nicegoal Limited, the Company issue HK$10,000,000
PSCS to Nicegoal Limited, which could be converted into approximately
28,570,000 ordinary shares of the Company. During the Year 2022, no PSCS
was converted into ordinary shares of the Company. Details are set out in
note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the Year 2022 (2021: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Review of our Business and Performance

A discussion and analysis of the Group's performance using financial
key performance indicators during the Year 2022 and the key factors
affecting its results and financial position are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual Report.

Information about a review of, and an indication of likely future
development in, the Group’s business is set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual
Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The following section lists out the key risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group. It is a non-exhaustive list and there may be other risks and
uncertainties further to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this
Annual Report does not constitute a recommendation or an advice for
anyone to invest in the securities of the Company and investors are advised
to make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors
before making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Financial risks

Details on the financial risks on foreign currency, credit on trade receivables,
liquidity and interest rate facing the Group on its operation can be referred
to note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Seasonality of products demand

Our Group's business is generally seasonal in nature. It is possible that
seasonality in demand for our customers' products might affect our Group's
sales in the future. Market conditions faced by our customers may be
volatile and are beyond the control of the Group. Future downturns in the
end markets of our customers may affect the business of our Group.

Reliance on major customers and suppliers

Our stable relationship with our major customers and suppliers enables
our business to achieve stable revenue and profitability level. On the other
hand, if there are any changes in such relationships, which may lead to
withdrawals, cancellations or terminations of transactions, the Group's
performance and business growth may be adversely affected.

Evolvement in information technology

Our Group operates in a highly competitive industry which faces rapid
changes in market trends, consumer preferences and constantly evolving
technological advances in hardware models, software features and
functionalities. The ongoing changes in technology require us to constantly
incorporate new features or technology into our sensitivity and adaptability
to market demand and/or services in order to cope with the evolving
environment and customer demands.
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Future economic and political policies of the PRC government

The development of PRC's economy is based on many factors, including
but not limited to structure of economy, government involvement, control
of foreign exchange, allocation of resources and capital investment.
However, any of such changes to the economic and political strategies and
policies of the PRC government may have an adverse impact on the overall
global economy and affect all the industries in which the Group operates.

Future economic and political uncertainties in the world

Economic and political uncertainties in the world resulted from major
events such as the persistent threat of global inflation and the global
economy is facing increasing downward pressure, the unresolved war
between the Ukraine and the Russia, and the surging trend in the US
interest rates and the US-China trade tensions, continue to affect the global
economy both in short-term and long-term, which in turn may adversely
impact the performance of the Group.

Performance history and forward-looking statements

The performance and the results of the operations of the Group as set out
in this Annual Report are historical in nature and past performance is not a
guarantee of future performance. This Annual Report may contain forward—
looking statements and opinions that involve risks and uncertainties.
Actual results may also differ materially from expectations discussed in
such forward-looking statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor
the Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume any obligations
or liabilities in the event that any of the forward-looking statements or
opinions does not materialise or turns out to be incorrect.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting a sustainable and
environmental friendly environment. Our Group does not engage in the
manufacturing of products and does not have any production facilities.
The inventories are kept at our Group's storage and warehousing facilities
situated inside the headquarters office unit. Therefore, our Group is not
subject to significant health, safety or environmental risks. In addition, the
Group has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimise unnecessary waste. During the Year 2022, our
Group had not been subject to any fines or other penalties due to non-
compliance with health, safety or environmental regulations.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Our operations are mainly carried out by the Subsidiaries in Hong Kong and
the Mainland China while the shares of the Company itself is listed on the
Stock Exchange. Our operations shall comply with the relevant laws and
regulations in the Mainland China and Hong Kong.

During the Year 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Group has

complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China and
Hong Kong in all material respects.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group is constantly aware of the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. We encourage employees
to strengthen their knowledge of the industries in which the Group
operate and attend courses or training sessions to improve their relevant
industry and technical knowledge. The Group also maintains ongoing
communications with its employees, customers and suppliers through
various channels such as regular meetings, calls and emails in order to
allow employees to contribute to the development of the Group, deliver
better customer services to our clients and obtain better services and
cooperation from our suppliers.

DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the Year 2022 for charitable and
community purposes amounted to HK$234,000 (2021 HK$234,000).

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the Year
2022 on page 63 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of 31 December 2022, the Company's distributable reserves calculated
in accordance with the Act amounted to HK$112.0 million.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements of our property, plant and equipment during the
Year 2022 are set out in are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Stock Exchange on the Listing Date with
net proceeds received by the Company from the Global Offering in the
amount of approximately HK$116.9 million after deducting underwriting
commissions and all related expenses and before the exercise of
overallotment option (the “Net Proceeds”). The Net Proceeds will be used
in the manner consistent with that was mentioned in the section headed
“Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. Please refer to the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this Annual
Report for the utilisation of the Net Proceeds for the Year 2022.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the purchase of 7,070,000 Shares during the Year 2022 through
the Custodian as set out in the section headed “Restricted Share Award
Scheme” in this report, the Company did not redeem any of its Shares
listed on the Stock Exchange nor did the Company or any of its subsidiaries
purchase or sell any of such Shares during the Year 2022,

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Year 2022 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (Chairman and CEO)
Mr. Lo Yuen Kin

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai

INED:s:

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
Mr. Yim Kwok Man
Dr. Chow Terence

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” to this Annual Report. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, Mr. Lo and Mr. Yim shall retire at the forthcoming
AGM and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election thereat.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not terminable within one year
without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of our Group has been set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications
and competence. The remuneration of the Directors is recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. The
Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme and the Restricted Share
Award Scheme as the incentives to the eligible participants.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND
COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under note 32 “Related Party Transactions” to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance (as defined in Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules)
to which the Company or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director, an entity connected
with the Director or Controlling Shareholder or its subsidiaries (other
than members of the Group) had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2022 or at any time during the Year
2022 and up to the date of this report.

As of 31 December 2022, none of the Directors was interested in any
businesses apart from our business which competed or was likely to
compete with our business, either directly or indirectly or would otherwise
require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements. Except for acquisition of a property
from a connected party which constitutes non-exempted connected
transaction, other related party transactions constituted continuing
connected transactions exempted from the reporting, announcement and
independent shareholders” approval requirements under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. In the opinion of the Directors (including the INEDs), the
related party transactions were carried out in the ordinary and usual course
of business and on normal commercial terms negotiated between the
Group and the respective related parties which are fair and reasonable and
in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year 2022 had the
Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance
with the Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided by the
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of
its subsidiaries.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Directors confirm that save as disclosed in the section headed “Related
Party Transactions” of this report, none of the related party transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing connected transactions
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed. Save
as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group
had not entered into any connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this report pursuant to
the Listing Rules during the Year 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required: (i) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), (i) pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein (the
“Register”), or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

SRIIRD RAERARRD A B (BT RIRE
B
AN_ECTE+RB=+—H EFERAR
ARSITHAERAABNERBRAZE (F
& BB F KRG EAEXVER) IR ~ 18R
B REREF  BIRE ()5BS AIAER
BISEXVER B 7 5287 EREI B A A B) K B 22 P Y
BmEXE (BREREESREER @JE’]&
FRE IR S ARIER R A B AR &=
B) (N85 R E IR H35218 58 AZIRFR
FEE M (TEECM) ARER TR A » TiiiiZ
TG AN B B A PTE Rm I A U
T

Long Position 59}
Number of Shares held
it RIABE Percentage of
Number of issued shares of
Name of Company Corporate Family underlying the companies
Directors concerned Capacity Personal interest interests interests Other interest Shares Total concerned
Fitsam {ERHAR
1R B&T
g3 BRAR i AR Pl R Aftes 48 it RirE
Mr. Lee the Company Interest of a controlled - 835,710,000 - - - 835,710,000 71.73%
corporation (Note)
54 YN el 5o (Fst)
Ms. Lo the Company Interest of spouse - - 835,710,000 - - 835,710,000 71.73%
(Note)
Bt LY\ [ (fsE)
Mr. Cheung the Company Beneficial owner 40,000 - - - - 40,000 0.004%
fvikd LY BaEEA

Note: Such interest includes (i) 750,000,000 Shares beneficially held by Best Sheen;
and (i) the PSCS and the CB beneficially held by Nicegoal convertible into
85,710,000 Shares in aggregate. As Best Sheen and Nicegoal is, directly or
indirectly, wholly-owned by Mr. Lee, Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in all
the interest held by Best Sheen and Nicegoal under the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so far as is known
to the Directors, none of the Directors and the chief executives of the
Company had or were deemed to have any interest or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required (i) to be notified the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions in which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); (ii) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the Register; or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives of the Company, as
at 31 December 2022, the following corporation (other than a Director or
the chief executives of the Company) which had interests or short position
in the Share and underlying Shares which were required to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

PrREXFrIRBEEN R_E__F+°-8
=+—H > MEFAA BEESFREAT
ESTHASRTABHEEKERE (E&
R 5 MEAERBIEXVER) BIRD ~ 18R
PEEER T EA SRR S ER AR
B MARNMBIRE S SR IRPISEXVER ST
K87 BB RIBA AN B e Bt 32 Py (BL4E AR5
S MAERAIARRIFE SR SR EFIE A
BWREBmAOAR) (IMRIEZEFSAEFRAISE
352 A B M ; HNRIBREFRI & A
NSNS I

ggﬂﬁiﬁ?ﬂﬁfﬁ&*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁlﬂ%ﬁ&i&

MEFERFTADRBTHRAERA R 2F
T+ A=+ B RIEESKPRER
BISEXVER 55252370 BBV R SRR A A B
B RIESE S A E IR BB 336IREC A RTF
BEESMAR (—REFENREATRST
B A BRRIN 1B R ABRA IR (7 SR R BY

mEREIT

Name of substantial Capacity/ Number of Percentage of

shareholder Nature of interest Shares held Mete" issued Shares
HERT

TERRLE B/ EmitE FrisR{n &8 men RIPERLE

Best Sheen (Note 2) Beneficial owner 750,000,000 69.76%

2 (fre2) BakEE A

Nicegoal (Note 3) Beneficial owner 85,710,000 7.97%

ER (:3) BakEa A

Notes: MI5E :

1. These represent the entity’s long position in the Shares.

2. The entire issued share capital of Best Sheen is held by Mr. Lee, the Chairman,
the CEO and an executive Director.

3. These interest represents the PSCS and the CB convertible into 85,710,000
Shares in aggregate. Nicegoal is indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Lee.

Save as those disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors
and the chief executives of the Company are not aware of any other
person or corporation having an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme pursuant to a resolution
in writing passed by the Shareholders on 15 February 2018 as incentives or
rewards for eligible participants who contribute to the Group.

No share options have been granted since the Listing Date. Therefore, no
share option was granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the Share
Option Scheme during the Year 2022 and there were no outstanding
options under the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2022.

The total number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 100,000,000,
being 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date.

Summary of major terms of the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

(i)

(i)

46

Purposes

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to
grant options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to our Group. The Directors consider that the Share
Option Scheme will enable the Group to reward the employees, the
Directors and other selected participants for their contribution to our
Group.

Participants

The following persons of the Company, any member of the Group
or of an entity in which the Group holds an equity interest may be
invited by the Directors to take up options to subscribe for Shares at
the Directors' absolute discretion:

(@)  employees and directors;
(b)  suppliers and customers;

(c) persons or entities that provides research, development or
other technological support;

(d)  holders of any securities;

(e)  advisers (professional or otherwise) or consultants to any area
of business or business development; and

(f) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.
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(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the Listing Date
(i.e. 100,000,000 Shares).

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant including a Director or the
chief executive of the Company who accepts the offer for the grant
of an option under the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the number of the issued Shares. Any further
grant of options in excess of this limit is subject to the Shareholders'
approval in a general meeting.

Where any grant of options to a Substantial Shareholder or an INED,
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares
in issue at the date of grant and with an aggregate value (based on
the closing price of the Shares at the date of each grant) in excess
of HKS5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to the
Shareholders'approval in a general meeting.

Options granted to a Director, chief executive of the Company or
Substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval by the INEDs.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An offer of options may be accepted by a participant within 21 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the options. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer, a grantee is not
required to hold an option for any minimum period nor achieve any
performance targets before the exercise of an option granted to him.

Subscription price for Shares and consideration for the
option

The subscription price for Shares will be a price determined by the
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on
the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the average of the closing prices of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and (i) the nominal value of the Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee on
acceptance of grant of option.

Period

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing on 16 March 2018, the date on which the Share Option
Scheme became effective.

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)
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RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company adopted the Restricted Share Award Scheme on 30
August 2019. The Restricted Share Award Scheme, which is subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Restricted Share Award Scheme is (i) to recognise the
contributions by the Group'’s personnel and to increase their incentives in
working for the continual operation and development of the Group; and (ii)
to attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants made pursuant to
the Restricted Share Award Scheme (excluding awarded shares which
have been forfeited in accordance with the Share Award Scheme) will
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of
adoption of the Restricted Share Award Scheme (i.e. 1,000,000,000),
being 100,000,000 Shares (the “Restricted Share Award Scheme Limit").
The maximum number of Restricted Shares which may be granted to
a Selected Participant at any one time or in aggregate may not exceed
one per cent. (1%) of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date.

Vesting of Awards

The Board may from time to time while the Restricted Share Award Scheme
is in force and subject to all applicable laws, determine such vesting criteria
and conditions or periods for the Award to be vested.

Movements in the Share Award Scheme

During the Year 2022, the Custodian purchased 7,070,000 Shares on the
market under the Restricted Share Award Scheme and an aggregate
of 1,910,000 Shares were vested to employee participants, which were
granted to them in Year 2021. As at the date of this annual report, an
aggregate of 7,640,000 Restricted Shares remained unvested to the
employee participants.
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Changes in the number of restricted shares in 2022

—ECCENRHRROBELH
Not yet vested
Not yet vested asat 31
Vesting period  asat 1 January Granted Vested December
Grantee Date of grant (Note 1) 2022 (Note 2) (Note 3) Lapsed Cancelled 2022
Ro%-Z
RZ%-Z +ZR
BEH —-A-H B EHE =t+-H
EBEA REiEH (Mtzt1) HABE (M3k2) (Hi5E3) BRH Bt HABE
Employees BJuly2021 10 March 2022 1,910,000 = 1,910,000 = = =
“EC-F CZEBEICE
g tAZ+=H =R+A
10 March 2023 3,820,000 = = = = 3,820,000
BT CE
=R+A
10 March 2024 3,820,000 = = = = 3,820,000
ZZImE
=R+H
TOTAL 9,550,000 - 1,910,000 - - 7640000
3t
Notes: MisE

Subject to the rules of the Restricted Share Award Scheme, the Restricted
Shares will be vested to the grantees in three tranches of which 20% of
the Restricted Shares were vested on 10 March 2022, 40% of the Restricted
Shares were supposed to be vested on 10 March 2023, but the vesting
arrangement is still in progress and 40% of the Restricted Shares will be
vested on 10 March 2024, subject to the fulfilment of the vesting condition
that the Grantee shall be graded “Satisfactory” or above during the annual
year-end performance appraisal conducted before the respective vesting
dates.

The Restricted Shares granted under the Restricted Share Award Scheme
were the average closing price of the Shares for the five consecutive trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant as quoted on the Stock
Exchange is approximately HK$0.312 per Share. According to the rules of
the Restricted Share Award Scheme, the Board shall consider certain matters
when determining the grant of such Restricted Shares to the grantees,
including the performance and contributions of the grantees of the Group
with an objective of recognising their contributions and increasing their
incentives in working for the continual operation and development of the
Group.

The Share price on which the Restricted Shares were vested in employees
under the Restricted Share Award Scheme on 10 March 2022 was HK$0.32.
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During the Year 2022, the aggregate fair value of the Restricted Shares
granted on 23 July 2021 under the Restricted Share Award Scheme was
HK$2,865,000. The estimated value of the Restricted Shares granted to
the employee participants and the five highest paid employees was
HK$ 1,290,000, respectively.

RIE -5 RIERGIMERD BT E
KRB —FtBA-+=AREBRGHIMER
DA B EABRE22,865,00078 7T c T 18
E2HEN LRSS HMNESNRSIERD
B EHEBE 2D B 21,290,000 7T ©

Fair value of

Total number restricted shares

Grantee Date of grant granted granted

SR HIRHIE

EBEA ZHAEL [SEih it RSB AFE

HKS

ATT

Employee 23 July 2021 9,550,000 2,865,000
Five highest paid employees 23 July 2021

hEEHNES —E_—F+HAZ+=H 4,300,000 1,290,000

Please refer to note 29(b) to the financial statements for details of
accounting treatment for restricted shares of the Restricted Share Award
Scheme.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

Apart from the Share Option Scheme, the Restricted Share Award
Scheme, CB and PSCS as set out in this Directors’ Report, no equity-linked
agreement that would or might (i) result in the Company issuing Shares, or
(i) require the Company to enter into an agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing Shares, was entered into by the Company
during the Year 2022 or subsisted at the end of the Year 2022.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Mr. Lee, through his interest in Best Sheen, is interested in 69.76% of
the issued Shares. As such Mr. Lee and Best Sheen are the Controlling
Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders have confirmed that they had
been in compliance with all the undertakings provided under the deed
of non— competition dated 15 February 2018 and signed by Mr. Lee and
Best Sheen in favour of the Company (the “Deed of Non-competition”),
since the signing of the Deed of Non-competition and up to 31 December
2022. Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Non-competition Undertaking” in the Prospectus. There are no
matters which required to be deliberated by the INEDs in relation to the
compliance and enforcement of the Deed of Non-competition and they
considered that the terms of the Deed of Non-competition have been
complied with by the Controlling Shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as of the date of this Annual Report,
the Company has maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the
issued Shares being held by the public) as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the laws of the
Cayman Islands (place of incorporation of the Company) or under the
Articles of Association which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out in the CG
Code. The Board considered that during the Year 2022 and up to the date
of this Annual Report, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for those disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report included in this Annual Report. For details,
please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report”on pages 21 to 37 of this
Annual Report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or in existence as at 31 December 2022 or at any time during the Year
2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for the Directors' and
officers' liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities during the Year 2022
and the indemnity provision and Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
remained in force during the Year 2022 and as at the date of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year 2022, the five largest customers of the Group comprised 47.5%
by value of our total sales during the Year 2022, with the largest customer
accounted for 23.9%. For the Year 2022, the five largest suppliers of the
Group comprised 74.1% by value of our total purchases during the Year
2022, with the largest supplier accounted for 27.6%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or a Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the number of issued
Shares) has an interest in any of our five largest customers and suppliers.

REALARGR=E
RERASAREESNER RFESFT
BEARERBE > KA ABEIFT EHRRIET
HNIREREARIERE BIARALEESE
D252 EEITRED) ©

BxiEERE

FHEEE (RABNEMMIItE) EHHE
AR E A RIB BRSO AR
BARHRARRIZ AR Z RN

ERER

AT B EE BT RIPTEAYTRIF
o BRER AR ENEEEARESFIRES
SV BEERRAN B _FEREELRSF
HREMVRER AAT—HBTEEER
STRIPTE R A T RR X - S B S B4 F
HENEIEMNEEERRE

EESY

NZE - HF+"/B=+—HxZE—F
FE RIS B L R E B R AA T
ERREABLEFNEERTHERES
40

HEFTRYREREEIRY

RIBEBEEMA) KEFHERRERF
BEEPREEN TR 2 BRI E M
SEMXXVBRHMEEANEEERR
B-RIZB__FE ARAEREEKRD
REENESEIRBOBERE MES KSR
BERE R FEEMS | RHH R ERMAIE
BITBRHRE BR S _FERRA
REEH ARBERXURES SR
SEERRINAB -

FEERRHER
AR TFE - AERAARRMGEME
T~ T EEHELEEL 5% MRAR PRI
VI M B - _FE - AEFBRAHER
EEMZE T FERBEE41% TRA
g BI{527.6% ©

BEESR HETMBEANRE GLESF

MEER BETROHUBES %A LR RERE
RERRMEHTHESEL -

ANNUAL REPORT 20224F3R 5§51



Report of the Directors

ERIWRE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the
Year 2022 was the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any significant event affecting the Group and
requiring disclosure that has been taken place subsequent to 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year 2022 have been audited
by Graham H. Y. Chan & Co, who will retire at the conclusion of the
forthcoming AGM and offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of Graham H. Y. Chan & Co. as the Independent
Auditor will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Bing Kwong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
MR R S GIE

——
JP%‘ E"'?):ch CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

gf Em% HONG KONG

TO THE MEMBERS OF APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Apex Ace
Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as, the “Group”) set out on pages 59 to 171, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
1. Impairment assessment of trade receivables; and

2. Provision for inventories.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

1.

54

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

Nature of the key audit matter

MBSt EENLE

FIREstHIE (@)
1. HESRBARREEEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESNENFARIEMARESFE

We identified the impairment assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the
use of management judgement and estimates
in assessing the impairment of trade receivables
under the expected credit losses model.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the provision for
impairment of trade receivables, the management
considers the ageing analysis of trade debts, the
current creditworthiness of the customers, the
past collection history of each debtor and existing
market conditions. Management also considers
forward looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding
balances in order to estimate the expected credit
losses for the impairment assessment.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
of trade receivables was approximately
HK$499,292,000, net of allowance for impairment
of approximately HK$63,449,000.
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APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED BRI IR A RAE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:

- Understanding the Group’s key internal control in managing
and monitoring its credit risk, debt collection and estimate
of expected credit losses;

- Re-computing the accuracy of ageing analysis of trade
receivables and testing the accuracy of the ageing analysis
by, on a sample basis, checking to source documents;

- Obtaining confirmations from debtors, on a sample basis, to
verify the accuracy of the debtor balances;

- Reviewing the subsequent settlement of trade receivables
and checking the subsequent settlement, on a sample basis,
to the related sales invoices and bank records;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the impairment assessment
made by the management by examining the information
used by management to make such judgements, including
testing the accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions and forward-looking
information; and

- Assessing the adequacy of the credit risk disclosures in
relation to trade receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

2.

Provision for inventories

Nature of the key audit matter

MBS FEREE

RSt HIE (@)
2. FHEMRE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ESFNENFARIEMRENFE

We identified the provision for inventories as
a key audit matter due to use of judgement in
determining the appropriate levels of inventory
provision.

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the allowance for
slow-moving and obsolete inventories, the
management takes into accounts the ageing,
net realisable value and subsequent sales of
inventories.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of
inventories was approximately HK$174,970,000
and a written down of inventories amounted to
approximately HK$6,990,000 was made for the
year.
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Our audit procedures in relation to provision for inventories
included the following:

- Understanding the inventory impairment policy of the
Group and management’s assessment in estimating the net
realisable values of the inventories;

- Assessing the reasonableness of management's estimates of
the net realisable value of inventories on a sample basis with
reference to ageing of the inventories, subsequent sales of
inventories, latest selling prices, and estimates for costs to
make sales;

= Testing the accuracy of the ageing analysis of the
inventories by, on a sample basis, checking to the source
documents; and

- Enquiring the sales team of the Group about the expected
sales of the slow-moving or long-outstanding inventories.
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative
but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

= Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
things, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is LAl Shuk Ping.

Graham H.Y. Chan & Co.
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong

28 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
raBmMAEMEER @K

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE T+ _A=t+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L ETTHT)
2022 2021
—8-C TR
Note $'000 $'000
Fd5F FT S
Revenue Wz 5 2,689,094 2,640,100
Cost of sales 55 B A (2,574,218) (2,414,026)
Gross profit EH 114,876 226,074
Other income HA A 6 5,255 9,682
Increase in fair value of investment KEYEATEEM
property 200 -
Reversal of impairment loss/ B Z R EEE
(impairment loss) on trade receivables ~ #[a],/ CRl{EES1E) 7,594 (40,393)
Impairment loss on loans, interestand ~ FEWE 71~ ) B K E
other receivables FEWGRIE R B 518 (3,865) (2,345)
Fair value loss in financial instrument  IRAF{Est ABHAY
at fair value through profit or loss TMTANRFERE (484) =
Fair value loss in derivative asset MEBEEN R FERE (3,178) =
Distribution and selling expenses D RIEE R (54,495) (75,629)
Administrative expenses THR= (79,802) (84,698)
Finance costs BB R A 7 (19,968) (9,584)
(Loss)/profit before tax IR AT (B548) i&EF 8 (33,867) 23,107
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigtiiEs ) 10 831 (6,/487)
(Loss)/profit for the year F R @) &R (33,036) 16,620
Other comprehensive income/ Hith2miks ~ (BR)
(expense)
Items that may be reclassified HEE#H BT B m
subsequently to profit or loss: ZIHEH
Exchange differences arising on MEBINERES
translation of foreign operations ZERER (5,977) 1,605
Items that will not be reclassified RETEENTHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: Em B
Surplus on revaluation of leasehold SHAE LM NIET
land and buildings 2 EER - 2,889
Deferred tax arising on revaluation of ~ L& Lt RIEF
leasehold land and buildings BEE ZIRERIE - (544)
Other comprehensive (expense)/ FRHEMZHE Fk)
income for the year, net of tax Wz > NBRIRIE (5,977) 3,950
Total comprehensive (expense)/ FAhzE FEx)
income for the year Wy &5 4E ER (39,013) 20,570
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

roEmAEMEE @R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_T__F+"BA=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TTET)
2022 2021
—g-C eI —fF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5F T T
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: WA R A LFEMLER (B518)
S w A
— Owners of the Company —AREHEEA (32,386) 6,735
— Non-controlling interests — IR T (650) 9,885
(33,036) 16,620
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income WL~ A TEGER 2@
for the year attributable to: () I 48%E
— Owners of the Company —AREHEEA (38,157) 10,511
— Non-controlling interests — IR T (856) 10,059
(39,013) 20,570
(Loss)/earnings per share T ATEEAELEER
attributable to owners of the (&518) &H
Company
- Basic —BxK 11 |(3.13)HK cents7flll | 067 HK cents
- Diluted —#E (3.13)HK cents{lll | 067 HK cents 1Ll

The notes on pages 67 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial ~ Fe7E171 B Z BRIt E T S ERE
statements. Z—853e
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

— N H
o=

RATS IR iR

At 31 December 2022

A — = e =

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L ETTHT)
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—®-= :%‘G:—E
+=ZB=+—H | +=ZB=+—
Note $'000 S OOO
B 5% FT T
Non-current assets ERBNEE
Property, plant and equipment M= BERKE 13 90,807 63,486
Right of use assets FREEE 13 9,367 1216
Investment property REYE 14 51,200 51,000
Financial instrument at fair value BAFESTARGDN
through profit or loss ETMTHE 15 12,674 -
Intangible assets mILEE 17 12,280 18,409
Deposits paid for acquisition of WK B 2E ~ RS e sk Y
property, plant and equipment BfiEE 20 = 1,305
Deferred tax assets JEMRIBE E 26 11,806 9,784
) 188334 145,200 _
Current assets REBEE
Derivative asset TEBE 16 1,001 =
Inventories 75 18 174,970 251,865
Trade receivables B 5 IR 19 499,292 484,626
Other receivables, deposits and HMEWARIE - ZE &
prepayments SEANE/E 20 49,682 67,924
Income tax receivable FEURFT1SHR 793 759
Bank balances, restricted balance and  $R17456% « PRl 45 &)
cash KRIRE 21 99,562 143,743
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ss300|  owons
Current liabilities wREAaR
Trade payables B SRR 22 131,812 160,863
Other payables, accruals and deposits ~ ELfth FE {0 IE ~ fE 5+ &
received &EH&?&% 23 22,789 44,44)
Lease liabilities — current portion HESE-REITD 13 2,885 668
Bank borrowings, secured IRITREE > B 24,37 483,666 538,545
Income tax payable FEAS AR 3,873 5014
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 645025 | 749532
Netcurrentassets = WER&®E | 180275 199,385 _
Total assets less current liabilities  #@EEMABMAR = | BREg0Y| 344,585 _
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

H—-A AN
RBE I TBIRNR
At 31 December 2022 ST _F+_A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (X /gmffﬂ‘ )
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E-C :?:—E
+ZA=+—-H| +2A=+-—
Note $'000 Sf OOO
B 5+ Tt T
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Convertible bond AR ES 25,37 15,227 =
Lease liabilities — non-current portion A& &BE—IERENZ D 13 6,731 556
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIERE 26 3,901 3,683
25,859 4,239
Net assets BESE 342,550 340,346
Capital and reserves B R#E
Share capital %N 27 10,751 10,096
Reserves (Efi] 290,413 294,732
Equity attributable to owners TRABER ANEGEE
of the Company 301,164 304,828
Perpetual subordinated convertible KA R AR AR 58
securities 28 10,000 =
Non-controlling interests R 31,386 35,518
Total equity g 342,550 340,346

The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 171 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2023 and

were signed on its behalf by

Lee Bing Kwong

FRA

Director

EFE

The notes on pages 67 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

62  APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED Y EERHE IR A R AT

Lo Yuen Kin
ExR
Director

EF

B/ 17 B MBI ERS
—&R 5 0

BOFNBZGEUHFRRECHEFIN
R =F=RB+/\BMERKETE
WHMUTALTHERRZE !

MR *E



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

I\V—I_\

=\ 7 _\.
$&/ \“\D“‘@J%

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE_ T _F+"FB=+—HIFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TTET)
Attributable to owners of the Company
FRRREARL
Shares held
forthe Perpetual
restricted  Share-based Asset subordinated Non-
Share  share award payment  Convertible Other  revaluation  Exchange Retained onertble  controlling Total
Share capital premium scheme reserve  bond reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Subtotal securities interests Equity
Rsltthit
REHE NRARR et HE KARR
ks ROEE TRERG WERE SRR AR  EMER  EREE  GEEM it MRRES  HERER L3
$000 §000 5000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 §000 $000 §000 §000 §000
i i i e T T T n i i i e e
Balance at 1 January 2021 \Z¥Z-£-A-H
i3 10000 103944 - - - 3086 12801 B 160860 293414 - 28080 31494
Proft for the year Epyaf| - - - - - - - 673 673 = 9885 16620
Other comprehensie income/ ErEf2EkE/ (6
(expense) for the year
- Bxchange difetences aising -hEENEREE
on translaton offoreign ZERER
operations - - - - - - - 141 1431 - 174 1605
~ Surplus on revalugtion of -BERETHRET
leasehold land and buldings 2B - - - - - - 2889 2889 - - 2889
- Deferred ax rising on -EfRETHRET
revaluation ofleasehold land ELBNE
and buildings - - - - - S (544 o o (54) - = (34)
Tod comprfienseincorre ERRENEAR
fortheyer - - - - - - 2 14 673 1051 - 10059 0500
e of hates EiRh % 3583 B69) - - - - - - - -
Recognition of equity-setted BANEREE 2L
share-based payment R fzE - - - 93 - - - 9 = = 903
Revduation resenve redisedpon - EfFRETHRETZ
depreciation on revaluation of NESRERGE
leasehold [and and buildings - - - - - - (68) - 68 - - - -
Divdend pad to the non-cortroling i LEEE 2
shareholder of a subsidary ﬁQ%HQE - - = = - = = = = - - (2601) (2601)
Balanceat 31 December2021  R=F--F+ZR
=t-A2ER 100% 107477 (3629 903 = 3086 14461 414 168,280 304828 - 35518 340346
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
/\\7|_\ 4‘% £ 2 A5 @J %

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE_ - _#t+_B=1+—HIEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TTET)
Attributable to owners of the Company
LG EIN
Shares held
for the Perpetual
restricted  Share-based Asset subordinated Non-
Share  share award payment  Convertible Other  revaluation  Exchange Retained onertble  controlling Total
Share capital premium scheme reserve  bond reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Subtotal securites interests Equity
it
Bl MRhEf TR HE A4
Bt RGEE TRERR WERE  GHHR RMHR  ERER  ERER  REE it dRkES  FEREE 0 4BE
$000 §000 5000 5000 §000 §000 5000 §000 §000 §000 §000 5000 §000

T T T T T T T T T T T T T

Balanceat 1 January 2022 ®=§-2%-A-A
b3 006 107477 (3629) 903 - 3,086 14,461 4156 168280 304828 - B518 340346
Lossforthe year EREE - - - - - - - - (32386)  (32386) - (650)  (33,036)

Other comprehensive (expense)/ ~ FAEMEE %) /]

income for the year
- Bichange diferences arisng -hEREREL
on trandlton of foreign ZERER
operations - - - - - - - (5771) - (5771) - (206) (5.977)
Tota comprehensive expense ER2ERRAR
ey . ; ; ; ; ; ST e B . o6 (9013

Recogniton of equity componentof ~ BFARRESHER

comertble bong D) - - - - 9735 - - - - 9735 e e 9735
Iste of perpetual subordinated FIRAR G AR

convertible securiies - - - - - - - - - - 10,000 - 10,000
Isue of shares TR 655 49N - - - - - - - 25,566 - - 25,566
Shares purchased for e restricied IR R{A KR53

share award scheme EANRR - - (2199) - - - - - - (2198) - - (2,198)
Recognition ofequity-setted BN EREEZ R

share-based payment IR - - - 131 - - - - - 131 5 o 131
Shares vested for he resticted share. SR R (D 2R 1E]

award scheme EEERI - - m (573) - - - - (150)

Revduation resenve redlisedupon~~ EfSRETHRETZ
depreciaton on revaluation of MEEREMEE

leaseold[and and buldings - - - - - - (549) - 678 129 - - 129
Disttbution toholder of perpetual ~~ FIAARA RS

subordinated convertble securtes A ABIZR - - - - - - - - (50) (50) > . (50)
Divdend paid to the non-contoling ~ Efi—HHEBAR

shareholder of a subsidiary FERRRRE - - - - - - - - - - - (3.276) (3.276)

Balanceat 31 December 2022 RZBZZE+2R
Z+-AZER 10,751 132,388 (5,104) 1,641 9,735 3,086 13912 (1,617) 136,372 301,164 10,000 31,386 342,550

Note: Other reserve mainly represents the difference between the historical costof izt : EHaE I EIEERIZERBEREN —

the shares of a subsidiary paid by the then controlling shareholder and the BT 8 A Bl e 3 IR D A A B E A R
consideration paid by the Group in exchange. NAEEENNEZENERE
The notes on pages 67 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial 67;.;171%12[%]‘&%5}21& e RE
statements. — &R e
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEIREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE T+ _A=t+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LB TTET)
2022 2021
Note $'000 $'000
Fd5F FT T
Operating activities REEE
(Loss)/profit before tax BriAT (B538) m Al (33,867) 23,107
Adjustments for: R
Increase in fair value of investment KREYENTFEL
property (200) -
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BERKE
plant and equipment 518 20 =
Fair value loss in financial instrument 2 A BT ABTH
at fair value through profit or loss EMTAENRFE
18 484 -
Fair value loss in derivative asset TEBENLTEER 3,178 =
Interest income FMEUA (184) (341)
Depreciation — property, plant and TE-YE BERRE
equipment 5,227 4,282
Depreciation - right of use assets TE—FREEE 1,826 1,305
Amortisation — intangible asset i mILEE 4,826 4,607
Write-down of inventories =5 OB 6,990 4967
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ B 5 EUR (RE R 1B
impairment loss on trade receivables  #[0)) /IREKE (7,594) 40,393
Impairment loss on loans, interest and ~ FEWE =~ 7] B & H fth
other receivables e IE R B 5 18 3,865 2,345
Finance costs L E AR AN 19,968 9,584
Recognition of equity-settled BARUAERGEE 2
share-based payment MU Z I8 1,311 903
Operating cash flows before working & B & S B ERTAS S
capital changes RERE 5,850 91,152
Decrease/(increase) in inventories E5EELD 7 (8h0) 68,090 (27,567)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 EWER NI /N (12,673) (25,531)
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables, EL{hFEWERIE « FEUS &2 ~
loans receivable, deposits and BERBEANRERLD
prepayments (g nm) 13,558 (12,923)
Decrease in trade payables B Z R (24,679) (28,045)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables,  ELfthfE{+TIE - FE=t & FF
accruals and deposit received RBEWEE (AL
0 (20,882) 10,663
Cash generated from operating activities & & EBNFT1FIR & 29,264 7,749
Interest income received B WF] B WA 615 341
Tax paid [SANEITAE (2,794) 4,516)
Tax refund BRIR 744 i
Net cash generated from operating 4% & ;EENFRISIRE B EE
activities 27,829 3,574
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RalREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE_E__HF+_A=1+—HIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (BT
2022 2021
—g—C eI —fF
Note $'000 $'000
B 5F T T
Investing activities REEE
Payments for purchase of property, BEYE BERRE
plant and equipment, net B EE (2,002) (1,843)
Purchase of financial instrument at fair B8 B2 A FEst ABZH
value through profit or loss EMTH (13,158) =
Net cash used in investing activities X & ;EENFRAIR & FEE (15,160) (1,843)
Financing activities RLEES
Net proceeds from placing shares BoE R 2 PSR IB F 58 25,566 -
Shares purchased for the restricted ARG D IR B EH 2
share award scheme BANKS (2,198) =
Advancement of bank instalment loans T3 $R1THHEE ™ 37 12,981 =
Repayment of bank instalment loans Tﬁi\%fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ 37 (2,829) (2,582)
Net decrease in factoring loans RIBERUR /D FEE 37 (70,198) (2,030)
Net increase in other bank borrowings ~ E fth$E1TE & 1% 1 H %8 37 6,360 64,378
Interests on bank borrowings paid BEIRITEEFNR 37 (18,910) (9,543)
Interest on convertible bond paid B AR ESHE 37 (100) =
Capital element of lease rentals paid ~ BfHEEHEEERID 37 (1,577) (1,398)
Interest element of lease rentals paid DAY EHRESF] B3 H 37 (175) (41)
Placement of restricted balance FEXZRH4EER (10,046) -
Distribution to holder of perpetual B AR PTG EE 5515
subordinated convertible securities BEANDIK (50) =
Dividend paid BEfKRE (3,276) (2,621)
Net cash (used in)/generated from ¥ ;&E8h (FRA) Fhi5
financing activities H&58 (64,452) 46,163
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash IR & KM IREZEBY) CR/L)
equivalents @ -hip=xs (51,783) 47,894
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E#IR & RIBEHEY
of year 143,743 95,039
Effect of foreign exchange rate change EZEEE)F (2,444) 810
Cash and cash equivalents at FRFAERREEEBY
end of the year 89,516 143,743
Cash and cash equivalents at FRBERREZEEY
end of the year 21 89,516 143,743
The notes on pages 67 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial 556721718 Z sk Bt FiR S BIREK

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMIE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BrIEB B ERER> LUBITHR)

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 July
2012, as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company is Best Sheen Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The
address of the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the ‘Corporate Information’ section of the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company, the principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 31.

The Company has its primary listing on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 16 March, 2018.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in
HKS, which is the same as the functional currency of the Company,
and all values are rounded to nearest thousand, unless otherwise
stated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(@) New and revised HKFRSs adopted as at 1 January
2022

For the current year, the Group has adopted for the first
time the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA, which are effective for the Group's accounting period
beginning on 1 January 2022.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common

(Revised) Control Combinations
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020

The application of amendments to HKFRSs had no material
impact on the financial position and the financial results of the
Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

(b)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet effective

The Group has not applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective for the current year.

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 (2022)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts and the related
amendments '

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture ?

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback ®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-Current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) '

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 3

Disclosure of Accounting Policies '

Definition of Accounting Estimates '

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from Single
Transaction '

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

The Group is assessing the full impact of the new standard, and

amendments to standards.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

ire TR aR MY EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes
all individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards, and
interpretations issued by HKICPA, and accounting policies generally
accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis, except for financial instrument at fair value
through profit or loss, derivative asset, certain property, plant and
equipment and investment property which are measured at fair
value as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in
use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

Fair value measurements are categorised into the three-level fair
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair value measurement. The
level into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined
with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

Level 1 — unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical asset or liabilities

Level2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability

Level 3 — unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the year in which they occur.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise the judgement
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 4 below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the
Company:

has the power over the investee,

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use the power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statements of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in

line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of

the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing

subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are
adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity

and attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or
loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i)
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the
fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting
under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments’, when applicable, or the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a

jointly controlled entity.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Revenue recognition
Sale of electronic components:

Revenue from the sales and distribution of products is
recognised when control of the products has transferred,
being at the point the products are delivered to the customer’s
premise and the customer has accepted the products,
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location,
the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer, and either the customer has accepted the
products in accordance with the sales contract, the acceptance
provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective evidence
that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts and returns.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

Rental income from operating leases:

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss in equal instalments over the periods covered
by the lease term.

Commission income:

Commission income is recognised when entitlement to the
commission has been established.

Interest income:

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and buildings held for own use are stated
at revaluation amount, being fair value at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. Valuations
are performed frequently enough to ensure that the fair value
of revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying

amount.

Changes in the values of leasehold land and buildings are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the asset revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the
excess of the deficit is charged to profit or loss. Any subsequent
revaluation surplus is credited to profit or loss to the extent of
the deficit previously charged. On disposal of a revalued asset,
the relevant portion of the asset revaluation reserve realised in
respect of previous valuations is transferred to retained profits

as a movement in reserves.

Other categories of property, plant and equipment are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property,
plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted
in an increase in the future economic benefits expected to
be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an additional cost

of that asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated at rates
sufficient to write off their costs or revaluation amount less
their estimated residual value, if any, over their estimated useful

lives on a straight-line basis at the following annual rates:

Leasehold land and buildings
term of lease

Leasehold improvement 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer and office equipment 20%
Motor vehicle 20%

Useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting date,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss on disposal or
retirement of an asset is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is

recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at
cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is provided on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives of five years. The
amortisation expenses are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

and included in administrative expenses.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment
when there is an indication that an asset may be impaired.
If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised as an expense immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(e) Investment property

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation. Investment property is measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at fair value. Gain
and loss arising from change in the fair value of investment
property is included in profit or loss in the period which they

arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method and includes all costs of purchase, cost of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Net realisable value is
determined on the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less
estimated selling expenses. At the end of each reporting
period, inventories are assessed for impairment and the
carrying amount is reduced to its net realisable value with the

impairment loss recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(g) Leases
The Group as a lessee

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which
it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value
assets (such as small items of office equipment and furniture).
For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the lease

term.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of
the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
by using the rate implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be
readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing
rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the

effective interest method.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, initial direct costs incurred
and lease payments made at or before the commencement
days. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets
also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the
site on which it is located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use assets are
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are generally
depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use assets is

depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

For the leasehold land and buildings of the Group that are held
for rental or capital appreciation purpose would continue to be
accounted for under HKAS 40 Investment Property (‘HKAS 40")
and carried at fair value. For leasehold land and buildings which
are held for own use would continue to be accounted for
under HKAS 16 and carried at revalued amounts at the date of
revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent impairment losses, if any. The adoption of HKFRS
16 therefore does not have any significant impact on these

right-of-use assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(h) Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contact asset is assessed for impairment in accordance with
HKFRS 9 and are reclassified to receivables when the right to

the consideration has become unconditional.

Customers' deposits are recognised as a contract liability
when the customer pays consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability would
also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would also

be recognised.

(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established

by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as

appropriate, on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Interest income/expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EBEXGHEE G
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () =WMITHEG
Financial assets EREE

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
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reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired EERESHTENESEMTET
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is =) @‘i\nﬂﬁJXTﬁHﬂETD =51
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised B RNEEEEAEHEESH
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying E% > BRESHARWLER B8 A

amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMIE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EAZHER @
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) =FMTHG
Financial assets (Continued) SREE @

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part
of a designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest
earned on the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the
manner described in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
itin the near term;

on initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial
guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
loss on financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, loans and
interest receivables, and bank balances, restricted balance
and cash). The amount of expected credit loss is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition. Lifetime expected credit loss represents the
expected credit loss that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month expected credit loss represents the portion
of lifetime expected credit loss that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.
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iR E IR MYEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3 EXEsEK @

(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () =FRTHG
Financial assets (Continued) EREE (@
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THIEEBE (B)

80

The Group recognises lifetime expected credit loss for trade
receivables that result from revenue. The expected credit loss
on these assets are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings based on its historical
observed default rates which is adjusted for forward-looking
estimates. For other financial assets, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month expected credit loss, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime expected
credit loss. The assessment of whether lifetime expected credit
loss should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERRMIE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EXEEHEEE @
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) :FMTHG
Financial assets (Continued) =MEE @
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEEBE (B)

(i)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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82

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iif)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR e PR AR MY EE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3 EXEEEK @

(i) Financial instruments (Continued) (i) :FMTHG
Financial assets (Continued) =MEE @
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEEBE (B)
(iv)  Write-off policy (v HHEHECR
The Group writes off a financial asset when there is BRETREFIERESE

information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of
the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude
of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information as described above. As for the exposure
at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets'
gross carrying amount at the reporting date; for financial
guarantee contracts, the exposure includes the amount drawn
down as at the reporting date, together with any additional
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future by default
date determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing needs of the
debtors, and other relevant forward-looking information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed, the expected loss allowance is the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs
less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the
holder, the debtor or any other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BRIEB BERER> LUBITHR)

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 3 EXTHEE®
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) () =FRTHG

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

Where lifetime expected credit loss is measured on a collective
basis to cater for cases where evidence of significant increases
in credit risk at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped on the
following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade
receivables are each assessed as a separate group);

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each separate group continues to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit loss
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current
reporting date that the conditions for lifetime expected credit
loss are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance
at an amount equal to 12-months expected credit loss at the
current reporting date.

For expected credit loss on financial guarantee contracts for
which the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the
Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that,
the risk are taken into account by adjusting the cash shortfalls
being discounted.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are
recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance
determined in accordance with HKFRS 9 and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amount
of income recognised over the guarantee period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AR e PR AR MY EE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
(Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount with the exception of trade and loans receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the relevant group
entities are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
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issue costs. BRI EY R
Financial liabilities THEE

All the Group's financial liabilities (including trade payables,
other payables and accruals, and borrowings) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. Financial guarantee contracts are recognised
initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of the amount
determined in accordance with expected credit loss model
under HKFRS 9 and the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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86

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bond (‘CB’)

CB issued by the Group that contain the liability, equity and
derivative components (which are not closely related to
the host liability component) are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is classified as an equity instrument. At
the date of issue, both the liability and derivative components
are measured at fair value. The difference between the gross
proceed of the issue of the CB and the fair values assigned
to the liability and derivative components respectively,
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert
the CB into equity, is included in equity (i.e. convertible bond

reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the CB is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The derivative component is measured at fair value with

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

The equity component, representing the option to convert the
liability component into ordinary shares of the Company, will
remain in convertible bond reserve until the embedded option
is exercised (in which case the balance stated in convertible

bond reserve will be transferred to share premium).

Where the option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible bond reserve will be released to
retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss

upon conversion or expiration of the option.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3

ire TR aR MY EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Convertible bond (‘CB”) (Continued)

Upon redemption of the CB, the redemption consideration will
be allocated to the liability component and equity component
using the same allocation basis as when the CB was originally
issued. Differences between the fair value and the carrying
amount of the liability component will be recognised in profit
or loss. The difference between the redemption consideration
and the equity component will be included in equity
(convertible bond reserve) and released to retained earnings.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the CB are allocated
to the liability and equity components in proportion to the
allocation of the gross proceed. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly in equity.
Transaction costs relating to the liability component are
included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the CB using the effective interest
method.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in the fair value of these derivative financial
instruments are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Perpetual subordinated convertible securities (‘PSCS’)

PSCS with no contractual obligation to repay their principal or
to pay any distribution are classified as part of equity.
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3  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i)

88

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the Group transfers the
financial assets and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets to another entity. If the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group continues to recognise the asset to the extent
of its continuing involvement and recognises an associated
liability. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety,
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the
financial asset between the part it continues to recognise, and
the part it no longer recognises on the basis of the relative fair
values of those parts on the date of the transfer. The difference
between the carrying amount allocated to the part that is no
longer recognised and the sum of the consideration received
for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain
or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. A
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income is allocated between the part that
continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer
recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(j) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks and short-term bank deposits with
an original maturity period of three months or less. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also

included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

(k) Impairment of non-financial assets, other than
inventories

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised
to reduce the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable
amount. Such impairment losses are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is

treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another standard, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a

revaluation increase under that standards.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income and expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years, and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

U]

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax assets
and liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its
assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax assets and liabilities
for investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in
the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HKS) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

(n) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

(o) Retirement benefits costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, which are defined
contribution schemes, are charged as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(p)

(a)

Share-based payments

The Group operates a restricted share award scheme, under
which the Group receives services from employees as
consideration for equity instruments of the Company.

The fair value of the restricted share awards granted to
employees or directors is recognised as an expense with a
corresponding increase in credit to share-based payment
reserve. The fair value is measured with reference to the
Company's share price at grant date taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the restricted share awards
are granted. Where the vesting conditions are met before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the restricted share
awards, the total estimated fair value of the restricted share
awards is spread over the vesting period, taking into account
the probability that the restricted share awards will be vested.

During the vesting period, the number of restricted share
awards which are expected to be vested is reviewed. Any
resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year.

Upon vesting, the amount recognised as an expense is credited
to shares held for the restricted share award scheme and
debited to share-based payment reserve.

When the restricted share award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
were vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to the grants and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(r) Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity
that is preparing its financial statements (‘reporting entity”).

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to a reporting entity if that person:

(ii)

(iif)

has control or joint control over the reporting
entity;

has significant influence over the reporting entity;
or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the reporting entity or of a parent of the reporting
entity.

(b)  An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the
following conditions applies:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

the entity and the reporting entity are members
of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the reporting
entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
reporting entity;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); or

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).
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4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on past experience,
expectations of the future and other information that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for non-financial assets at the end of each reporting period. Such
assets are tested for impairment annually, when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amounts, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs to sell is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market price less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade receivables based on
assessments of the expected credit loss which uses a lifetime
expected credit loss allowance for all trade receivables. The loss
allowances for trade receivable are based on assumptions about risk
of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement and
estimates in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past collection
history, ageing analysis of the receivables, current creditworthiness
of customers, existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectations are different from the original estimates, such difference
will have impact on the carrying amount of trade receivables and
the impairment loss on trade receivables in the reporting period in
which such estimates have been changed. Management reassess the
provision at each reporting date.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of trade receivables are
approximately HK$499,292,000 (2021: HK$484,626,000). Allowance
for impairment amounted of HK$63,449,000 is made on trade
receivables at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$71,247,000).

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories

Allowance for slow-moving and obsolete inventories is made based
on the ageing, estimated net realisable value and subsequent sales
of inventories. The assessment of the allowance amount involves
judgement and estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact
the carrying value of inventories and the allowance charge/write-
back in the period in which such estimate has been changed.
At 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of inventories are
approximately HK$174,970,000 (2021: HK$251,865,000). For the year
ended 31 December 2022, allowance for written down of inventories
amounted HK$6,990,000 was made (2021: HKS$4,967,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Fair value of leasehold land and buildings and investment
property

Fair value of leasehold land and buildings and investment property
are based on valuation performed by independent professional
valuers. The determination of the fair value involves assumption of
market conditions. The Directors have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings, and investment property and
corresponding adjustments to the change in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income, and profit or loss respectively. The
movements of fair value of the leasehold land and buildings and
investment property are set out in notes 13 and 14 respectively.

Valuation of CB and derivative asset

Fair values of liability and derivative components of the CB at initial
recognition and fair value of derivative component at the end of the
reporting period are based on valuation performed by independent
professional valuer. Hull model is used to determine the fair value of
CB, which involves several key assumptions and estimates including
volatility levels, credit spreads, spot price and risk-free rate. Details of
the assumptions used are disclosed in notes 25 and 35. The Directors
have exercised their judgement in selecting an appropriate valuation
technique to determine the fair values at initial recognition and
at the end of the reporting period. The Directors believe that the
chosen valuation techniques and assumptions are appropriate in
determining the fair value of CB and derivative asset.

Current tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2022, deferred tax assets of approximately
HKS$11,593,000 (2021: HK$9,678,000) in relation to provision for
impairment and tax losses are set out in note 26. The realisability
of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether sufficient
future profits or taxable temporary differences will be available in the
future. In cases where the actual future taxable profits generated are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a
reversal or further recognition takes place.
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ZERRNB R AT SN EER A
SEEEITHMRIEFREEYENT
BEgs, AN NENEMEE KR
KB RN A EEB (L AEESR
B T M MIETF MR EYENTE
HE) R E R HTEE1382140

fRAEFRITEEENGE
MR ESFNaRKRITETRHEME
DI BRI R FELURITET
BAER B DI IR SRR AFELE
PRI XL EMETHGE IR
AWRANEERMRESFINATE
HSRETRRRR KRG 8K
BT EERE HEBRKERR
FIZR o By AR SR BIEFIB IS MY 525 52354
B -EEEEEEENGERMNUEE
IEFESD R R S HIR R AT ER B
TR FIE - EEAR(E > PREERIEER
MR RRMEE MR EFRITEE
ENATEMEBEE-

BPHAHIE

REBANZEEEEEBMPAE
1o EEEFSMBHERRIFHERH
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FETE © fin 5% 5 FIRRVRAR IR B AE R 42 4])
RSB RN ZFERRR B
i IE 5 7 E B ] B HA R R FE P IS M B
ER&Ee

IRERIBEE

A BT F+_HA=+—H HEHEE
BB RMIEEEERNEERIEEE
#911,593,00078 70 (Z & Z—4F : 9678000
B7T) B M sE26 o IRIEFR 1S E EM
BIPFTBERURNRREEE BHNE
RS FI S ENIR T B M = R o (B
EERRRERR BN SR E
B BB RIE RS LB EER R
FER R B A E st BET - BRI e &
FIERIAE ERNE AR Lo E— P R
20 Wt A Az Lo E— T R
Bz B o

ANNUAL REPORT 2022&E3% 97



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR MR

N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

98

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the amount received and receivable for goods
sold by the Group at invoiced value, net of returns and discounts.
The timing of revenue recognition of all revenue is at a point in time
in the Year 2022 and Year 2021. An analysis of the Group’s revenue
recognised during the year is as follows:

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

Yo Be SR E

Wi A E R E Y E Wk B
TRRVEREE WNFRRE RN
TR FERE_-FEMRAW
m AW FE SRR B B K — R R o
RSB EER@m O -

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
=z BT —F

$'000 $'000

FT F7

Sales of goods iH E8Y 2,689,094 2,640,100

Segment information

The executive Directors, who are the CODM, review the Group's
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate
resources. The CODM has determined the operating segments
based on these reports. Segment information reported internally
was analysed on the basis of the type of products sold and activities
carried out by the Group's operating division. The Group is currently
operating in two operating segments as follows:

(a) Digital Storage Products; and

(b)  General Components.

Management assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of gross profits. The accounting policies of
the operating segments are the same as those described in note 3
above.

As the segment assets and the liabilities are not regularly reported

to the Directors, the information of reportable segment assets and
liabilities is not presented.

APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED BRI IR A RAE

SERE R

HITEFRETBEERREEREE
BAEEH > LFHERRL D ECEIR ©
TEREBRRECREATREEE
E DB B 2R D B ERHIRE
FEBEENFIEEMKRIESE LR
Bt e ZEBFEEUTWELE D

=

@ BBEFERHER; K&
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EEEREANFEFLEE DML
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(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5
Segment information (Continued)

Y B S EPE R (4
SEPER (@
TREJIREFEEBZAEENE

The following tables represent segment information of the Group

provided to the management for the years:

EE HEER

Year ended 31 December

#E+_"_HA=1+—HILFE

2022 2021
—g-C —F—F
$'000 $'000
FT T
Segment revenue pag: 1 &7
Digital Storage Products IS FRESD 2,019,970 1,988,841
General Components BATH 669,124 651,259
Total reportable segment revenue A 2D UL R 4BEE 2,689,094 2,640,100
Segment results TEBEELR
Digital Storage Products BB FRAE®D 44,499 146,390
General Components BATH 70,377 79,684
Total reportable segment profit B 28D EE A AREE 114,876 226,074
Other income HA A 5,255 9,682
Increase in fair value of investment KREMENTEE N
property 200 -
Fair value loss in financial instrument BT EFAERN
at fair value through profit or loss ETHMTAENQFEEER (484) =
Fair value loss in derivative asset MEBENRFEEE (3,178) =
Finance costs B A (19,968) (9,584)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME-BERKEITE
equipment (5,227) (4,282)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESERE (1,826) (1,305)
Amortisation of intangible assets mE EEH (4,826) (4,607)
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment & 53 FE W BR R {E A5 18
loss) on trade receivables %o, CRl{ER18) 7,594 (40,393)
Impairment loss on loans, interestand ~ FEURE 71~ FI| B R E Mt FEUR
other receivables FIE R E R R (3,865) (2,345)
Unallocated corporate expenses FoBoibEME (122,418) (150,133)
(Loss)/profit before tax bRi9 AT (B518) A (33,867) 23,107
Income tax credit/(expense) FrSMiER B 831 (6/487)
(Loss)/profit for the year £ (EE1R) wA (33,036) 16,620

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales for the
years. Segment profit represents the gross profit earned by each

segment.

EXERZ DBV mIEIEERELE
ZWa o MEFE B EDEEHE o
DEREAIER D BT ER o
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment information (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group is domiciled in Hong Kong. The following table sets
out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers and (i) the Group's non-current
assets. The geographical location of customers is based on the
location of the customers. The geographical location of the non-
current assets other than deposits paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment, financial instrument at fair value through profit
or loss, and deferred tax assets is based on the physical location of
the assets in case of property, plant and equipment, investment
property and right-of-use assets, and the location of operations to
which they are allocated in case of intangible assets.

5

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

Y B S EPE L (40

SEER (B

M E

REBMUNRER - FREHANKEH

RENBE R W ; RiNAEBIFR

HEEMBAUBERRMNER - F R

BABEENZERIEM JERBEE
(B2 BB BB EE

BATESFABaNER T RRIEIE

MIBEEFRIN IR ERYE K

ERERFE KEMEREREEENE

BRI E MU BT B E PR 2 BCRVAS = PR

ENE -

Year ended 31 December

#E+_"_HA=1+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-C B —F
$'000 $'000
FiT Tt
Revenue from external customers RBEINEBE B U
Hong Kong 55 390,802 586,310
The PRC F 2,200,140 1,939,137
Others Hih 98,152 114,153
2,689,094 2,640,100
As at 31 December
®W+=—BR=+—H
2022 2021
- BT —F
$'000 $'000
Tt Tt
Non-current assets ERBEE
Hong Kong 58 132,970 105,413
The PRC H 30,609 28,698
Others Eh 75 L
163,654 134,111
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BR3IESBRB8 LUBTTHIR)

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 WK EEl (@)

Segment information (Continued) SEEE (B)
Information about major customers FTEEREH
The Group's revenue from customers which accounted for 10% or KEGREBBERT 0% U ENE S
more of the Group's total revenue are as follows: BT -
2022 2021
-2 %
Segment $'000 $'000
5 8B T T
Customer A Digital Storage Products 643,303 483,081
ZEA IS EHE®D
6 OTHERINCOME 6 HftgA

Year ended 31 December

#E+_A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
et Tl —m— 4
$'000 $'000
FT T
Interest income FRWA 184 341
Rental income HEELL N 1,352 1,440
Government grants (note) BT ARG (95 344 =
Commission income HEWA 574 4,824
Sundry income HIEURA 2,801 3,077
5,255 9,682
Note: The amount represents the Employment Support Scheme under M sT E\Z%ﬂﬁ%%%%ﬂ'ﬁfﬁ@ﬁﬁ%g
the Anti-epidemic Fund of the Government of the Hong Kong ﬁfﬁhg\ﬁ—ﬁ%?ﬂtﬁﬁféﬂ o AR I
Special Administrative Region. The Group did not have any unfulfilled BEA RN ERREMRMSET -

conditions relating to the grant.
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7 FINANCE COSTS

(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

R A

Year ended 31 December

#E+_A=1+—HLFE

2022 2021
—¥_C BT —F
§'000 §000
FT T
Discounting charges on factoring loans  {RIEE &2 BEIR H 4,571 2,907
Interest on CB BEIHARESA S 883 -
Interests on other bank borrowings HiR1TEEF S 14,339 6,636
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaEMNEXE 175 41
19,968 9,584

8  (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX PR¥iAT (§538) i F!

(Loss)/profit before tax has been arrived at after charging and
crediting:

PRARAT (B538) EA S bR R st AL
TR

Year ended 31 December

#E+_A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
- BT —F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Cost of inventories recognised as an R ARSI 2 FEMA
expenses 2,567,228 2,409,059
Write-down of inventories FEMR 6,990 4,967
Auditor’s remuneration 22 5 Gl B 1,552 1,448
Depreciation of property, plant and M~ R E KRBT E
equipment 5,227 4,282
Depreciation — right-of-use assets TE—EREEE 1,826 1,305
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 1) EF2 & E#EH (fi5E1) 4,826 4,607
Net foreign exchange loss FE B89 %R 5,822 366
Short term leases expenses in respect T MIEF ZEHAHEER X
of land and buildings 1,469 2,111
Commission expenses REER 24,722 42426
Research and development expenses Mt & (fYsk2)
(note 2) 3,105 2,804
Staff costs including directors’ BTHA (B1EEEME)
emoluments
— Basic salaries and allowance —E AR & RoRL 44,359 54,469
— Share-based payments — U2 IE 1,311 903
— Contributions to defined contribution ~ — 52 & (it FER R 5T Hk
retirement plans 4,655 4,424
— Messing and welfare —RBBAET 451 1,378
Loss on disposal of property, plantand &Y BB KR 12
equipment 20 =
Note 1:  Amortisation of intangible assets was included in administrative MisE1 @ WMLEEBHT ATEES

expenses.

Note 2:  Staff costs of HKS2,243,000 (2021: HK$2,077,000) was included in

research and development expenses for the Year 2022.
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9 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST 9 EBEHMRAMBRSIHEAL
PAID INDIVIDUALS

(a) Directors’' remuneration (@) EEFTEM
The emoluments paid or payable to the Directors for the year FR BNSENESNME
were as follows: T
Year ended 31 December 2022 gE-_ZEZ-_—_F+=-H=+—H
IEEFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
andbenefits  Discretionary scheme
Fees inkind bonus  contributions Total
Ay L

Name 4 fig  REWIE METED  BRGIER i

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

n n n r n
Erecutive drectors: HTEE.
M Lee Bing Kwong )i 910 720 - - 1,630
r. Lo Yuen Kin EnBit 46 480 - 36 932
Ms.LoYuen Lai EnELT 46 600 - - 1,016
Indlependent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE.
M. Cheung Siu Kui FaE 180 - - - 180
M Yirm Kwok Man BEY LA 180 - - - 180
Dr. Chow Terence PEHEL 180 = = = 180

228 1,800 - 36 4118
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9 REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

9 EFHMRAEMRSHMAL G

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (@) EEF &
Year ended 31 December 2021 HE—_E2-—F+=-HB=+—H
LEFE
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits Discretionary scheme
Fees inkind bonus contributions Total
Fe 2
Name 4 e  kEWHR ML RIGHEER i3t
5000 5000 §000 5000 5000
r r r r T
Brecutive drectors: HIEE.
Mr Lee Bing Kwong XY i 910 0 3,189 = 4819
Mr Lo Yuen Kin EnBiE 46 40 17 3 1024
Ms.LoYuen Lai EnELT 416 00 360 s 4642
Independent non-executive drectors: BUFHTEE .
Mr. Cheung Siu Kui FNRE 180 - s s 180
W Yirm Kwok Man BEDUEE 180 g = s 180
Dr. Chow Terence FEREL 180 = = = 180
2,82 1720 6,991 3 11,025

Fees paid to executive Directors were mainly for services
as Directors. Salaries, allowances, benefits in kind, and
discretionary bonus paid to executive Directors shown
above were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Group.

The independent non-executive Directors’emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as Directors.
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9

RAFS R MIEE

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST 9 FEEIHMKRAIRSEHMAL @
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ remuneration b)) EHERSHMAL
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included three BHE_E_"F+"B=+—H
(2021: two) directors of the Company for the year ended 31 IFEE  REBREESHMNMA
December 2022, details of whose emoluments are included TEERAT =4 (—v— F
in the disclosures in note 9(a) above. The emoluments of the M) BEF HEF BN LEX
remaining two (2021: three) highest paid individuals during the BfsE9(a T)ﬁﬁﬁ NEFRER TR
years are as follows: CEZ—F: =%) REFMA
TR ¢
Year ended 31 December
HE+-A=1+—HILEE
2022 2021
—E-C BT —F
$'000 $'000
FiT T
Salaries and other emoluments e REMBE 2,534 2,843
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL 3,455 7,755
Retirement scheme contributions 3B fREH 2 {HEh 52 72
Share-based payments MU An < 4 7k1E 590 -
6,631 10,670
The emolument of the remaining two (2021: three) is within BRTIM% (CEZ—F . =%)
the following bands: ENFUTHER :
2022 2021
—¥-_ =5
Number Number
AE AE
HKS$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7875 £ 2,000,00078 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 78 75 E 2,500,000 7T - 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 77T 2 4,500,00078 7T - 2
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,0017 71 2 5,000,00078 7T 1 -

No remuneration was paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company or the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office during the years. In
addition, the directors of the Company have not waived any
emoluments during the years.

REER AEB L ERAEAQT
ERESEH L RERSHMA L
HEBN > (E BB E A S H
AN 7= £2 [ 5 B9 B2 B 550 /R 7 Bl et
- LI REFERBELRAT
EEPEREAME-

ANNUAL REPORT 2022€E3%% 105



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e R AR MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/EXPENSE

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

10 FRiSiRiIESR FX

Year ended 31 December

#E+_"_HA=1+—HLFE

2022 2021
—E—C ==
$'000 $'000
FT T
Current tax: BPHEATRIE -
Hong Kong Profits Tax EAENER 879 7,990
PRC tax RElIRIA 94 256
(Over)/under-provision in prior BIEEE (BRERE
years — Hong Kong profits tax BEAE-SANER (157) 63
Under-provision in prior years — PRC tax ~ @{F FEHHE R E
—FRERIA 23 94
839 8,403
Deferred tax (Note 26) PIEFRIE (MI5E26) (1,670) (1916)
Total income tax (credit)/expense FRRIEmER 2 FTER
recognised in profit or loss for the year (&%) /B2 4828 (831) 6,487

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HKS2 million
of the estimated assessable profits of the qualifying group entity and
at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HKS2 million. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law")
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the

PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

For qualified small and thin-profit enterprises in the PRC, the annual
taxable income up to RMB1 million (inclusive) is subject to an

effective Enterprise Income Tax rate of 2.5% from 1

January 2021 to

31 December 2022; where the annual taxable income exceeds RMB1
million but does not exceed RMB3 million (inclusive), the amount in
excess of RMB1 million is subject to an effective Enterprise Income
Tax rate of 5% from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 (2021:
10%). Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company enjoy this preferential

income tax treatment for the years.
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(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

10 INCOME TAX CREDIT/EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 10

The income tax (credit)/expense for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before tax per the consolidated statements of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FRigiiiER FxX @

EWZFE SR (BR) X EREE
e ELAth 2 T W ot 2R PR FRAR AT (&5
B EFERINT

Year ended 31 December

#E+_"_A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E-C BT —F
$'000 $'000
T T
(Loss)/profit before tax B BEn (B518) %A (33,867) 23,107
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of ~ #216.5% 2 8 FE TSR X
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) STEMIRIE (CE %
16.5%) (5,588) 3813
Tax effect of expenses not deductible RO RB T E
for tax purpose 5,973 2,198
Tax effect of income not taxable for BEZRRMAZRBFZE
tax purpose (916) (301)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses )z §Eﬁu %Eﬁu IRIERIE 2
previously not recognised METE (192) (197)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ FRIEVINIBEIBZ M E 777 296
Tax effect of deductible temporary KRR T?D BEREERY
differences not recognised MEEE - (117)
Tax effect of different tax rates of REMBEZEEEE Y WJ:
subsidiaries operating in other NEMERB 2B EE
jurisdictions 776 803
Tax effect of concessionary tax rate {EEﬁT NI E (1,907) (165)
(Over)/under-provision in prior years, net B EE (BEEEE)
BETEPE (134) 157
Others Hith 380 —
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year ERFT1ER (E%R) B (831) 6,487
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11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 11
Basic (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable to
the owners of the Company for the year is based on the following

i (5180 &'BH

SkEx (58 B
FREALRBDEEABESRER (B
B /BRI HERUTEESE !

data:
2022 2021
—s_C ZF—F
$'000 $'000
FT T
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to A A T HEE AEIEER
owners of the Company (#518) /& (32,386) 6,735
Interest on PSCS KARAR ARG E HF R (50) =
(Loss)/earnings used in the calculation  sTEEREXR (B8) &F|
of basic (loss)/earnings per share FrA (8518 &) (32,436) 6,735
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
oo BT —fF
+-BA=+—H | +—B=+—H
Number of ordinary shares EiER%A
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ FistEEREXR (5518)
shares in issue for the purpose of BHNMEmMBETEER
basic (loss)/earnings per share NIHEFEEL 1,036,498,027 1,000,000,000

For Year 2022, the weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share has been
adjusted for the effect of shares held by the custodian of restricted
share award scheme (the “Custodian”) pursuant to the restricted
share award scheme.
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11 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

11 =ik @B 2B @)

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share S (518 &
The (loss)/earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per STEEREERAIE (BE) B
share are as follows: AT
2022 2021
—_— ——Er = :_Er_
$'000 $'000
T Tt
(Loss)/profit used in the calculation of ~ FTEEREAKIEE (§518)
basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per /S BAFTE (8518) &#|
share (32,436) 6,735

For Year 2022, as the Group incurred losses, the potential ordinary
shares under restricted share awards scheme, PSCS and CB are not
included in the calculation of diluted loss per share as their inclusion

would be anti-dilutive.

For Year 2021, weighted average number of ordinary shares for the

purpose of diluted earnings per share is as follows:

HRAEER S - _FEELER
B it EeRBEEER BARE
HR R B R G AR 52 B 5t 8 TRV
R~ KA RAR P AR 58 55 Fe 7]
MREFTAEER -

R-_E-_—FE stESREEET
FTABEERMNET ST

31 December 2021

Number of ordinary shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of basic earnings per share

Unvested shares under share award scheme

2T —F
+t=-B=+—H
EiEpRs e
M EERELABIMEN
BRI 8 1,000,000,000

RSB EI B T REFBERD 2,700,740

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

st ESREERTMS /Y

for the purpose of diluted earnings per share B TE @R METIIE 1,002,700,740
12 DIVIDENDS 12 RS2

The Board of Directors did not recommend any dividend for the Year

2022 (2021: nil).

During the Year 2022, a subsidiary of the Company made the

EEETEZN_ZS__FEIREE
TjHZ/u\ (—7 :_EE 5 ﬁ) °

A == /NS SN

following distributions: MRk -
2022 2021
$'000 $'000
FT 1.7
Dividends declared and paid to non- MData Star Inc JEIZ=RG RG ER
controlling shareholder by Data Star Inc. &k Bk {59 & 3,276 2,621
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES

(a)

13 Y% -BERSREURIEE

(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

Property, plant and equipment @ ¥ -BERSEE
Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold  Furniture and and office Motor
buildings  improvement fixtures equipment vehicle Total
gL Bk
RkigF HERE HREREE Ak RE st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i i i S S0 7
Cost or valuation AT GE
At 1 January 2021 R-ZB-—£-F—-8 58405 2,104 1012 4697 2678 68896
Additions NE - - 7 787 - 794
Surplus on revaluation BB 500 = = = = 500
Exchange realignment ERHE 2)) - - 9 3 254
At 31 December 2021 s
+-A=+—-H 59,127 2,104 1019 5493 2,701 70,444
Comprising; afE
Cost AN - 2,104 1019 5493 2701 1317
Valuation bl 59,127 - - - = 59,127
At 31 December 2021 s
+-A=+—H 59,127 2,104 1019 5493 2,701 70,444
At 31 Decernber 2021 and s
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—Hk
“2_"F-R-H 59,127 2,104 1,019 5,493 2,701 70,444
Additions RE 31,305 1,590 25 387 - 33,307
Disposal HE - - - (46) - (46)
Bxchange realignment ERHE (656) (48) - (35) (68) (807)
As at 31 December 2022 RIE-—&
+-B=+—H 89,776 3,646 1,044 5,799 2,633 102,898
Comprising: i
Cost AR - 3,646 1,044 5,799 2,633 13,122
Valuation (e 89,776 - - - - 89,776
89,776 3,646 1,044 5,799 2,633 102,898
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

13 ¥E- -BERREUREE (@

(CONTINUED)
(a) Property, plant and equipment (Continued) (@ % -BERSEE G
Leasehold Computer
land and Leasehold  Furniture and and office Motor
buildings  improvement fixtures equipment vehicle Total
gt Bk
RiEF HERE HFERERE N pat: it
§'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 §'000 $'000
T T T T T T
Accumulated depreciation REINE
At 1 January 2021 RZZ-—%—F—H - 1282 825 1906 1,040 5053
Charge for the year FRZH 2389 379 167 899 448 4282
Surplus on revaluation BERER (2,389) = = = = (2,389)
Exchange realignment ERHE = = = 3 9 12
As at 31 December 2021 s
+-A=+-H - 1,661 992 2808 1497 6,958
At 31 December 2021 and s
1 January 2022 +ZA=+-H%
“2-"F-F-H - 1,661 992 2,808 1,497 6,958
Charge for the year FAZH 3,424 459 18 881 445 5,227
Disposal HE - - - (26) - (26)
Exchange realignment ERRAE (14) (9) - (15) (30) (68)
As at 31 December 2022 RIB_ZF
+ZA=+-H 3,410 2,111 1,010 3,648 1,912 12,091
Carrying amount FREE
As at 31 December 2022 WZBZ_&
+ZA=+—H 86,366 1,535 34 2,151 721 90,807
As at 31 December 2021 RZB_—&+_A
=+—H 59,127 443 27 2,685 1,204 63486

During the Year 2022, additions of property, plant and
equipment of the Group mainly comprise the addition of
a property amounting to approximately HK$31,305,000, of
which HK$30,000,000 represented the consideration paid
(“Consideration”) to Nicegoal Limited, a company controlled
by Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (a controlling shareholder, an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company), and HK$1,305,000 represented the
direct costs arising from the acquisition, and additions of
leasehold improvements of approximately HKS1,590,000.

N_EB__FE, AEFEYE-
BB R R EIENEE I I
A0%931,305,0007%8 75 (& H730,000,000
BT ABEERA T ZERRARE N #
TEE EETXFERITHRESR
ERAREFMER A ABERBE
RABZ AR E (MLEL)) &
1,305,000 cAWEEEEEDN
BENA)  URFBEEEIE ML
1,590,00078 7T ©
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(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES 13 Y% -BERSBRGEURIEE @)

(CONTINUED)

(a)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The leasehold land and buildings of HK$79,156,000 have been
mortgaged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group at 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$50,800,000).

The carrying amount of leasehold land and buildings at the
end of the year are analysed by the term of the leases are as
follows:

(a)

ME - -BERRH @)

A B _F+"H=+—H"
£ E84579,156,00078 c 2 FHE -
KMIEFERIER DUEBIR FARE
B —RIRITRE CE—F:
50,800,0003&7T) ©

FRZEELMRIEF ZREE
BARAB AT

2022 2021
et Tl —m— 4
$’000 $'000
Fi Tt
In Hong Kong HEE
— Medium term leases —HRHAEE 79,156 50,800
In the PRC HeE
- Medium term leases —HhHEAfE 4,878 5,633
— Long term leases —RHMEE 2,332 2,694
86,366 59,127

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors conducted a review
of the Group'’s leasehold land and buildings carried at
revaluated amounts and estimated that the carrying amounts
of these assets did not differ significantly from which would
be determined using revaluation. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group's leasehold land and buildings were revalued with
reference to the appraisal undertaken by an independent
professional valuer.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

In determining the fair value of properties, it is the Group's
policy to engage an independent professional qualified
valuer to perform the valuations. The management works
closely with the valuer to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The leasehold land and
buildings were revaluated at 31 December 2021 on an open
market value basis by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited,
an independent professional valuer, who have among their
holding recognised and relevant professional qualification with
recent experience in the location and category of properties
being valued.

The fair value of the leasehold land and buildings was
determined based on the direct comparison method by
reference to sales price of comparable properties which is
publicly available. Relevant comparable properties were
analysed and considered with adjustments including location,
time, size, building age and others as appropriate. This is a
recurring fair value measurement that categorised as Level 2
of the fair value hierarchy. The most significant input into this
valuation approach was price per square foot/meter.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no transfer
between the levels of fair value hierarchy.

The revaluation for the year ended 31 December 2021 gave
rise to a revaluation surplus net of applicable deferred income
tax of approximately HK$2,345,000 which had been credited to
the asset revaluation reserve at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, if the leasehold land and
buildings had not been revalued, they would be included in
the consolidated financial statements at historical cost, less
accumulated depreciation, of approximately HK$69,189,000
and HK$40,995,000.

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

13 ¥E- -BERREUREE (@

(a)

WE - BER=RE (B

TEEYENRATER ~EH
NHREEBEBUEEXGTER
LEMETHE - EEERMGE
FRESF UL EENGE
Rt REANBARE -HEL
MEIEFIHN_E_—F+28
=+ —HBEBUFEXGEMRE
RIKGGHEER AR AR AT
BEEEETEL ZABDFAR
B] AR R BRI PR (&G EY)
FME AR S EAEBTHRE

A
o O
MRR

HMETHREFHATELIZE
BLEEUA2E R ARREHAE
EERY R EEMET - WA
BB st R ~ BFRE ~ K/
BERHM (WNER) SRETF
PUnthikEE -Er— KRR
NHEFE ROBBATERE
MHNBE_R-ZEEREREE
MBEABERESTHR ORNE
%o

BE_Z_—Ft+-H=+—H
WHFE > A THERERE S EEE-

BE_T_—H+_A=+—H
LEFF RV B 1 2 A PR AR RO AR SE
FT 15 71 18 B9 55 i AR BRA92,345,000
BB AZR_—&F+_8
=t+—HZzEESMGEE_

N TECTFERZEI—HF+T
B=+—H fxEHEELH K
BFETEM AIREL AR
FEHTE 9 BI£969,189,000748 7T K2
40,995,000 7T 5t AR & B 75 2R
%%o
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES 13 Y% -BERSBRGEURIEE @)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Leases b) THE

The Group has lease arrangements for properties leased for
office, car parking space and warehouse use. The lease terms
are generally ranged from 1 to 5 years. The followings are right-
of use assets recognised according to HKFRS 16:

Right-of use assets

FEBEFHEMEFRAE
FHEAKREERRNEEZH-
HHRA—RNF—ERLF-RESE
BT REER] 1655 2 (E
REEENT

EREEE

Properties Leased for Own use

FIEERNEEME

2022 2021

—g-C T

$'000 $'000

FT T

At 1 January nw—A—H 1,216 816
Additions wnE 10,327 1,468
Depreciation e (1,826) (1,305)
Exchange realignment FE R aAEE (350) 237
9,367 1,216

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

KRS AMEENERE
BT :

2022 2021
ot Jomfen BT
$'000 $'000
FT T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use  Z1BRAE E D FENF B EE
assets by class of underlying asset: EZIFTEEM :
Ownership interests in leasehold ~ FAIFEE AN E LMK
land and building for own use BFNEREEER 3,424 2,389
Properties leased for own use FEBRANEEYZ: 1,826 1,305
Interest on lease liabilities HESGHE 175 41
Expenses relating to short term BRI EER
leases 1,469 2,111

For the Year 2022, there were additions to right-of-use assets of
HK$10,327,000 (2021: HKS$1,468,000) related to the capitalised
lease payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

The total cash outflow for leases for the Year 2022 amounted to
HKS1,752,000 (2021: HKS1,439,000).
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND LEASES

(CONTINUED)
(b) Leases (Continued)
Lease liabilities

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities

of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the year

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

13 YE -BERSREURIEE @&

b) E @
HERR
TREGAEFERERNEES
BERERSHIRRMR

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
“E--&#+=-B=+—-H “E_—F+°"A=1+—H
Present Present

value of the Total value of the Total

minimum minimum minimum minimum

lease payables lease payment lease payables  lease payments

RIEHEE RIEHEE REHAE RERE

IRREIRE fITR4aEE ARBIRE R ABEE

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Fr T Tt T

Within 1 year —ER 2,885 3,276 668 700

After 1 year but within 2 years —FRERWER 2,661 2,938 556 565

After 2 years but within 5 years MEBERAEFER 4,070 4,256 = =

9,616 10,470 1,224 1,265

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTY 14 IREME
2022 2021
g —ET 5
$'000 $'000
T T
At fair value BAFE

At 1 January nw—A—H 51,000 51,000
Increase in fair value NEEE 200 =
At 31 December n+—BA=+—H 51,200 51,000

The Group's investment property is a commercial property situated
in Hong Kong, held on medium term leases and leased out to
third party. The investment property was revalued by Ravia Global
Appraisal Advisory Limited and RHL Appraisal Limited as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 respectively on an open market value
basis. They are independent professional valuers, who have among
their staff holding recognised and relevant professional qualification
with recent experience in the location and category of property

being valued.

FEENREMERUNEBIEE
ME  RPAEAER AT HBETE=
7o WEMETRiIn BIRKEHEEHE
[RAB KK FITHEREARAA S
ll) . —- Y- =y
=+ HRARATEREEETEM &
FREAHBUEXEMLEN BAEZRE
THARM RAMEEERIL AT
BEYEME R S E R A TS
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14

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED)

The valuation at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was arrived by
adopting the direct comparison method where comparison based
on price information of comparable properties is made. Comparable
properties of similar size, character and location are analysed
and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages and
disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison
of capital values.

The investment property has been mortgaged to secure general
banking facilities granted to the Group at 31 December 2022 and
2021.

Details of the Group’s investment property and information about the

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

14 IBEYE G

ATB T ER-BT—F+F
=+ — B (B R E IR L8O > B
RIS LB BB TR (T E
B0 A/ R BT AT 2 E R
VI BT > AT AR S SR
BRI AT HLRESE

KREYZESEE LERNR _E - "F
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—HEFK
EEN—RRIRITRIE o

FAXRERREMENFBREBA

fair value measurements for the year are as follows: TEFTENERSHIINT !
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B8 - pt B4R st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FiT T Fr Fr
Recurring fair value measurements BEEATEHAE
Commercial property located in Hong Kong A &EEHI B EY %
31 December 2022 B _F+”°A=+—H - 51,200 51,200
31 December 2021 —_B_—F+_A=+—H - 51,000 51,000

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 or transfers into
or out of Level 3 during the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

The fair value of investment property is determined using direct
comparison method by reference to sales price of comparable
properties which is publicly available. Relevant comparable
properties are analysed and considered with adjustments including
location, time, size, building age and others as appropriate. The most
significant input into this valuation approach is price per square foot.
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14

INVESTMENT PROPER

TY (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

The fair value measurement for investment property as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 was categorised as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. Key unobservable inputs used in valuing the investment
property as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

Valuation technique

Key unobservable inputs

As at 31 December

REYE (B

B _ER-FB_—F1T°H
=t+—B REVMENATFESEDER
RATEBRE=R-N_BE__FK
B —F+"A=+—H HKEY
FETHEERANIETTRREA
R

Inter-relationship between key
unobservable inputs and
fair value measurement

] e TERTRERALER
EER# FEFTHRGAYE T ATEHEZRNHEERRE
2022 2021
—EZC B —F
Direct comparison Adjusted market unit rate per HK$16,420 to HK$20,400 to Increase in market unit rate,
square feet in gross floor area HK$17,605 HK$27,296 increase in fair value of the
(2021: saleable floor area) investment property
BRI KRB THREEER 16,4208 E 040ETE THHRBEUEEEN REWE
(CEZ-F ERER 17,6058 7T 27,29687¢ RATEEM
miREMEE
The movements during the years ended 31 December 2022 and REEZZT"Z —E 5+

2021 in the balance of the Level 3 fair value measurements are as

follows:

B=+—AlEE §-RATEHE
R BT :

$'000
Tt
At 1 January 2021 S ZE_—F—HF—H 51,000
Change from fair value adjustment included in profitor st AB&H 2 AT EAE 2 88—
loss — Change in fair value of investment property CEYE N T EES -
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZE2_—F+"-A=+—HkKZ
=__#—H—H 51,000
Change from fair value adjustment included in profitor st ABERZ AFERE 2 #E)—%
loss — Change in fair value of investment property BYERTEEEE) 200
At 31 December 2022 A —E__F+_A=+—H 51,200
The gains recognised in profit or loss for the years arise from the FARBEER 2 WEEEBFRE

investment property held at the end of the year.

ERREYE-
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15 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

15 BRAFESFARENERMIA

PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
k- ool T4
$'000 $'000
F T
Deposit placed for life insurance policy, ~AFRE#&E
included in non-current assets Gt AFERENE E) 12,674 =

During the Year 2022, the Group subscribed for a life insurance policy
with an insurance company for a member of the senior management
of the Company who is a son of Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (the chairman
of the Board, executive Director and the Chief Executive Officer) and
Ms. Lo Yuen Lai (executive Director). Under the policy, the beneficiary
and policy holder is the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary and the
total insured sum is US$8,000,000 (approximately HK$62,400,000).
The Group was required to pay an upfront deposit of approximately
USS$1,694,000 (approximately HKS$13,211,000), including a premium
charge at inception of the policy amounting to approximately
USS$7,000 (approximately HK$53,000). The Group can terminate the
policy at any time and receive cash value of the policy at the date
of withdrawal, which is determined by the upfront payment plus
accumulated interest earned and minus the accumulated insurance
charge and policy expense charge (“Cash Value”). In addition, if
withdrawal is made between the 1st to 18th policy year, there is a
specified amount of surrender charge. The insurance company will
pay the Group an interest of 5.25% per annum on the outstanding
Cash Value of the policy for the first year. Commencing on the 2nd
year, the interest will be a variable return with minimum guaranteed
interest rate of 2% per annum by the insurance company on an
annual basis.

During the Year 2022, a fair value loss of approximately HK$484,000
(2021: HKS nil) was recognised in profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2022, the entire deposit placed for a life insurance
policy had been pledged as security for certain bank borrowings
(2021: HKS nil).
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BB ARG RIREEES 8,000,000
E 7t (4962,400,0008 7T) > NEBE B
19491,694,000% 75 (4913,211,00078 7T)
MEfE: BERARFHNRELN
7,000 7¢ (#953,000770) o ANEE 7]
BERFAS IEIREE > WHNMREEMRPRE H UK
HAREBNIRESEE 2BEENREN
BEMEBAFERUBRBREE LR
BrY (ReBE)) b BERE
REBE1E18EREFEERG REAT
BWRERE TEFRE - REATRNE
FEMREHNFREEBERLAERZ
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FE READREREBLRRAESE
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16 DERIVATIVE ASSET

16 TEEE

2022 2021
ot ool %
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
CB: AIHAAR (RS :
Early redemption option (Note) feariEmE () 1,001 =

In Year 2022, the Company issued CB with coupon rate of 0.5% per
annum at a total principal value of HK$20,000,000. The CB contained
a clause of early redemption by the Company. The fair value of
the early redemption option of approximately HK$4,179,000 was
recognised under “derivative asset” in the consolidated statement
of financial position on the issue date of CB and reassessed to
approximately HK$1,001,000 (2021: HKS nil) as at 31 December 2022.
This results in a loss on fair value of approximately HK$3,178,000
(2021: HKS nil) that was recognised in profit or loss for the Year 2022.

The below table reconciled the amount of the derivative asset in the

A _E T FEARNBEITAS
E87320,000,00078 7o Y AT R AR (& 35 E
EEMERShe I BRRBELHEET—
TH 2NN B 42 Al BB [B] B9 R =X o e A BE [0
HERY A B A94,179,00078 70 72 B #a i%
BEHFETHEFAETERRERN 117
EE AR TR _E - _F+=
B=+—HEMFEA%91,001000%8 7T
(CEBEZ—F BB - BERAF
EE518493,178,00058 T (Z= :—fﬁ
TET) IR _E__FENER
mEsRe

TRB/E_EENTEEES

Year 2022: R
$'000
Tt
At 1 January 2021 S “E_—F—H—H -
Issue of CB BT MR ES 4,179
Change from fair value adjustment included in profit or qu)\?EﬁﬁZ/&:FTEEHﬁZ@@J
loss — Change in fair value of derivative asset —TEBEANTEED) (3,178)
At 31 December 2022 A —E__H#+"H=+—H 1,001

Further details of CB are set out in note 25.

ERETBRRESNE— T IFEHH
250
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17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

17 EREE

Distributorship

rights
o EHRE
$'000
Tt
Cost %3
At January 2021 RN _E_—F—H 25,204
Exchange realignment FE ke 690
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 N B —F+"“HA=+—H
M_E__F—H—H 25,894
Exchange realignment_________ BEms®E 08
At31December2022 ~  RKZFZZHFF-A=4-H 23856
Accumulated amortisation and impairment loss BitERRERE
At 1 January 2021 N ZE—F—HF—H 2,730
Amortisation #in 4607
Exchange realignment PE R EE 148
At 31 December 2021 and N_E_—F+"HA=+—H
1 January 2022 R—E_"H#—HF—H 7,485
Amortisation K 4826
Exchange realignment PE AT (735)
At31December2022 D SSE_CFT_A=TTH 11576
Carrying amount fRMEE
At 31 December 2022 N_E__F+_HA=+—H 12,280
At 31 December 2021 R ZEBE_—F+"HA=+—H 18,409

During the year 2020, the Group completed acquisition of intangible
assets which are the distributorship rights for electronic components
and other ancillary products and plastic components in the PRC.

The Directors of the Company determines the estimated useful
lives and related amortisation charges for its intangible assets. This
estimate is based on the contractual terms and the extension options
that the Group could exercise under the acquisition agreement.

120 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED BRI K AR A IR AT

RoB - BEE AEESHNREEY
i pEEEAR FRESET T
R BB E S U R B B A B
S

RABDEFEEHETLEEZ A5
ERFHRERITEER - fhst /51U
BNERRSER R RBWIEGZT
ERVIEHRE R A KR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

18

19

ire TR aR MY EE

N

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

INVENTORIES 18 F&

2022 2021
g —ET 4
$'000 $'000
FiT T
Trading inventories B5EF8 174,970 251,865

TRADE RECEIVABLES 19 EBSREUERF
2022 2021
$000 $'000
T Tz
Trade receivables B 5 E AR 562,741 555,873
Less: allowance for impairment BB RS (63,449) (71,247)
499,292 484,626

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on open
account terms, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The balance of the business is on open
account terms which is often covered by customers’ letters of credit
or is factored to external financial institutions. The credit terms vary
from 1 day to 120 days after the monthly statement. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by management.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and their carrying
amounts approximate to their fair values.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables based on the
invoice date:

FEBEHZTFHNE S IHFREZHE
BRI IVETT TR R —ARZETR YRR
BRI o LUEMNR 7 VETT BV E 5 R UK
REHREBNERT R ERAENRERE
SNEBEREE EEHNFRAERERR
1HZE1208 o 5% B ¥ H R U O] EUGR
IBER BRERE ELRREERR
EEE ST RERARER - B5 R
EMARE BHIREEREATER
o

B 7 B AR 7% 3 2 H BIRV AR &L 0 A
LU

2022 2021
- T —fF
$'000 $'000
F T
0-30 days 0&30H 211,630 207,769
31-60 days 31&260H 142,883 148,497
61-90 days 61290H 64,134 85,076
More than 90 days 908 U £ 144,094 114,531
562,741 555,873
Less: allowance for impairment BB (63,449) (71,247)
499,292 484,626
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 19

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using
an allowance account based on lifetime expected credit loss unless
there is no expectation of recovery, in which case the impairment
loss is written off against trade receivables directly. The movement in
the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

B 3 EWARTR (8

BZ RN EBISRBEAERE
RERBEREEBEEAK EETHE
I EIZARIBZ 1B T BlEREE
1% B 5 FEWIR RIS © 10 B P9 2 AR BRE
WEEIT -

2022 2021

—®-- BT —F

$'000 $'000

FT T

At 1 January n—A—H8 71,247 30,956
Impairment loss recognised T SBREEE 663 42,935

Write back of provision previously W El SRR B

recognised (8,257) (2,682)
Exchange realignment E R aA % (204) 38
At 31 December R+—HA=+—~H 63,449 71,247

At 31 December 2022, trade receivables of the Group with
an aggregate carrying amount of HK$138,532,000 (2021:
HK$321,769,000) have been assigned to banks to secure the general
banking facilities of the Group.

NS —F+_F=+—H &~&EH
48 BE TH {8 73 138,532,000 75 (T2 = —
£ 1 321,769,000/ 7T) 2 B EWERIE
BEFIRT LB AER—ARIRI TR

20

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 20

&Ho

H{thFEITRIR & K RS TRIR

2022 2021
- - BT
$'000 $'000
T Tz
Other receivables HAh e EIE 5,628 2,990
Interest receivables FEUHI 2 574 1,005
Loans receivable (note i) W E R (FIsE) 3,900 3,900
Deposit for purchase (note i) RIS (i) 36,158 47,688
Utilities and other deposits KEREMIEE 1,697 2,235
Prepaid expenses AR 1,725 2,571
Deposit paid for acquisition of property, UXFBHIZE BB K& HY
plant and equipment BffEE - 1,305
Deposit for proposed acquisition of ERWEEBNZS
business (note iii) (Bfst i) = 7,535
49,682 69,229
Less: amount classified as current assets & : D iEARENE EMN S EE (49,682) (67,924)
Amount classified as non-current assets D iEAIE R EER TR - 1,305
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

Note:

20

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

H{thFEUTRIE « & R TR (@)

P5E

2022 2021
—g-= -
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Loans receivable R ERR 6,833 7,084
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (2,933) (3,184)
3,900 3,900
The aging analysis of loans receivable at the end of the reporting REHAREWE RS DA
period is as follows
2022 2021
== BT —F
$'000 $'000
FT T
Not past due A 3,900 3,900
Past due within 3 months BHEREA A -
Past due over 3 months HHABE3EA 2,933 3,184
6,833 7,084

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loans receivable are interest
bearing. The loan periods are from 3 months to 1 year (2021: 3 months
to 1 year). The loans are secured by the guarantee executed by owners
of the debtors.

As at 31 December 2022, included in deposit for purchase of
approximately HKS$23,701,000 (2021: HK$24,013,000) is secured by
guarantee executed by independent third party and carried interest of
1.25% monthly.

R _E__ERZE”Z_—F+ZAH

=+—H EBRERRFEBENR-&
FHBAERE—F (CB T —F!
MERE—F) -EMUBEBAEEA
BURNERERIER-

A B —HFE+_"_A=+—H"&
AREEIR$£4923,701,0008 7T (ZF
Z—%F 124,013,000 7T) LB E
= HBNNEREABFLUAER
1.25%5T 8 °
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RATS R AR M 5E

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

20 EfthFEWRRIA & R FAfTRIE (B)

Note: (Continued) N REE))
Refundable deposit represented by: ii. AIREBEREIE
2022 2021
—®-C T —F
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Gross balance LR 3,865 7,535
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (3,865) =
- 7,535
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amount represented the RS- _FR_ZF-_—F+°H

balance of refundable deposit of RMB10,000,000 previously paid to
a third party vendor (the “Vendor") who was the beneficial owner as
to the entire equity interest in the target company established in the
PRC, under a non-legally binding memorandum of understanding
entered between the Group, the Vendor, the guarantors, the target
company and the target business company in relation to the proposed
acquisition on 7 November 2019. On 18 September 2020, the Group
entered into sales and purchase agreement with the Vendor to acquire
60% of the target company at consideration of RMB40,000,000. On
30 November 2020, the Group and the Vendor entered into a deed
of termination (the “Deed of Termination”) whereby the parties have
mutually agreed to terminate the sale and purchase agreement with
effect from the date of the Deed of Termination. The Vendor, shall
within 3 business days from 30 November 2020, return the refundable
deposit to the Group in accordance with the provisions in the sale and
purchase agreement and the Deed of Termination. During the Year
2022, a significant increase in credit risk is noted since 31 December
2021 and therefore an impairment loss of approximately HK$3,865,000
was recognised during the Year 2022.
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21

22

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

BANK BALANCES, RESTRICTED BALANCE AND CASH 21 $RITHERR - ZIRFIGEIRRINE
2022 2021
g BT
$'000 $'000
Fi Tt
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEZEEY 89,516 143,743
Restricted balance = (R4S ER 10,046 -

Total bank balances, restricted IR1T4E R ZIRHIAE R

balance and cash & 48728 99,562 143,743

Bank balances and cash comprise cash and short-term deposits held
with financial institutions and carry interest at prevailing market rates.

Restricted balance represented the fixed term deposit of
approximately HK$10,046,000 (2021: HKS nil) placed to a bank to
secure general banking facilities granted by the bank.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group places approximately
HKS$22,336,000 (2021: HK$32,804,000) in banks in the PRC, the
remittance of which is subject to relevant rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

BTEHRRASOERSRFENS
AU BRVRIATE R BRI IR
5o

ZIRAEGRIEER — KBTI EHR
FR#9100460008 T (CTEZ—F 1 &
BIT)  MIEAZIBITIR T —RIRTT
B E VIR o

N_E - _HF+"B=+—H &&
B AIRTTD B E E4922,3360008 7T

(ZETZ—4 132,804,000 7T) > B2
2 H B B 1 A B9 4 B8 91 B S IR B
B A& BIFFBR o

TRADE PAYABLES 22 BREHIRR
2022 2021
- —E_—F
$'000 $'000
F Tz
Trade payable B S R IR 131,812 160,863
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22 TRADE PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

RATS R AR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of each reporting date, is as follows:

22

(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

B SRR (B

FERRS RS APRLEZHHZ
SR E Z I ERMRBVERE DTN T ¢

2022 2021

- TEI—fF

$'000 $'000

FT Tt

0-30 days 0%F30H 71,745 114,580

31-60 days 31E60H 14,045 26,844

61-90 days 61290H 9,303 8,506

More than 90 days 08U E 36,719 10,933

131,812 160,863

23 OTHER PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS 23 HthFEMARIR Bt BAREWE

RECEIVED &

2022 2021

—s-- —E——F

$'000 $'000

FT T

Other payables and accruals HENRIBRESTER 9,446 15,279

Commission payable FERE 6,795 19,325

Value added tax payables FEIEETR 1,538 1813

Customer deposit received BWERZE 4,774 7,785

Rental deposit received B WRERE 236 240

22,789 44442

BWEFEREIEAEERZDBR KR
BIRLEYRERWENAE BRZE
6,621,000/ 7T (Z & Z—14F © 20,36800078
T BEARCIE - ZF—F—HN4
R TR - _FEEDAWRE-

Customer deposits received represents consideration received
from customers for goods before the Group recognises the related
revenue. Customer deposits of HK$6,621,000 included in the balance
as at 1 January 2022 were recognised as revenue during the Year
2022 (2021: HKS$20,368,000).
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(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

24 BANK BORROWINGS, SECURED 24 SRTIEE  HiEH
2022 2021
—g— - BT —fF
$'000 $'000
FT o
Current liabilities ik )=
Factoring loans RIBEMN 90,980 161,178
Other bank loans HiB1TEMR 369,448 364,281
Bank instalment loans IRITDHAER
— portion of loans due for repayment —BR—FEREERZ
within one year BRE D 5,044 1973
— portion of loans due for repayment —BR—FRBEEZ
after one year which contain a BREn HEZEX
repayment on demand clause BEEN 18,194 11,113
483,666 538,545

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the bank instalment loans

were due for repayment as follows, which are based on the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements
and ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause:

O RIB_HFRTB_—F+_
B=+—H RIT0HERAR

BEM R

= yEm

Sy =358

HEA{E

2> B ESt AEEREXRERE

Rz 2 .
2022 2021
—g-C BT —fF
$'000 $'000
FT Tt
Within one year —FR 5,044 1,973
After one year but within two years —EBBRMEN 2,333 1,914
After two years but within five years REBEBR EER 4,871 4217
After five years LEE 10,990 4,982
23,238 13,086

None of the portion of the term loans due for repayment after
one year which contain a repayment on demand clause and
that is classified as current liability is expected to be settled
within one year.

RS EN A R EREZEFRRE
NESRBERZ AN —FRE
B2 EHEME DR —FERNE

=E
/B °
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24 BANKBORROWINGS, SECURED (CONTINUED)

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

Factoring loans are variable-rate borrowings which carry
effective rate (which is also equal to contractual interest rate) of
5.89% to 6.50% per annum at 31 December 2022 (2021: 1.49%
10 2.21%).

Other bank loans represent import loans, trust receipts loans
and revolving loan which are variable-rate borrowings and
carry effective interest rate ranging from 4.95% to 7.55% per
annum at 31 December 2022 (2021: 1.45% to 4.95%).

Bank instalment loans are variable-rate borrowings and carry
effective interest rate of 3.02% to 4.52% per annum at 31
December 2022 (2021: 1.20% to 1.84%).

At 31 December 2022, the banking facilities of the Group
were secured by trade receivables of the Group with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$138,532,000
(2021: HK$321,769,000), the legal charge over the investment
property of the Group of approximately HKS$51,200,000 (2021:
HK$51,000,000), leasehold land and buildings of approximately
HK$79,156,000 of the Group (2021: HK$50,800,000), deposit
placed for life insurance policy of the Group of approximately
HKS$12,674,000 (2021: HKS nil), personal guarantees executed
by Mr. Pai Yin Lin (a director and a non-controlling shareholder
of subsidiaries of the Company, “Mr. Pai”), and corporate
guarantees executed by the Company and several of its
subsidiaries.

Certain of the Group's banking facilities are subject to the
fulfilment of covenants relating to the Group's financial
position. If the Group were to breach the covenants, the drawn
down facilities would become payable on demand. As at 31
December 2022, the Group has complied with the covenant
requirements under banking facilities granted with banks. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group had breached the covenant
requirements under banking facilities with a bank, as the
Group’s net tangible assets was less than and external gearing
ratio was greater than that required by the bank. The Group
had obtained one-off waivers from strict compliance with the
covenant requirements in relation to all the outstanding bank
borrowings. Management was of the opinion that the breach
had no significant impact on the Group’s financial position as
all bank borrowings were classified as current liabilities as at 31
December 2021.
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(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

24 IR{TfER > HIkHE (B

(i

(iii)

(iv)

REERBFREE AR "%

T IF+ZB=1+T—HZERSFE
FE TREER & AT £589%
EF6.50% (ZEBEZT—F 1 149%F
221%) ©

HMRTEREEOER
W%*ﬁ&@m;ﬂ’%&ﬁ
BE BR-ZE-__F+°"A1
=+ —HZEBBREHZRNF495%
E755% (T2 —0F 1 145%F
4.95%) o

RITHBHERBEIEMR/E BRX
“EIF+ZA= + EZ?
PRER RN F302%E452% (—F
T D 120%Z1.84%) ©

N B ZF+Z“HA=+—H>
KEBERTREUEERED
138,532,000 5 (ZE - —% :
321,769,000 70) 2 B 5 EWER
T REBREYEZLATHR
#951,200,0008 70 (ZE - —4 !
51,000000787T) ~ AEREBEE i
FRAETF4979,1560005 75 (B - —
£ 150,800,000 70) ~ KEBAE
REBIFE 4912674000587 (ZF
——F BB BRZRLE (&
NEMBABTINES KR IFTRR
B IB4L%)) FrEs i p9E A LR
UEREARBREETHB AR
A BIERIEIRIR

REFBETIRITHMERETARE
] B F5 AK e A A AU 3255 o e AN EE
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24 BANKBORROWINGS, SECURED (CONTINUED)

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

During the Year 2022, the Group has transferred the collection right
of certain trade receivables to financial institutions under factoring
agreements, but such transfers do not qualify for derecognition in the
consolidated financial statements. A transferred asset is derecognised
when the Group transfers the asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. The factoring
facilities are secured by pledge of assets and corporate guarantees
executed by the Group and personal guarantee executed by Mr. Pai.
Given that the financial institutions are authorised to realise and sell
the pledged assets in case of default and guarantee is provided to
the transferees, the Group has not transferred the significant risks and
rewards relating to the transferred assets to the financial institutions.
Accordingly, the transferred assets continue to be recognised in its
entirety and the consideration received is recognised as a liability.

The carrying amounts of the transferred assets and their associated
liabilities are as follows:

24

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

IR1TIER > FIkH (B

HHEHEEREMAG

A TECTFER AREEREFRE
s A T B 5 AR B U [O] 1 48
ETTRE ARG ERN
ARE TR LIRS - EXREEEE
BERKEEFA RSN &R
KERERES B ARIERESE
HEREE - RIEMBUB BT RARE
EFT A BER AR B SR EFTEE AR
RAitifam - BN ERIEEEREEN
REABARBERNBR FTEREK
LEBRREE  HAERERRER
BEENE AR EREE SR
BoHIt EEREERBSEES R
BRAERESERER

BEEESEMHEARARZREEN
T

2022 2021

= s

Trade receivables Trade receivables

transferred under transferred under

factoring factoring

agreements agreements

IRIRRIEIEE RIFRIE RS

HEZESE HECESE

Y BR TR Y BR R

$'000 $'000

FT Tz

Carrying amount of transferred assets EEEEECREE 117,327 296,425
Carrying amount of associated liabilities 1B RS 8115 2~ BREI (& 90,980 161,178
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25 CONVERTIBLE BOND

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

25 FAIARfRSF

‘000
T
Liability component at 1 January 2021, KRB —F—H—H-
31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 2 F+ZA=+—HEK
I F—RF—HMNEaE
R ER -
Add: liability component on initial recognition 0 - MR B EARE D 14,444
Add: effective interest expenses mn:BRANEZH 883
Less: coupon payment P SENEN (100)
Liability component at 31 December 2022 . ::E‘f— —“A=+—H
REEE 15,227

During the Year 2022, the Company issued a CB with principal
amount of HK$20,000,000 to Nicegoal Limited to satisfy a portion
of the Consideration. The coupon rate of the CB is 0.5% per annum.
The CB will mature in the fifth anniversary of the issue date, i.e.
23 February 2027 (the "Maturity Date"), or can be converted into
57,140,000 shares at any time up to and including the date falling
on the seventh day immediately prior to the Maturity Date at the
bondholder’s option at rate of HK$0.35 per share. At any time prior
to the Maturity Date, the Company shall have the right to partly or
fully redeem the CB early, by giving 10 business days' prior notice in
writing to the bondholder.

The CB comprises a liability component, an equity conversion
component and an early redemption option. The Group appointed
a professional valuer to estimate the fair values of the CB and its
components and option at initial recognition.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BrIEB B ERER> LUBITHR)

25 CONVERTIBLE BOND (CONTINUED)

The fair value of the liability component was calculated by using a
market interest rate of similar non-extendable and non-convertible
bonds. The fair value of the CB was valued by using Hull Method.
The CB issued during the Year 2022 recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at its initial recognition are as follows:

25

A {EsF (R
BEARE DA FERBELBA
FIRE /R K A R\ 5 2 HhIH A X
sStE - I RESFH A FEUMEZE
(Hull Method)a#1& ° I &R & B SR ST &%
IR Y ) — o SOl
BRESHHIWT -

‘000
Tt
Fair value of the CB issued AR ESHNATE 20,000
Fair value of derivative asset (note 1) TTEBEENLFE (HeE) 4,179
Less: fair value of liability component of CB A AR ESaEERE s
NAFEE (14,444)
Equity conversion component (note 2) A st Ep oy (MY5E2) 9,735
1 The amount represented the early redemption option granted 1 EHSBEARNATERENIEAER

to the Company and has been included in derivative asset in the
consolidated statement of financial position at initial recognition.

2 The equity conversion component will remain in the convertible bond
reserve until the embedded conversion option is exercised or the CB
matures.

Further details on fair value measurement at initial recognition of CB
and liability portion of the CB are set out in Note 35 below.

> RiR e MBI R R B HERE
STATEBE-

2 RESHBEIRERERTBRRES
HEN BEFRREREEITEN
AR ES DB R LE o

BRI BRESRAIRKRESEEE

REB D R A R R AT E EBE
— 5B MBS I X MIEE3S -
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26 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 26 REMRIBEE &fF
The net movement of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows: RERIBEE (BF) 2 FEEHU
B
2022 2021
g BT —F
$'000 $'000
FiT Tt
Balance at 1 January nR—A—HBZ#&8R 6,101 4,734
Credited to profit or loss (note 10) st A= (Fy5E10) 1,670 1916
Charged to other comprehensive income 11F% B EM 2 mEU G - (544)
Credited to equity AR 129 —
Exchange realignment PE 2 SR 2 5 (5)
Balance at 31 December R+ __B=+—HZ 4 7,905 6,101
Deferred tax assets IRERIBEE
Provision for
impairment Tax losses Others Total
RERE WIgES1E Hith izt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Frt T Ft F
Balance at 1 January 2021 R_ZE_—F—F—H
iR 885 7,348 - 8,233
Credit to profit or loss for the year FFAFAER 1,185 251 586 2,022
Exchange realignment bE R EA R 9 - 9 18
Balance at 31 December 2021 N _E”_—F+_"H8
—+—HZz & 2,079 7,599 595 10,273
(Charge)/credit to profit or (nkB) /FHAENER
loss for the year (1,024) 2977 (346) 1,607
Exchange realignment P& 2 5 2 (39) = (36) 74)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZE_"F+"8
= +—HZ & 1017 10,576 213 11,806
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BrIEB B ERER> LUBITHR)

26 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 26 EERIEEE AR @
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEGE
Revaluation
Accelerated  of leasehold
tax land and
depreciation buildings Others Total
hni&E g
RIEIRE LHRIEF Hith &t
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
F7T T T T
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—HF—H
A 581 2,885 33 3,499
Charged to profit o loss for the year NrBEFENER 106 = = 106
Charged to other comprehensive income 1Fk B EREM 2 EURE
for the year - 544 - 544
Exchange realignment ERAE = 23 = 23
Balance at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—%+ZA8
=+—BZ%&H% 687 3452 33 4172
(Credit)/charged to profit or loss GtA) /HBRBER
for the year B (303) = 240 (63)
Credited to equity for the year FFAFAER - (129) - (129)
Exchange realignment fER A% - (70) 9) (79
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZZ-__#+_R
=+—H 2 384 3,253 264 3901
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N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

26

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial
position

For the purpose of consolidated statement of financial position
presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

BIERIEEE AfE (@
RAMBRRROHIR

REINGEEMBRRE  BETIELER
HEEMBEEFTLUKEH - LT AT
FA#5 ER R B RIFR 1E 2 IR SEIR B AE BR D
#r

2022 2021
g BT —F
$'000 $'000
F Tt
Deferred tax assets R IBE E 11,806 9,784
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE (3,901) (3,683)
7,905 6,101
Deferred tax assets not recognised REDZIEIERIGEE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$77,881,000 (2021: HK$57,261,000) available for
offset against future profits. Deferred tax assets of approximately
HK$10,576,000 (2021: HK$7,599,000) have been recognised in respect
of tax losses of approximately HK$64,093,000 (2021: HKS$46,054,000)
in the current year. No deferred tax assets have been recognised in
respect of the remaining tax losses of approximately HK$13,788,000
(2021: HKS11,207,000) due to unpredictability of future profit streams.
Tax losses of approximately HK$64,093,000 (2021: HKS$46,054,000)
may be carried forward indefinitely and tax losses of approximately
HK$13,788,000 (2021: HKS$S11,207,000) will expire on various dates
within five years from the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2022, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries amounted to HK$9,020,000
(2021: HKS$4,888,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$451,000 (2021:
HK$244,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as
the Group controls the dividend policy of the subsidiaries and it has
been determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.
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N2 _F+"H=+—H &%
B2 RENBRIERE184777,881,0008 70
(ZZTZ—4 : 57,261,000570) B 1K
R EF A FEERRBEEBIBLY
64,093,00078 7T (— & — —4F 46,054,000
Bro) BRIEIERIEE E 410,576,000
BT (CEZ—F © 7,599,000 7T) ©H
B ATER H B m A 2R o SO #E Rt
B N IR IEES384913,788,00058 75 (Z &
——% 111,207,000 70) FESBIRICAR IS
EE o MIEE1E4964,093,0008 7T (ZF
——%F 1 46,054,00058 7T0) TJ R HA4S
B MR IEE184913,788,0008 7T (Z &
——%F 1 11,207,00058 7T) 1SR AR A4S
REAFNNZEBRBRIER-

KRB ZIRIEIRIBE &

A E__F+_"_HA=+—H >+EH
MEBATRRD K ar 2 ERHEEES
9,020,000/ 7T (& — —4%F : 4,888,000
ABIT) o MR D IKZE (R im A e
2 M IBIE IR IETR IE & ({E451,00078
7T (TB T —4F © 244,000 7T) » JEIZR
EEEHZERB AT ZREBEK
BEBMERUERRKZEHMNEA
BER N EEDIK
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27

RAFS R MIEE

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

SHARE CAPITAL 27 g%
Number of shares Amount
g S 4=] %8
HKS
BT
The Company AT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FRoOETZEBR
Authorised: VETE
Asat 1 January 2021, 31 December MR_ZE_—F—A
2021, 1 January 2022 and —B-ZEZ—F
31 December 2022 +=B=+—8-
B2 —F—H—
HRZZEZTH
+—_A=+—H 2,000,000,000 20,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
As at 1 January 2021 N ZE—F—HF—
H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000
Shares issued under restricted TE BRI AR D SR B =t
share award scheme 2T EITRD 9,550,000 95,500
As at 31 December 2021 and R _—&+_
1 January 2022 B=+—HRZZE
—__#F#—HF—H 1,009,550,000 10,095,500
Issued during the Year 2022 (note 1) —&B - _FE BT
(MF5E1) 65,560,000 655,600
As at 31 December 2022 WZE-__F+_H4
Sa—E 1,075,110,000 10,751,100
Note: ME

On 10 May 2022, the Company and a placing agent (the “Placing
Agent”) entered into a conditional placing agreement, pursuant
to which, among other things, the Company conditionally agreed
to place through the Placing Agent, on a best effort basis, up to
67,500,000 placing shares (‘Placing Shares”) at the placing price of
HKS$0.4 per Placing Share under general mandate. On 26 May 2022, the
Company announced that a total of 65,560,000 Placing Shares were
successfully placed by the Placing Agent. All the Placing Shares rank
pari passu with the existing shares in issue in all respects.

RIEZZFHRA+H AREH
FRERE (SR sTILERMY
FoEWE Bt (HhgiE) x 858
BHEREREBREE N IERIBHEFTA
HERBE-—RIEEREEESRE
E 5B 04B Tl E & 267,500,0008%
FRERMD (EEERD)) -R_E-—
FHERA_+ARA XA EHREE

BEEERERIIECE & 65,560,000
REEERD -FIBERERDINE S
HEBETRERDZEREH{L

ANNUAL REPORT 20224E%% 135



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%= -<f

N

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

27

28

RATS R AR M 5E

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

2. During Year 2022, the Company caused the Custodian to purchase
the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange for the Restricted Share
Award Scheme as follows:

27

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

Beas (&)

2. MR_E__FE > KRBRETE
A 2 PR 11 AR 7 2 B B 1A B 2 P BB
BEARABRMGBWT

Price per share

SRER
Number of Aggregate
ordinary consideration
shares Highest Lowest paid
Month of purchase BEA% BERHE BE RiE BfIRERLE
(HKS) (HKS) HKS$'000
(B 7T) (B7T) FAT
January 2022 :giii H 4,150,000 0.290 0.285 1,199
September 2022 —E-"FAhA 1,480,000 0335 0338 499
October 2022 B _F+A8 1,440,000 0.343 0.350 500

As at 31 December 2022, 14,710,000 of the Company’s shares are
held by the Custodian (2021: 9,550,000).

PERPETUAL SUBORDINATED CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES

During the Year 2022, the Company issued PSCS with face value
of HKS$10,000,000 to Nicegoal Limited to satisfy a portion of
Consideration.

The PSCS are included in equity in the Group's consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not have a contractual obligation
to deliver cash or other financial assets arising from the issue of
the PSCS. The PSCS will remain as equity reserve until the PSCS are
converted, in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share capital and share premium.

During the Year 2022, no PSCS was converted into ordinary shares
and the Company has made distribution of HK$50,000 (2021: HK$ nil)
to the PSCS holder.

As at 31 December 2022, approximately 28,570,000 (2021: nil)
ordinary shares would be issued upon full conversion of PSCS.
Conversion into ordinary shares is not permitted when conversion
into ordinary shares of the Company would result in insufficient
public float of the Company’s shares.
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W-_&2__#+_-_HA=+—H8H"
1471000008 AT ThEBEE B A A
(T2 —4F : 955000088) ©

KARBFT RS 55

N BT TFEAABREBERA
E24TE1810,000,0007 70 BY 7K A R 4R
ARG EE S BN EB DB

KARBEIRIRE St AT ERBIGRS
MR NERIR T SR A E R E

BHEERREIT KA R
R EEZ RN HMEBREE - kA
Rip PR EFR R E N Em A B
EXRARRPIRR G EEIR - EILIE
R EmESRAE R B ERAE

R B AR a8 o

TR TFE KA RRAIAR
RS EIRAS TR RARBBRAKA
KAk P LR 5515 A A fEH50,000/8 7T
(C2—F : T80 WD Tke

A TECTFFZHA=F+—H IRKA
KRR ARG RS SR E IR 21T

#4928,570,0000% (B _——4F : ) L\
BS o MERAA RN B B BRBENAR
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29 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(a)

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group participates in the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and
its employees are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ monthly relevant income
capped at HK$30,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC participate in defined
contribution retirement schemes organised by the relevant
local government authorities for its employees. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the schemes.
The local government authorities undertake to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future retired
employees of these subsidiaries. The only obligation of these
subsidiaries with respect to the scheme is to meet the required
contributions under the scheme. No forfeited contributions
will be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

Total contributions paid or payable to the retirement benefit
schemes by the Group amounted to HK$4,655,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$4,424,000), which
had been recognised as expense and included in staff costs
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Group has no other material obligation for payment of
retirement benefits beyond the contributions as described
above.

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

29 (ESREF

(a)

BAEFETE
AEBERBSARFELBEET
EMEHASBIBECEREES
nafEEstE 2B E AW
BUSEASENTEREITERNK
B o RiEaEestE AEE
rEREHYEZEESBBRK
ABIS%E T EIEH MR ERA
30,0007 7T © A 5T 1 E H AR5 ED
RSB Bt ENEERN
ERBEESHITFR BETHT
NIl o

RIRPER B ROE R REE
FENE AR SEEES NS
AR RA Mt 75 U 1% RRE (R E BR {H
FIRRET B - ZFNB AT AR
EBEEAHERIEZETED
EE 1 51 &I 7R o B 3th U 14 B K
HEAEZENBABMARA K
HEERAKEEMNBRAKENEE
ZENBABMZTEINE—T
ERRIFSHBIFL TR R A
B I EBOL WHY HRR AR IR
BT o

BHE_ZE__F#+-B=+—H
LEFE KEBERAKEHN 2
BT IR 4B (TR 5465500078 7T
(CTEZ—5 ;44240005 7T) * B
ERRBARS M AGEEBEK
Hth2mKERANBE T

PR BRSNS E S At
ERENRENIEE-
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29 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Restricted share award scheme

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the
“Share Award Scheme”) on 30 August 2019 (the “Adoption
Date"). The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise
the contributions by the Group’s personnel and to increase
their incentives in working for the continual operation and
development of the Group; and to attract suitable personnel
for further development of the Group. Eligible participants of
the Share Award Scheme include employee, executive officer
or director of the Group.

The restricted shares to be granted comprise (i) new shares
to be allotted and issued by the Company; and/or (i) existing
shares purchased by the custodian on the market, the costs of
which will be borne by the Company. All such restricted shares
will be held by the custodian upon trust for the benefit of the
selected participants before vesting.

The movement of share-based payment reserve for the Year
2022 is as follows:

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

29 (ES&EF (B

(b)

PRI B {7 32 Bh 5t &1
TRBRZZE-—NENB=1H
(TER# B H3L) SRR HI 1L R 10
RENETE (TR IR - B
PRBTE SERIEAERE
THER > TIEMNEENTIEE
7 imRAEEFEEERE
& RAarERNE—DERER
SIGBAT -ROEBESE
K2HEEQEAEERRES TTH
ABHES-

1 F 5% H BRI BR 1 14 AR 1D B E (i) 4
NERGECEE R TR AR K
SHFEEARTIE LEBEMNIR
B BB A REA A G XK
BB BRGIMERMN BN
BRIHTLEANSEESEAENT
mMmMMUEFEFERIFE

RIEBEZ —FEURMNZAIRIE
BB T

2022 2021

—e_C TR

$'000 $'000

FT T

At 1 January n—A—H 903 =
Employee share-based payment 1B B AR Z(IFIE (FI5Es)

(note 8) 1,311 903

Vesting of shares of Share Award ~ FR{7 22BN 5T BRI AR 1D 57 B
Scheme (573) -
At 31 December K+—HB=4+—H 1,641 903
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RAFS R MIEE

29 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Restricted share award scheme (Continued)
Details of Share Award Scheme granted

On 23 July 2021, the Board has resolved to grant 9,550,000
restricted shares to nine selected participants (the “Grantees”)
in accordance with the terms of the Share Award Scheme at
nil consideration, subject to acceptance by the Grantees. The
restricted shares granted shall vest in three tranches as follows:

(i) 20% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2022;

(i) 40% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2023; and

(i) 40% of the Restricted Shares to be vested on 10 March
2024.

The estimated fair value per share granted on 23 July 2021 was
HK$0.3. The fair value was estimated by taking reference to the
market price of the Company’s share on the grant date. The
Grantees are not entitled to dividends on any restricted shares
that are not yet transferred to them.

The movement in number of restricted shares granted under
Share Award Scheme for the Year 2022 is as follows:

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

29 (ESEF (B

(b)

PREIERR (DR EISTEI (48)
SRR IRENTEIGF S
C_—\,_—Etﬁ +=H%
EREIRE D REN TR BR
TEERNLEEZESE (KE
AJ) 3 HH9,550,0000% PR HI M B& (5 »
I JEEE P A AR o BT BR
MR T A D = MRS ¢

() PRHEHMERMDI20%N -
T TEZRTHEE;

(if) BE ﬁ%J I“_i[ R& 17 E’J40%H\ -

iy PREIMERMDBI40% _ &
TEZRt+HEB

N_E_—FtA”"+=ZH%
EHERRG AT ERE
Lo RFEET2ERABRG N
REHBHNME MG - ARAR
%?fﬁ‘r‘ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬁ}%ZTﬂﬂBE%Uﬁ

RIDESRE

RIEZ " FERBERMD RS
IR HBIRS %MD BB 28U
T

2022 2021
‘000 ‘000
Fhg T
Number of awarded shares RERGOEE
Outstanding at 1 January K—A—HHEKRITE 9,550 =
Granted BEE - 9,550
Vested BB (1,910) =
At 31 December R+—HB=+—H 7,640 9,550
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30 COMMITMENT
Capital commitments

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

30 K

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has the following capital

Bf#E
R ZE_HF+RA=+—H0'%&&

commitment: BEMUTEARKIE !
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—g-- T
+-A=+-H| +-A=+-H
$'000 $'000
FT T
Capital commitment in respect of HBEYENEARRKIE
acquisition of a property:
— Contracted but not provided for —BETHEREHE ()
(note 1) - 30,000
- 30,000
Note 1:  As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s subsidiary was committed to

purchase a property from Nicegoal Limited with a consideration of
HK$30,000,000. During the Year 2022, the Group has completed the
acquisition of the property and the consideration was satisfied by

issuance of the CB and the PSCS.

Operating lease commitments
The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment property under operating lease
arrangements. The lease of the investment property is negotiated for
a term of 2 years. The lease agreements do not include an extension
option. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the operating lease

receivables are as follows:

iz . RZF_—F+-RA=1+—8"
rEBWB AT AREEERAE
RARBE—EYE KEA
30,000,000 e R & -
E - xEBERHZYERES
B RBAEBEITBRRKRES
Ba ok AR AR T RR =5 25 E (T o

RERERE

FEEEASHEA
AEEREKEHEZHEEERE
WEKIER  KREYEMRP LW
FoFHANTL At RIEHAE - PN B - —
FR-IEZ—F+-_H=+—H &&
FAEEREIENT

2022 2021

—E-C B —F

$’000 $'000

FiT T

Within one year —FR 1,380 480
In the second to fifth years, inclusive B_EFERE

(BiEEEMmE) 472 =

1,852 480
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at

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

SUBSIDIARIES 31 fIBAE
Particulars of the subsidiaries are as follows: MEABIFIENT !
Registered/issued
andfully paid share ~ Percentage of equity attributable Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation capital tothe Cgmpany Principal activities Operation
CAE Y
4% HRRIALRAN RARRE B 3 E a2y
2022 2021
-§-C s
Apex Team Limited Biitish Virgin slands N/A/ 100 10 Ivestment holding Hong Kong
15 June 2009 Usst
Apex Team Liited HBRYEE Il 100 0 RELR &%
“EENF/ATEA /&7
Ascent Way International Limited Hong Kong N/A/ n 72 Salesof electronic Hong Kong
18 January 2016 HKS1,000,000 components
FRERERAR &% TEE/ n N HEETRK &
“B—"E-BTNA 10000008
Ascent Way International (East China) Limited Hong Kong NA n - Inactive Hong Kong
27 September 2022 HKS10,000
(2021: HKS il
FHER (#%) BRAT &% TER/ n - BB &%
“BCTEARCTA 1000077z
(CB--f.
Ehm)
AVT Electronics Corporation Taiwan TWD2,063,600/ 100 100 Sales of electronic Talwan
16 January 2019 TWD2,063600 components
BERERHERAT a8 Ha®06607 100 0 FEEFf =)
“E-NE-AtrA /HEE6 07T
AVTInternational Limited Hong Kong N/A/ 100 100 Sales of electronic Hong Kong
7 May 1992 HK54999986 components,and sales
and integration of
storage system
EAARERERAT 3 TR/ 100 0 HEEFoARBE  ER
-ANZ%LAtH 499 9OETE ENFEAR
Data Star Inc. Biitish Virgin slands U583,000,000/ n 72 Investment holding Hong Kong
5 January 2016 1$2.200000
Data St Inc EBRIHE 3000000570 n N RER &R
“F-7#-PiA /20000% 7
Great Win Technology Limited Hong Kong N/A/ 100 100 Inactive Hong Kong
1 April 2021 HKS1
EBREERAT &% TER/ 100 0 EEE &k
“E_-FMA-A 187
Heroic Path (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong N/A/ 100 100 Inactive Hong Kong
6 December 2021 HKS1
1t B%) BRAF &k TER/ 100 0 B &%
“B_-%+2ARA 187
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(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

31 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31 MEBAR @&
Registered/issued
and fully paid share ~ Percentage of equity attributable Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation capital to the Company Principal activities Operation
_ NE
; BT g :
& iR IERE S RRRS TEEH e
2022 2021
e 25k
Heroic Path Group Limited Biitish Virgin Islands US850000/ 100 10 Investment holding Hong Kong
\ 9 July 2021 Uss100 ]
REEARAS EERLHE SO00ET/ 100 1 RELR Bk
"2 -FtANd 1027
I-Sky Electronic Limited Hong Kong NA 100 100 Properties holding Hong Kong
12 June 2000 HKQ2
AHEFERAT Bt TER/ 100 0 RENE Bk
“EEEFATCA E7
Jumbo Fame Investrnents Limited Biitish Virgin slands US950000/ 100 10 Ivestment holding Hong Kong
9 prl 2018 Usst
EAREERA HERYES SO00ETT/ 100 1 RESR &4
“E-\FMANA ES
Shenzhen Lisigao Electronics Company Limited * The PRC HK520,000000/ 100 100 Sales of electronic The PRC
(Note 1) 18 July 2008 HK$12,000000 components,and sales
of storage system and
provision of related
o \ Supporting service
MIEfEETERA (M) 18 10000E7,/ 100 1 HERFTARHE  4E
“EE)\EtATNA 12000007 FRARRIRME
FRRY
Speed Extreme Limited British Virgin lslands US850000/ 100 100 Investment Holding Hong Kong
\ 18 March 2021 Uss100 ]
BRERAT RERUHE S000%7,/ 100 m REER 3
“E_-F=B+N\A 10057
Stingray Technology (HK) Company Limited (formerly  Hong Kong NA 100 100 Sales of electronic Hong Kong
known asStingray Technology (HK) Company 3 August 2018 HKS 1 components
Limited')
EERELNNAERLT &% B TER/ 100 m  HEEFRA &R
(FIREAETRNRERAR) “2-\#)\A=A AT
Team Well Electronics Technology Limited Hong Kong N/A/ n 72 Salesof electronic Hong Kong
1 May 2020 HKS10000 components
EEETHRERAT &% TER/ n N REERK &8
3 1000087
Triumphal Ralse Limited British Virgin lslands US850000/ 100 100 Investment Holding Hong Kong
22 August 2018 Uss100 )
HERRAT RERYES S000% 7,/ 100 1 REER )
“$-\£NAZTCR 1007
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(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

31 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31 MBATE @&
Registered/issued
and fully paid share ~ Percentage of equity attributable Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation capital tothe(gmpany Principal activities Operation
L
48 IR A kRS TEER g
2022 201
5 - BTk
Wise King Electronics Limited Hong Kong NA 100 100 Saleof electronic Hong Kong
23 November 2017 HKS1 components
BRETERAR &% TR/ 100 0 HEEFRE &%
“B-t%+-BZ+=H &7
MIEEIREERAA The PRC H(13,000000 100 100 Technical development,  ThePRC
(former named as RIS FRERL 15 November 2018 (2021:HKS3,000000)/ sales of electronic
BRAF) Note 1) HKS5,300,000 products, computer
(2021: hardware and software
HK93,000000) and accessories
A REERAT E 1300000087 100 0 EfEmARREE T
EREAISTRNAERAR W)  Z3-\E+-BtEH (C5--f: fREA R
30000008 7) / BRiE
53000087
(CB--f:
30000008 7)
MIBRANETERAT The PRC RVIB10,000,000/ 100 100 Technical development,  ThePRC
(Note 2) 3 August 2021 RVIB6,463,000 sales of electronic
(2021: RMB il products, computer
hardware and software
and accessories
MIBRANETERAT () q:l AEE100000007,/ 100 0 EfEmARREE T
“E_-F\A=H NE 64630007 R B
(CRC-%: ¥hiE
AEEZR)
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(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

31 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31 MIBAR @&
Registered/issued
and fully paid share ~ Percentage of equity attributable Place of
Name Place and date of incorporation capital tothe(gmpany Principal activities Operation
whesn 08,
418 SRR R RARES IR ey
2022 2021
k- Sk E-f
MR RN RERAR ThePRC VBT 000000 90 - Slesof electronic ThePRC
(Note 2) 20 September 2022 (2021: RMB ni)/ product, technical
RMB150,000 development and
(2021:RMB nil promotion of new
materials
FITABRERRERAR () il NERH1,0000007 90 ETEQEEFME  oE
ZRZIZFARCHA (C3z-%: NERERER
\EEZR) /
AEBI150007
(C5-£:
AEEE7)
AR EEERAT The PRC HKS 13000000 100 100 Investment holding The PRC
(Note 1) 27 1y 2001 (2021: HKS7.660,000)/
HKS7,660,000
(2021: HK83,000,000)
AR EERERAT () hE 130000087 100 0 REER e
ZET-EtRT+tR (CB_-f£:
T66000057) /
TH60000B TS
(2
3000000877)
MIGHETERAT ThePRC HK$35,000,000 n 7 Salesof electionic ThePRC
(Note 1) 9 July 2019 (2021HK811,000,000) products, computer
HKS11,000,000 hardware and software
and accessories
AIRRETARAR () HE 35000000787 7 N EFERHER e
“E-NECAAA (CB--%£: AEEREEHE
11000000%7) /
1100000087
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31 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31 MIBAaRE @

Note: BT 5T

1 These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises 1 ZEWBRERBRBEEERH
in the PRC under the PRC law. AR EEERE

2 These subsidiaries are registered as limited liability companies in the 2 ZEMWEB R B RBEREERNH
PRC under the PRC law. AR ABEREEAT -

o The English name is translated for identification purpose only. 2 LB AR o

All the subsidiaries of the Company are limited liability companies. KABIMEMNBABEHEREREEA

a o

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiary that have material non- BEEAREERERZIFZENBEA

controlling interests: G-

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary of the TRINLHEEERIFFERET 2 ARE

Group that has material non-controlling interests: EIFEEMBABZFE !

Proportion of ownership interests

Place of incorporation/ and voting rights held by
Name of subsidiary operation non-controlling interests
FFEREREEZ
LRI/ NS B2E SEMEEIL, AR R RS RIFEELLS
2022 2021
—F=-Z BT
Ascent Way International Limited Hong Kong
("Ascent Way") 28% 28%
IRESER AR A S (HREU) X

Year ended 31 December

#E+"_HA=1+—HLFE

2022 2021
—EZZ TET—F
$'000 $'000
FiT T
Profit allocated to non-controlling PDEEIFZERER 2 HF
interests 232 6,499
2022 2021
g S — G
$'000 $'000
FiT eI
Accumulated non-controlling interests & 5t IE =PI HE & 27,074 28,371
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31 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31 MIBAE @
Summarised financial information in respect of Ascent Way is set BRI MBERMIE&EI U T T
out below. The summarised financial information below represents NXzHBERBEIEEBR N HA
amounts before intragroup eliminations. Z &8l
Summarised statement of financial position of Ascent Way IRRNZ AR R R E
2022 2021
—s_C ZF—F
$'000 $'000
F T
Non-current assets SERBIEE 11,237 11,248
Current assets RENEE 300,071 233,683
Current liabilities mENEE (214,588) (143,576)
Net current assets MENEESE 85,483 90,107
Total assets less current liabilities MEERTSAasE 96,720 101,355
Non-current liabilities ERBAas (27) (31)
Total equity MR 96,693 101,324
Attributable to DU &S
— the Group —FAEH 69,619 72,953
— non-controlling interests —IJEIERR T 27,074 28,371
96,693 101,324
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31

(FRIESERRR LUBTTHIT)

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31 MEBAR @
Summarised statement of profit or loss and other IREAZiEE R H 2 ENE R E
comprehensive income of Ascent Way
2022 2021
—s_C ZF—F
$'000 $'000
F T
Revenue & 1,052,514 858,690
Gross profit EF 21,189 45,585
Other incomes HA A 804 4914
Expenses a3 (20,993) (22,908)
Profit before tax BRI AT A 1,000 27,591
Income tax expenses FriStaREsz (171) (4,380)
Profit for the year EWNEF 829 23211
Profit and total comprehensive income U FE(L & F) K 2 E N &
attributable to: 4O%E .
— the Group —AREE 597 16,712
— non-controlling interests —JEEERR 232 6,499
829 23,211
Dividends paid to Data Star Inc, parent 2 {3 F#x B < /A B]Data Star
company of Ascent Way Inc.Z B2 5,460 9,360
Dividends paid by Data Star Inc. to non-  Data Star Inc.32 {5 JE4% A&
controlling interests HmZRE 1,529 2,621
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(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Company and AVT
International have issued financial guarantees to banks in respect of
banking facilities granted to Ascent Way and Team Well Electronics

Technology Limited.
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31 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 31 MIBAE @
Summarised statement of cash flows of Ascent Way IREZIRERERBE
2022 2021
—s_C ZF—F
$'000 $'000
F T
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating ££&5E®) GiRt) /RA
activities IRE R EE (78,697) 59,982
Net cash outflow from KrEES MRS F5E
investing activities (1,929) (17,092)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing FRESEBNRA G )
activities IR R EE 54,810 (37,036)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and B RIBSEHEY (L)
cash equivalents prypip==g-cl (25,816) 5,854
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#IREKRIBEEBEBY)
of the year 53,890 48,036
Cash and cash equivalents at end FR|ERREEEY
of the year 28,074 53,890
Financial support MEXIE

R_E__F#R_FT_—F+_4
=+—H > ARBEAEBVHREERE
IR EEEETREBRARER
ZIRTTRHE MR TIRETFEER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)  (BrIEB B ERER> LUBITHR)

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32 FAERXS
In addition to the balances with related parties set out in the BRém & B 5K O 2= B A8 R B 5 P & £
consolidated statements of financial position and respective notes, R4 5 MY A4S BR SN > A S B 0 4 P9 B )
the Group had the following material transactions with related ERHETUTEARS !
parties during the year:
(a) Transactions with related parties (a) RAEARRS
2022 2021
ot Jomfen R4
$'000 $'000
¥ Fr
Mr. Lee Bing Kwong (note i) ERAAE (MIsE)
— rental paid —Bfffz 684 783
Nicegoal Limited (note ii) EBARAT FsEi)
— rental paid —BfHE 341 940
— consideration paid to acquire —BNEE—BYEN
a property (note iii) & (B 5Ei) 30,000 =
— interest on CB paid (note iii) — B ESNF R
(Bt =iii) 100 -
— distribution on PSCS paid — B XKARK AR E S
(note iii) B3Ik (B 5Eiii) 50 -
Note: Mz -
i) The rental expenses were based on the tenancy agreement 0 LS LIRIEAREFEEL
entered by the Group and Mr. Lee. ST BFRATE ©
) Nicegoal Limited is controlled by Mr. Lee. The rental expenses in ERBARAT R Ao Ao

were based on the tenancy agreements entered by the Group
and Nicegoal Limited.

iii) The Consideration paid for acquisition of a property, interest
on CB and distribution on PSCS paid to Nicegoal Limited were
based on the sales and purchase agreement entered by the
Group and Nicegoal Limited, the Instrument of CB and Deed
Poll of PSCS. The Consideration was satisfied by issuance of CB
and PSCS.

Rental paid to Mr. Lee and Nicegoal Limited were de minimis
continuing connected transactions exempt from shareholders'
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Acquisition of property from Nicegoal Limited constitutes
non-exempted connected transaction, which is subject to
shareholders’ approval and disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details are set out in Circular
of the Company dated 12 January 2022. The transaction was
passed by an extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 28 January 2022 and was completed on 23 February
2022.

BEMDIRBEAEREER
BIRABFTIAEAME °

il BENEBAERABSZBEYE
ZEMAE AR ESHE
R K AR AR IR 58 55 0 K Th
ERAEBAEBARACM
SN BB TMRESX
BRI AR IR B 5 B8 8
ZEMEH -ARREZRE
1T R IR (B 25 Fe K A RAR FT
BB EfT o

XN FEEREREBBRATN
248 Al B 18 B4 2 /K T BY 5 A R
BR 5 WEHRRE ST LR
FBH4ABTE THREHIE S FE
BRMIARBERTE

REBARADWEBYEEIE
NBRAER 5 BEST EHRE
BUAE THRREHENBES
KoZBEHNASATEHBEA-Z
T TE—B4+_HMERZR
SERB_E"__F—H_+)N\
HEBENAATIEERREAD
%E@Zgiiﬁiﬁ =55
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32

33

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)
(@) Transactions with related parties (Continued)

During the Year 2022, the Group subscribed for a life insurance
policy with an insurance company for a member of the
senior management of the Company who is a son of Mr.
Lee Bing Kwong and Ms. Lo Yuen Lai. The total insured sum
is US$8,000,000 (approximately HK$62,400,000). As at 31
December 2022, the fair value of the deposit placed for life
insurance policy amounted to approximately HK$12,674,000
(2021: HKS nil).

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the banking facilities of the
Group were secured by personal guarantee executed by Mr.
Pai. Details of which were set out in note 24.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel and
related party
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,

including the amounts paid to the Company’s director as
disclosed in note 9(a) is as follows:

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

32 FIERRS @

(@) FAERXS (8

A _E__EFECAEFBAR

NE—REREEBNRENE
(BEFRACEEETERZ TN
RF) BEASRE REELE
& $£8,000,0003E 7T (4962,400,0007
7o o R IE- HF+"A=+—
H N\ERERESMNAFEADN
126740005870 (CEZ—F | %
JT) ©

N _E - _FR_E—F+
B=4+—H > AEEIRITRELL
B EEARRERF-B
RAEEIEEMTEE24 0

(b) FEEEABRRESRM

AEBTEEEASHM (813
PiEEoeiRE 2 X FTARBES
IR W

2022 2021

—E-C BT —F

$'000 $'000

FiT T

Short-term employee benefits RHES T 12,345 31,967
Contributions to defined E R AR AEH EHEHE

contribution retirement

benefits scheme 142 156

Share-based payment expenses U&7 X A FUBRE X 679 123

13,166 32246

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balances. The overall strategy remains unchanged during the Year
2022.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes CB, lease liabilities, and bank borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents, equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves, and PSCS.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
periodically. The Group considers the cost of capital and risk
associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall
capital structure through payment of dividends and raising of new
capital.
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33 BEFXEAKBER

REBEEHER  DIRARAERE T
BREAFECEXS ANEBELRE
BB A G R > AR R A O °
A — - S k=S

R o

REBNEARBEIEFET (B0
MRES HEARRRTEE
RERREEEY) FARER AR
s (BEERTRAREB Kok
ARARPIHAIREE S5 ©

FEBEEETRNERRB K&
EERETHAENSEETERNAE
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RAFS R MIEE

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 3 HRTH
(a) Categories of financial instruments (@ EMIANDEE
The carrying amounts of the financial assets and liabilities as at REREHRNEREEREE
the end of reporting period are as follows: FEREESRTINT :
2022 2021
—s_C ZF—F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Financial assets: EREE
Financial assets at fair value BATFESFAERD
through profit or loss: THBEE
Financial instrument at fair value ~ IRAFEFt ABTH
through profit or loss EHTA 12,674 =
Derivative asset TEEBE 1,001 -
13,675 -
Amortised cost: BIH R A
Trade receivables B 5 EURER R 499,292 484,626
Financial assets included in other 5+ A E fth FEUTFRIE ~
receivables, deposits and BERFBNRIEZ
prepayments STHBEE 10,102 15430
Bank balances, restricted IRITHEER ~ R IR HIASER
balance and cash EZEEEE 99,562 143,743
608,956 643,799
Financial liabilities ERI&E
Amortised cost: BIH A AN
Trade payables B F TR 131,812 160,863
Financial liabilities included in sFAHAMERIE
other payables, accruals and FEstERREWIZEZ
deposit received Gt Y= 14,456 33,067
Lease liabilities HEaE 9,616 1,224
Bank borrowings RITEE 483,666 538,545
Convertible bond AR ES 15,227 =
654,777 733,699
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) ZREAMREIEBEREE

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are described below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

FERTTEHEZEMHRERE
TSR (B1E G5 E kR A =
}_WA) “EERERREBEETRE
e o 0 fo7 60 5 5% 35 B Bk Y LR K
RTIX - EEEEERERZE
JRLBg > LUHE (RIR T 55 e B RN 3
NE MBS
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

34 ZMIAG

(b) TREREEERREE (@)

(i

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which they relate. The currency giving
rise to this risk is USD. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy with respect to
its foreign exchange exposure. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposures and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arises.

The following table details the Group's exposure at the
end of reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in USD. For
presentation purpose, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in HKD, translated using the spot rate at the end
of reporting period.

@i)

BiBERE
REBEZEUERZER
BIIREE B UGS
18 BY 85 & K £ B8 T @ B S
R - ERUILEBNEE
73R TT o A B B IR Fr L A
TE SN BE B [ A R BY SN S XY
FER A BEEEEE
ESNERE LR BER
EREERINERLR

TRAVNAERRERS
HA>R PR E BRI A 5= JT 5H1E
MERDBEENEEME
ENERAR - S25H
By B ER 5 LA T
g’@ﬁﬁﬁ%/ﬁﬂﬁiﬁ’ﬂlﬁ%}ﬁ

2022 2021
—g-- %
$’000 $'000
T Tz
Financial instrument at fair X AF(EsF AB®HMN
value through profitorloss &R T & 12,674 =
Trade receivables B 5 IR UARR 427,710 417,905
Financial assets included STAEMBEYGRIE HE
in other receivables, RENHRIEZ EMEE
deposits and prepayments 7,777 6,346
Bank balances and cash IRITHERRIRE 64,310 108,482
Trade payables B S ETERRR (66,794) (99,414)
Financial liabilities included 5t A EL{hFE(I 3R IE ~
in other payables, EstERA KRB WZE
accruals and deposit A 3=
received (7,523) (21,381)
Bank borrowings, secured  $R1TEE > BILF (430,972) (492,429
Net exposure arising from  ERRBEEMREEBESE
recognised assets and Z B2
liabilities 7,182 (80,491)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis SMEBRE 24T
The Group mainly exposes to foreign exchange XEBFEEREZETZE

fluctuation of the currency of USD against the currency
of HKD. The Directors consider that the Group's exposure
to USD does not give rise to significant foreign currency
risk on the ground that HKD is pegged to USD. Therefore,
no sensitivity analysis of USD against the functional
currency of the respective group entity is disclosed.
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

34 ZMIAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arises
primarily from its variable-rate bank deposits and bank
borrowings.

The Group currently does not have any interest rate
hedging policy. However, the management monitors the
Group’'s exposure to interest rate risk on an ongoing basis
and will consider hedging interest rate risk should the
need arises.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been prepared based
on the exposure to interest rates for the Group's variable-
rate bank deposits and bank borrowings at the end of
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of these assets and liabilities outstanding at
the end of reporting period were outstanding for the
whole period. A 100 basis points increase or decrease
in interest rates is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis for 2021,

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates had
been 100 basis points (2021: 100 basis points) higher/
lower in respect of the Group's variable rate bank
deposits and bank borrowings, with all other variables
held constant, there would increase/decrease the Group's
post-tax loss for the Year 2022 and decrease/increase the
Group's equity as at 31 December 2022 by approximately
HK$3,516,000 (2021: decrease/increase the Group's post
tax profit and equity by approximately HK$3,975,000).

(b)

THEREEERREE (B

(i)

FERE

KEBAST Z2REREF
%}_HZN\EEZZ;E E H/?/%\ﬁﬁ
THERKETES-

AEBRFHECHF X
HAHBR-AM BEEEE
SEEEREEN KRR
DI SN S ekl
= E Ko

FE R Z T

DU SR 2 A T AR 3% 2R
EHARANEEZFBIRT
ERRIRITEEMERN
FER AR o PARE DT
B R 5% ﬁAﬁEiﬁﬂﬂim’T\E’J
ZEEEREBESER
CRARS A AE R o %IJTLDFW
THRIOEEMNRAZTEE
EBEENERNPRSHER
SREA TABSEEHF
EHEBOSEEBM T H
TE T —FEWD IR
FEIRZERR

PRERESHRR A E A=
BB MIRITERMIETE
ERFE LA, TE100(E
HI (CZ - —F D 100EE
) > MEMESERF TS
SEBR_ZT-__FEHN
MeBEEEEMm &

KEBR S —_4+=
B=+—HAm#ER &R
/1 10493,516,00058 7T (=
T RKEBRNRE
A e R R D A
39750007 7T) ©
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
(iii) Creditrisk

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

34 ZMIAG

(iii)

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, loans and interest receivable, other
receivables and bank deposits. As at 31 December 2022
and 2021, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
is the carrying amounts of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statements
of financial position without taking account of any
factoring that do not qualify for derecognition in the
consolidated financial statements. As at 31 December
2022, trade receivables amounting to HK$117,327,000
(2021: HKS$296,425,000) has been transferred to financial

institutions under factoring agreements.

Trade receivables:

In respect of trade receivables, the Group has a credit
policy in place and will perform credit evaluations on all
customers requiring credit over a certain amount. Certain
trade receivable balances on open account terms are
covered by customers' letters of credit or are factored to

external financial institutions.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group reviews
the recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt regularly to ensure that adequate allowance for
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss model upon application
of HKFRS 9 on trade receivables. In this regard, the
management of the Group considers that the Group's

credit risk is significantly reduced.
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E i 3 A& B S i B 75
BEAZREEERR ALK
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ERIBETHEENRE
B Rt REAAREERR
IREMBEMRLILEIEZ
FERREB - R_E -
+ZB=+—H &85
117,327,000 (Z& - —
F 1 2964250005 7T) B 7
FEWER L IR RIBH 5
IR T SRS o

E 5 BIARTL -

A=) L E S NTTIERE: -2
ECHEEENEERR
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B EE R ERERIRE
EI SRR
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RAFS R MIEE

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

34 £RITAHAG

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) =RIEAMGEEBIFEREE &)
(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) ESEEK @)
Trade receivables: (Continued) EZBIKER . (8)
The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables AEBEREL2PAEREE
based on lifetime expected credit losses, which is BIETEE SR WERD
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's BE5IREEME  W LARE B B fEE T
historical credit loss experience does not indicate HoHRAERENBEEE
significantly different loss patterns for different customer BREERITARARBIEE
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is FoENEEEXFERAE
not further distinguished between the Group's different EER WRBHAKAFE
customer bases. NEBEErERAE
NABEREEE—TE
ﬁ_j\ o
As at 31 December 2022, allowance for impairment of W_&2__F£+ _H
HK$63,449,000 (2021: HK$71,247,000) was recognised in =+—8B > B ZEWER™M
respect of trade receivables. The following table provides T 50 B (B 12 #4563,449,00078 7T
information about the Group's exposure to credit risk and (ZEZ—4F 1 71,247,00078
expected credit losses for trade receivables: 7o) c TREVIBMAEER
FrEBREERMNESE
WERRTEHR(E ffl&?i% &
e
2022 2021
~g-C ET-F
Gross  Allowance Gross
Expected carrying for Expected carrying  Allowance for
loss rate amount  impairment loss rate amount  impairment
BEREEE RELE AERE BOHSBX  RELE  AERE
$'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
i i Tr Tr
Current (not past due) BN (R 0.19% 395,052 733 021% 333417 687
0t0 3 months past due AME3ER 1.38% 103,249 1,428 422% 150601 6,356
41012 months past due AMAE1ER 19.84% 3,932 780 39.46% 3,305 1304
Morethan 1 yearpastdue  MERIEL £ 100.00% 60,508 60,508 91.76% 685550 62900
562,741 63,449 555,873 71247
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

34 ZMIAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iiii)

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables: (Continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 3 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, decrease in
expected loss rate resulted from recovery of long
outstanding debt during the year. For the year ended 31
December 2021, increase in expected loss rate resulted
from an increase in allowance for impairment.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as the
Group's largest trade debtor accounted for 26% of its
total trade receivables as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
23%). In addition, the Group's top five major customers
accounted for 41% of its total trade receivables as at 31
December 2022 (2021: 32%).
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(b)

THEREEERREE (@)

(iii)

EERE (8
EZRIRER | (#B)
RHEEERDERBRIF

NERBRLR AEEE
HZEFRETHE UK
B L £E FE SR B BRI O
AR5~ B AR 5 S A £ [
FE W R IBTE 5T FF HE B9 &8 7%
RN ERZENER-

HE-_ZE2E-__+°-H1
=+—HILEE  FBREE
ETBEIPEREARKEE
HAREEE - BE_T”"_—
E+-RB=1+—HILEEE:
TEHAESE X EFH T BRI
BB

RN_ZE__F+_A2
=+—H AEERAE
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

34 ZMIAG

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)

(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk (Continued)
Loans receivable:

In respect of loans receivable from customers and
potential suppliers, the Group manages and analyses
the credit risk for each of its debtors before payment
terms and conditions are concluded by assessing the
credit qualities of the debtors, taking into account its
financial position, past settlement experience, collateral
held and other factors. Loans receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis, management reviews
the loans receivable at each reporting date to ensure that
adequate impairment allowance is made. In this regard,
management considers that the Group's credit risk is

THEREEERREE (B

(iii)

significantly reduced.

An analysis of changes in the gross amount of loans

receivable is as follows:

EERE (8

FEWER -

HRBWER RBEMHEE
BRER > AEEEBE G
BBANGEEER TEE
HE B BENGEL
5~ PR A BOIE 1 f A HLAth
[RIZR - FE B RE (T R AR AR A2 A%
HREERDTERHA
EE R - FFERREN
ERgs BEEEERRS
B A 28 8 Ut & R LLRE 53
sHE R SBE R - BLUL T
= EEERREAEENE
ERBEEXRRERL

B EMBEES DU
RS

Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12-month credit loss credit loss
expected - not credit - credit
credit Loss impaired impaired
(stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) Total
2HES 2HES
28R FEEHE- EEER-
BHGERE FEHAE EEiAfE
(BRERR) (B2MEER) (E3MER) fit
$'000 $'000 §'000 §'000
T T T T
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZZ”_-F-B—H
B ER 3900 2,384 715 6,999
Transfer to stage 3 BRI - (2,384) 2384 -
Exchange realignment ERAZ - = 85 85
Balance at 31 December 2021 R_E_—&+_H
=+—B 4R 3900 = 3184 7084
Balance at 1 January 2022 RZE_"F-F—H
ifegeas 3,900 - 3,184 7,084
Exchange realignment ERAZ - - (251) (251)
Balance at 31 December 2022 S =
o 3,900 - 2,933 6,833
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 3 HFRTHAG
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) iy EEREE @)
Loans receivable: (Continued) JEINEZ . (&)
An analysis of changes in the expected credit loss THHREEEBEEEESH D
allowance is as follows: Mal
Lifetime Lifetime
expected expected
12-month credit loss credit loss
expected - not credit - credit
credit loss impaired impaired
(stage 1) (stage 2) (stage 3) Total

2HER RN
28R  FEBH- EEBR-
BHEESRE  JFEEEE [EREE

(FRR) (MR (MR ast
$'000 §'000 §'000 §'000
T T T T
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZE--£-B—H
B4R - 715 715 1430
Change in loss allowance: BiREEES.

- Provision made during the year —ERPTER - - 1,688 1,688
Transfer to stage 3 BEZERE - (715) 715 -
Exchange realignment ERHE - - 66 66
Balance at 31 December 2021 and RZ_E2”_—-F+_H

1 January 2022 “+—-RARZEZZE

—A—Bi4&ER - - 3,184 3,184
Exchange realignment ER AR - - (251) (251)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZBZ-#+_H

=+—HN&HR - - 2,933 2,933

158 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED HREERHS IR AR AE)



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R e R R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)

(Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)
Other receivables:

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

34 ZMIAG

(iii)

For other receivables, the Group measures impairment
for other receivables (including refundable deposit for
proposed acquisition) based on 12-month expected
credit loss or lifetime expected loss, depending on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. The directors of
the Company make individual assessment on the
impairment of other receivables based on historical
settlement records, historical default experience,
past due status of the debtors and forward looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors of
the Company consider that an allowance of impairment
of approximately HK$3,865,000 (2021: HKS nil) was made
for refundable deposit for proposed acquisition as the
recoverability of the amount was in doubt. The directors
of the Company consider that there are no significant
increase in credit risk of other receivables other than the
refundable deposit for proposed acquisition since initial
recognition. For the year ended 31 December 2021,
provision for impairment of HK$657,000 was recognised

in respect of interest receivable.

Bank deposits:

The credit risk for liquid funds is limited because such
amounts are placed with various banks with good credit
ratings. The Group is exposed to concentration of credit
risk on liquid funds which are deposited with several

banks with high credit ratings.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
loans and other receivables are set out in notes 19 and

20 respectively.
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

34 E£RITAHAG

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) EREMEEEEEREER @&
(Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) wEhEEREE
The Group's liquidity position is monitored closely by the rEBZEEEREYE
management of the Group. In the management of the %I%.Zuu@]ﬁ%ﬁkﬂ“
liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level rEEBERSHESRAK S E
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the AEEBBENMEEEER
management to finance the Group's operations and to RATREZREARESE
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer BYKE UAREAERZE
term. ERERmEERBARR
R REE ST K
During the reporting period, the Group financed its RRESHE AEBFEE
working capital requirements principally by funds BEEEEANEERIET
generated from operations and bank borrowings. EEREHEEEEE K
The following table details the Group's contractual TRAFMAEERNRBRSH
maturities at the end of reporting period for its financial reHMBEZENEHEY
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on Mre TRDLBEEHRMAEE
undiscounted cash flows of financial and lease liabilities BEZARMRBAERE I
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be UAREBBNTNEEH
required to pay. The table includes both interest and HAEERE RABIEF
principal cash flows. ERFERERE
Repayable on Total
demand or 1-5  undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year years cash flows amount
FRERY RERHE
R—FREE —-E1f nERE REfE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
i Fr i Tr
As at 31 December 2022 —F-C
+-A=+-H
Trade payables B A ERT 131,812 - 131,812 131,812
Financial liabilities included in other STARMERTIE
payables, accruals and deposits received  EEFBRRBKIRE
ZERERE 14,456 - 14,456 14,456
Leases liabilities BEQE 3276 7,194 10,470 9,616
Bank borrowings (note 1) RIS (MEh) 483,666 - 483,666 483,666
(8 o RIE 100 20,400 20,500 15,227
633,310 27,594 660,904 654,777
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

34 £RITAHAG
(b) EFEMEEEEEREE @&

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iv) wEEERR (@
Repayable on Total
demand or 1-5  undiscounted Carrying
within T year years cash flows amount
BARENT REREE
R—EREE —E5f MERR REE
§000 §000 §000 §000
T T T T
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F
+ZA=1-H
Trade payables BRRMRN 160,863 = 160,863 160863
Financial liabilties included in other SAHMEMTIE
payables, accruals and deposits received  FEEBRRBIRIRE
ZzHaR 33067 - 33,067 33,067
Leases liabilities BEAER 700 565 1265 1204
Bank borrowings (note 1) RITEE () 538,545 = 538,545 538545
733175 565 733,740 733,699
Note 1 Bk -

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the "Repayable on demand or within 1 year”time band in the
above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amount of these borrowings amounted
to HK$392,686,000 (2021: HK$377,367,000). Taking into account
the Group's financial position, the Directors do not believe that
it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that such bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

R EMEIEFH DA B RE
REZERRNEEATER
ERFN—FREEIRFE -
- _F#+_"_B=+—8>
ZEEENRLIRASEES
392,686,000/8 70 (B - —4£F :
371367000%%7u)oﬁ“n+Zi2K§E
EHNHERR EERAE
ﬁKﬁﬂ%ﬁ@E%%@Eﬁ
BB -BEERA  ZER
TERBREERREREE
EERHEBERER
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 34 #FEITAHAG
SHEEEREIEREE 48)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Note 1: (Continued)

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
a repayment on demand clause, the maturity profile of
these loans as at the end of reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payment according to the scheduled
repayment dates, is as follows:

(iv)

mEBEEERE (8

Wizl ()
RIBMAEREREZERNE

AR ZFERNREHE
RIS R (A AR IR
RERIRBEFREERBH T

Within 1 year 1to5years  Over5 years Total
—&M —-E1f BRnE @t
§000 §000 §000 §000
T T T T
As at 31 December 2022 RZ%=Z

+ZA=+-H 379,002 9,690 11,765 400,457

As at 31 December 2021 KZBZ-&
+-A=1+—H 367,781 6,087 5191 379659
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35

ire TR aR MY EE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group's financial instruments that are measured at fair values and
are measured at amortised cost whose carrying amount differs from
fair values, are as follows:

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

EMTRATENE

TEBR AT EFEREHHMAS
ENEHMITE HREERAFTER
@) W :

Carrying amount Fair values
IRE(E ARC: |
2021 2022 2021
b Jeent | ZEZC TT-F
$'000 $'000 $'000
T Frx Fr
Financial assets: THEE:
-financial instrumentat VIPL ~ —@AFESIABZNEHRTE = 12,674 =
— derivative asset —TEBE = 1,001 =
- 13,675 -
Financial liabilities: ERaE:
- (B — AR RES - 11,270 -

Management assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted balance, trade receivables, trade payables,
financial assets included in other receivables and deposits, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, and the current
portion of bank borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing bank
borrowings have been calculated by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December
2022 and 2021 were assessed to be insignificant.

EEBFIMBLE RehkREERB
Y ZIREGEHF BEZEBERT B 5
IR st AR MBI RIE KRS
MNEmMEE T AEMENRIBERE
SERNEmEaRUKIRITEENR
BN A TFEAHEKREEMRS £
EHRZETAEREEAREIRR

SHRIRTTEERIFREE DA FE
EEBRERAARARELMUFRR EERER

REGFIRNTANER AR X
HIEHRRIRSNEBETRIRFAR -

KRB _ER-_F-_—F+°H
_+ B> x&EFEEENEET
BRRERT AR TER
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35

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period for
recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy.

35

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

M TAAFENE (B

TRIJER SR EABRMAE 1L
LR T EFENERIT AN BT
REBE G ERZ AT ENTRER
ENRE—EH=MA

Assets measured at fair value BRATFEAENEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—k B4 B o
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T Fr T
31 December 2022 “E_"F+-"RA=+-H
Financial assets at FVTPL BATEFABaNEREE
- Deposit placed for life insurance  — AZREZRE
policy - 12674 - 12674
- Derivative asset in respect of early — & pJ R E %12 A EERIER AR
redemption option of B THEEE = = 1,001 1,001
Total st - 12,674 1,001 13675

There were no transfers between level of fair value hierarchy in
current and prior years.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements on recurring basis:

RAFERBEFE » &R FERE
DB S

DS BB EET S =B A FES
BHHER:

Early redemption

option on CB

AIRER A SR

2 A AE [5] 1

$'000

Tt

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE_"F#—HF—H =
Upon issuance of CB EITO A RE AT 4,179

Loss arising on changes of fair value recognised in ~ R IBm RN AFEE S EEMNEIR

profit or loss (3,178)
At 31 December 2022 I — e e = 1,001

Since the Level 3 of financial assets are not quoted in an active
market, Hull model is used to estimate the fair value. When
estimating fair value using valuation technique, observable inputs
and data from the practical market (e.g. share price volatility, credit
spreads and risk free rate etc) are adopted. If the observable inputs
in the market cannot be obtained, the observable input data that are
calibrated as closely as possible to the market observable data are
used for estimating the fair value.

164 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED BRI AR A IR AT

MRS = RE/ME ENSE TSI E
BB HRAMBELU G ATE-E
fER M ERM G A FERERAER
T35 AT ER 22 i A S R B (N BRMBK
P EEEERERARAXSE) A
AT R BRREARE AERSE
B ERA T B A R AR 2 EHE A
BIRGARIRUESt AT B



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

%= <=H

N [3

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

35

RAFS R MIEE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Meanwhile, the credit risk, volatility, correlation, etc of the Group
and the counterparty are estimated by the management. The
changing of these factors will affect the estimated fair value of the
financial instruments; therefore, there were uncertainty of accounting
estimation on Level 3 of financial assets.

The above loss arising from derivative asset for the year ended 31
December 2022 has been included in “fair value loss in derivative
asset” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Below is the summary of significant unobservable input to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

35

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

M TAAFENE (B

BRATEAENEE (B)

R AEBRHFHNEERR
RIB s ARREE E@EE“EET’EEHTE
steRERRWBLET KEE
TERMEFATE; ALt %:,,Ji’au
BEEFESHOF A REE-

BE_Z-_"_F+"A=t—HL*#F
B LT EEEENEEEE AL
GEmMEMEER DR ITEEE
B AT ERE

L/{"Fﬁﬂi": T _H#+"H=+—~H
ETRITAGENEATTREHAMY

sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2022: TF*EE;z BEEBRHEDT :
Relationship of
Valuation Significant unobservable inputs to
Description technique Key input unobservable inputs  fair value
) RATENFTHES
it f{E Rl FEHARE ERFIRRBARE ABBHMZ
Derivative asset in respect of Hull model Expected volatility, credit  Expected volatility of The higher the volatility rate,

early redemption option of CB
risk-free rate

HEoRESRAELOE  HRER TEIRIENMEERE
BRNITEEE REERK
EE RN R

The fair value of derivative asset in respect of early redemption
option of CB was determined using Hull model that considers the
possible future prices of each period in time as well as the respective
probability.

The fair value measurement of the derivative asset is positively
correlated to the volatility level. As at 31 December 2022, it is
estimated that with all other variables held constant, an increase/
decrease in the expected volatility by 10% would have decreased/
increased the Group's loss by approximately HK$631,000 and
HK$898,000, respectively.

spreads, spot price and

45.44%

TEER R 1845.44%

the higher the fair value

RBEEE AT EEE

E TR R A BB R ITE
BEEMNATETLERAMBENEE &%
BREE R T K EE R A BER KRB
Bk BRI

TEEBEEN A FTEFEHFRKF
EFHEBEGR-R-E_"_F+=8
=+—HBEsH ERBEEMEER
FARSIERT  BEREE 0,
10%HHEAEBMEE D BR800
#9631,00078 7T 52898, 00078 7T ©
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35 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL 35 EMTAXFESE @

INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

Below is the summary of valuation technique used for Level 2 inputs:

BRATEAENEE @)
BUR AR S R A BB ER
TR

Description Valuation technique Inputs
i & 1B K il A BUE
Deposit placed for life insurance policy Expected cash flows Cash value quoted by an insurance
company
ANERERE TEHRERE REBEABIPMERNIREEE
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed EREATFENGR
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
5% [t B=8 st
$'000 §'000 §'000 $000
T T T T
31 December 2022 —F--“&#+-RA=+-H
(B RES - 11270 - 11270
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B _ERZEBE_—®+°H
=+—HB > AERIEEAEANAE

o

36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any
material contingent liabilities.

37 NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 37
FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (@)
activities

mARERERME
R EBFREE AR

Bank
borrowings  Lease Liabilities Total
RITEE HEad #ast
$'000 $'000 $'000
Tt T Tz
Balance at 1 January 2021 PR_T—4F
— R —BrEER 478,779 921 479,700
Changes from financing HE L HIEE)
activities:
Repayment of bank instalment B2 IR1TDHIE
loans (2,582) - (2,582)
Net decrease in factoring loans {RIZE T/ P58 (2,030) - (2,030)
Net increase in other bank HiR1TE &G
borrowings JREE 64,378 = 64,378
Interests on bank borrowings  BATIRITEERI B
paid (9,543) - (9,543)
Capital element of lease rentals BEJAEHEE A&
paid i) - (1,398) (1,398)
Interest element of lease ENHEEHEEFR
rentals paid =B = 41 41)
Total changes from financing ~ RREEENRIEBN4EZE
activities 50,223 (1,439) 48,784
Other changes: Hin&g) .
Finance costs charged to PRI NPRIRE
profit or loss (note 7) A (M35E7) 9,543 41 9,584
Increase in lease liabilities from EREIII A EESE
entering into new leases NHEE&RIEM
during the year - 1,468 1,468
Exchange realignment PE R aEEE - 233 233
Total other changes Hith &5 i8zE 9,543 1,742 11,285
Balance at 31 December 2021 R _-_&_—4F
+-A=+—H
By A5 B 538,545 1,224 539,769
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 37

RATS R AR M 5E

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

mARERERME @

FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(@) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) MEIZHFFAEESENHIE
activities (Continued) (€]
Bank Lease
borrowings Liabilities CB Total
RITEE HEaRE THRRES Ehy
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr Fr Fr Fr
Balance at 1 January 2022 M_Z__F—H—HWNERH 538,545 1,224 - 539,769
Changes from financing &5 EHIE%) !
activities:
Advancement of bank BYIRITDIER
instalment loans 12,981 - - 12,981
Repayment of bank BiERTHHER
instalment loans (2,829) - - (2,829)
Net decrease in factoring ~ RIZE VRV F 48
loans (70,198) = - (70,198)
Netincrease in other bank  ELthiR1T1E EIL I1F 48
borrowings 6,360 - = 6,360
Interests on bank borrowings 21 ST & B 7 B
paid (18,910) - - (18,910)
Interests on convertble B AR EST S
bond paid - - (100) (100)
Capital elementof lease ~ BAHAEREELES
rentals paid - (1,577) - (1,577)
Interest element of lease ~ ERFEEREF EHD
rentals paid - (175) - (175)
Total changes from MEEENEEEE
financing activities (72,596) (1,752) (100) (74,448)
Other changes: Am&g) .
Finance costs charged to ~ NIB R BRAIRE LA (i 537)
profit or loss (note 7) 18,910 175 883 19,968
Increase in lease liabilities ~ FEPIG] L FHEEEEN
from entering intonew T ESBIEMN
leases during the year - 10,327 - 10,327
Increase in liability F AR DR
component of CB on AR B 5B B R A1
initial recognition during
the year - - 14,444 14,444
Exchange realignment DA (1,193) (358) - (1,551)
Total other changes Hith& s ze 17,717 10,144 15,327 43,188
Balance at 31 December WM_ZE_"F+"F=+—HW
2022 R 483,666 9,616 15,227 508,509

168 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED HREERHS IR AR AT




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VA=A
N [3

RAFS R MIEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Material non-cash transactions

During the Year 2022, the Group has the following material
non-cash financing activities:

- the Group acquired a property from Nicegoal Limited by
issuance of CB and PSCS of the Company to satisfy the
Consideration.

- the Group entered into new lease agreements and
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
approximately HK$10,327,000 (2021: HK$1,468,000).

The Group had no material non-cash investing or financing
activities for the year ended 31 December 2021.

37

(FRIEFERA LIATIIR)

mARERERME @

(b)

EXERERS
RIE__FE -xXEEBUT
ERFREMEED !

- AEEBEBERAFIWK
B—IEYFE BBRETER
7] B # IR 18 55 K2 sk A Rk
AR E S ENE

- AEBRFTUHMEEHZEL
BAEHEEEKRTEES
&54910,327,00058 7T (Z &
——4 114680005 7T) ©

KERRBE_ZE”—F+2A8

=t+—HLEFETESAFRE
RENREEE-
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38 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

(FRIEHBERA LIATHIR)

38 FATIMBIKNRRRf;H R

OF THE COMPANY
2022 2021
$'000 $'000
FiT Tt
Non-current assets JERENEE
Investment in subsidiaries REATNEE 14,896 13,585
Totalnon-currentassets  JPm@EE®RE 0 | 148%6 | 13585
Current assets RENEE
Derivative asset MTEEE 1,001 =
Amounts due from subsidiaries =N 151,660 118,557
Prepayments FETRIE 37 247
Bank balances IR1T45ER 273 80
Totalcurrentassets  m@HAE®RE | 152971 118884
Current liabilities mEafE
Other payables, accruals HhfENRIE Bt & 13,666 13,675
Amounts due to subsidiaries NI NI 1 14,688
Total current liabilities  om@&ER®E | 13667 | - 28363
Netcurrentassets ~ WE9RES® 00| 2 139304 90521
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bond A} ES 15,227 =
Total non-current liabiliies ~ JEm@AMARE 0 | 15227 | ..
NET ASSETS HESE 138,973 104,106
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRR#E
Share capital RN 10,751 10,096
Reserves i 118,222 94,010
Perpetual subordinated convertible KA R AR A 1 B 58 25
securities 10,000 -
TOTAL EQUITY B 138,973 104,106
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38 STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 38 ZSASIMNEIFEIR R RE#E &)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Movement in the Company’s issued capital and reserve FATINE BITRRA R HFEES)
Shares held
forthe Perpetual
restricted  Share-based subordinated
Share  share award payment  Convertible Retained convertible
Share capital premium scheme reserve  bond reserve eamings Subtotal securities  Total Equity
Rt R{R
REHUT  MRGIEM AR *AT4
ks RIYEE HERG  ERE  AHRE  RIEN gt AR s
5000 §000 §000 §000 5000 §000 5000 §000 §000

T 7 T T i 7 T T i

At January 2021 R-8--£-A-R 000 10394 - - - Ga) 10873 B 35
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - (5530) (5530) = (5530)
Issue of shares Bk % 3533 (3629) = = = = = =
Recognition of equity-setted EANBRLEE 2 NRA

share-based payment fiFE - - - 0 - - 0 = 90
31 December 2001 RZE2_-£+°F=1+-H 100% 107477 (69 903 - (10741 104,106 - 104106
At1 January 2022 “5_"5-B-H 10,096 107,477 (3,629) 903 o (10,741) 104,106 - 104,106
Recognition of equity component of Eﬁm hRESNESR

convertible bond Anin - - - - 9,735 - 9,735 - 9,735
Issue of perpetual subordinated BT R RrhRES

convertible securities - - - - - - - 10,000 10,000
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - (9,497) (9,497) - (9,497)
lsue ofshares ki 655 2911 - - - - 25,566 - 25,566
Shares purchased for the Restricted ~~ ATRFIERAEBISHRIEA

Share Award Scheme R - - (2,198) - - - (2,198) - (2,198)
Recognition of equity-settled ERNBGEE 2 NRMA

share-based payment SAELE] = = = 1311 o S 131 = 1311
Shares vested for the Resticted Share SRR ARA7 SR B 518

Award Scheme ERERR - - m (573) ° (150) - - -
Distibution to holder of perpetual ~ EIXARRARBESFHEA

subordinated convertible securities BV K - - - - - (50) (50) - (50)
At31 December 2022 RZBZZE+ZR=1-H 10,751 132,388 (5,104) 1,641 9,735 (20438) 128973 10,000 138,973
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Five-year Financial Summary

L FERBRE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out below.

(FFRIESHERAR LUBTTHIT)

RBELEMBREENETERZGEURE
E BREAIFEREDSZHINT -

RESULTS E4
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EI_F B “EB_EF _TBE—HhE —E-)N\EFE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FiT T F Tt Tt
Revenue g 2,689,094 2,640,100 1,756,038 1,936,844 3,717,611
(Loss)/profit before tax bRiRAT (B518)
Al (33,867) 23,107 1,771 (8,249) 42,380
Tax 18 831 (6,487) (1,650) (863) (9,098)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (BB
kol (33,036) 16,620 121 9,112) 33,282
Attributable to: LU AT
—Owners of the Company ~ —ZA&RATEAR A (32,386) 6,735 (5,115) (16,985) 22614
— Non-controlling interests ~ —FEIERG RS (650) 9,885 5236 7873 10,668
(33,036) 16,620 121 (9,112) 33,282
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BEE -BERIEERER
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
— - T2 —BEEF “EBE—hF ZEB—)N\F
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
FiT T T Tt Tt
(Restated)
(#E=5))
Total assets BEMAE 1,013,434 1,094,117 1,028,529 949,354 962,408
Total liabilities BE48%E (670,884) (753,771) (707,035) (629,642) (632,676)
Non-controlling interests R R (31,386) (35,518) (28,080) (25,840) (23,866)
PSCS KARER
A ES (10,000) - - - -
Equity attributable to the Pi/NSIE TSN
owners of the Company FEfL T 301,164 304,828 293,414 293,872 305,866
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Glossary

PR

Act
NEE

AGM
RERBFRG

Annual Report

FR

Articles of Association

EEEEAA

Audit Committee
BRZEES

AVT
MR

Best Sheen

[EF—

Board

EE5g

Board Diversity Policy
EEENBELITIEEER
Boardroom

= /
BiEE

CB
Al R ES

CEO
TEABEL

CG Code
SR

Chairman

EE

CODM
TEEEREE

Company

PN/NS|

Company Secretary

NEWE

the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the

Cayman Islands

FHEFEENERFE (—x—

annual general meeting of the Company

RABRRBFARG

annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 2022

BE_Z__F+_HA=t—HLEMHRFEEZER

articles of association of the Company

KRB ABEEZLER

audit committee of the Board
EEEBE%EEY

AVT International Limited, a subsidiary of the Company
BBV ERBEREERAR BRAATMBAZ

Best Sheen Limited
EEERAE

the board of directors of the Company

KABEEFE

board diversity policy of the Company
FABEFEMESTTIEER

Boardroom Corporate Services (HK) Limited

HIEREERS (&8 ARQE

the convertible bond in the principal amount of HK$20.0 million

REERA2008 B BT BRKRES

chief executive officer of the Group

REEE TR R

Corporate Governance Code as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

b T AR BB %+ PO P i B 2 A ST R

Chairman of the Board

EREXRE

chief operating decision maker

TBEERES

Apex Ace Holding Limited
FERIERABRAF

company secretary of the Company

KABRBIME
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Glossary

PR

Controlling Shareholder(s) controlling shareholder(s) (has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules) of
the Company

R IR R KN ERIRE (BB EHHRAE T ZANEE)

COVID-19 Coronavirus disease of 2019

COVID-19 2019 B R IB B R

Director(s) directors of the Company

) KABESE

Dividend Policy dividend policy of the Company

% BIEER KNABREBR

Dr. Chow Dr. Chow Terence

et PEHRBEL

Global Offering global offering of ordinary Shares

PINEE PINEELEK

Group Company and its subsidiaries

KEE KRB REKE R

HKD/HKS Hong Kong dollars

BT BT

HKFRSs Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

EARAUBREZER] BB ELER]

HKICPA Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

ERAEEAE e e TN

HKSAs Hong Kong Standards on Auditing

EABETZER EBETER

Independent Auditor independent auditor of the Company

YL IZEEm P N/NETR Ry 24 {0

INED(s) independent non-executive Directors

BIFFHITES BIFFHITES

loT Internet of Things

B A8 sk A9

T Information technology

BEfRE BfRT

Listing The issued shares of the Company were initially listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange

e KABEBBITRBRBRFERE R L™

Listing Date 16 March 2018

B —E—-NE=B+7~H
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PR

Listing Rules

EMRA

Memorandum and Articles

KA Ko 4R AY
Model Code
Ee ]

Mr. CH Lee
FEERE
Mr. Cheung
SRITE

Mr. Ho
(EIF e

Mr. Lee
FRE
Mr. Lo

EhRE
Mr. Yim
BRiTE
Ms. Lo

Bzt

NCTOR
BB ghERLE

Nicegoal

EW

Nicegoal Investments

EBRE

Nomination Committee
RREES

Nomination Policy

AR

Placing

&SRR

PRC
FRE]

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

Bex2Pragss L AR A

memorandum and articles of association of the Company
PNt e N4

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules

LA R+ s EHETAEFETRFRZNRETE]

Mr. Lee Chak Hol
FEENRE

Mr. Cheung Siu Kui
SR/NEI AL

Mr. Ho Yuen Tung
@RI E

Mr. Lee Bing Kwong
FRAFKE

Mr. Lo Yuen Kin
e

Mr. Yim Kwok Man
= E s

Ms. Lo Yuen Lai
ExTELL

terms of reference of the Nomination Committee

RBEEIRIESE

Nicegoal Limited

EBARRF

Nicegoal Investments Limited

EBREBRLF

nomination committee of the Board
EERRYEZEY

nomination policy of the Company

RABRBER

the placing of new Shares pursuant to the placing agreement dated 10 May 2022
BEARA S - _FAa B tHNEEHERENRKRM

People’s Republic of China
hEARHEME
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PR

Prospectus prospectus of the Company dated 28 February 2018

BRER AABIHBMAZZ—N\FEAZ+N\HZBRER

PSCS the perpetual subordinated convertible securities in the principal amount of
HK$10.0 million

KA R PIHARG 8 55 KEFER100E B BT ZKARTARKE S

Remuneration Committee remuneration committee of the Board
FNEET EEgHNEES

restricted share award scheme adopted by the Board on 30 August 2019
SEFEgRNZ—NF/\B =T BN ZIRHIMR KR5S

Restricted Share Award Scheme

PR M AR 7 B2 Ry 5t 8

RMB Renminbi

AR AR

SFO Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
58 5 M ER G 1R A BEEHIESER S5 MG RA

Share(s) Company's issued ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

& 17 KABESREEIBITZEZETEBER

Share Option Scheme share option scheme adopted by the Company on 15 February 2018
BEReEsTE ARBARZE-N\F_A+E BN BIRES S
Shareholders shareholders of the Company

&R KATIIER

Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

B 22 P BEMERAFAERAT

Subsidiary(ies) all or certain subsidiaries of the Company (as the case may be)

Bt /& A Bl KRBIMBERE THE AR GRIERME)

Substantial Shareholder(s) substantial shareholder(s) (having the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing

Rules) of the Company

FERRE KRB EERE (BE TR FZANER)

Target Property Unit 1, 1st Floor, Sun Cheong Industrial Building, No. 2 Cheung Yee Street, Cheung
Sha Wan, Hong Kong

BRI BEERDVEBREHFMEILERNEIRZE

TWD New Taiwan dollar

e warn

USD/USS United States dollars

ETT =TT

Year 2022/Reporting Period
—ECCFE/RESHE

Year 2021
R FE

%
%

financial year ended 31 December 2022
BE_EB__F+_A=+—HULMBEE

financial year ended 31 December 2021

Mg B —feqr 5| = =B llekyneiEsEs

per cent

E]E =

176 APEX ACE HOLDING LIMITED BRI R A IR AT






	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman’s Statement
	Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Corporate Governance Report
	Report of the Directors
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Five-year Financial Summary
	Glossary
	Back Cover

